Medicines & Healthcare products Regulatory Agency



1

Antiepileptic drugs: review of safety of use during pregnancy

MHRA UK Public Assessment Report

January 2021

Contents

1 Plain Language Summary	2
2 Introduction	4
3 Summaries of main evidence and key findings	5
3.1 Carbamazepine	6
3.2 Gabapentin	7
3.3 Lamotrigine	8
3.4 Levetiracetam	9
3.5 Oxcarbazepine	9
3.6 Phenobarbital	10
3.7 Phenytoin	11
3.8 Pregabalin	12
3.9 Topiramate	13
3.10 Zonisamide	14
3.11 Other Antiepileptic Drugs	14

4	Key conclusions	16
5	Appendix 1	18
6	Appendix 2	19
7	Appendix 3	26
8	References	30
9	Glossary of Terms	36

1 Plain Language Summary

Key message:

The Commission on Human Medicines has reviewed the available safety data for epilepsy medicines during pregnancy. This review was initiated in the context of the known harms of valproate in pregnancy.

The overarching findings of the review are that lamotrigine (brand name Lamictal) and levetiracetam (brand name Keppra) are the safer of the reviewed antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy because they are not linked with an increased risk of birth abnormalities compared with the general population. The available information also does not suggest an increased risk of the child having difficulties with learning or thinking ability but further data are needed to draw firm conclusions. Doctors or specialist epilepsy nurses should use this information when discussing treatment options with women and girls with epilepsy when starting treatment and at routine recommended annual review and with women who are planning a pregnancy.

Introduction

The Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) is the government agency responsible for regulating medicines and medical devices in the UK and ensuring their safety, guality and effectiveness. We continually review the safety of all medicines in the UK and inform healthcare professionals and the public of the latest updates. The Commission on Human Medicines advises government ministers and the MHRA on the safety, efficacy and quality of medicines.

In our public assessment reports, we discuss evidence-based reviews of safety issues linked with a particular medicine or group of medicines.

This report presents our review of studies in animals and in women who are pregnant to assess the safety of epilepsy medicines use during pregnancy.

About epilepsy

Epilepsy is a condition that affects the brain. When someone has epilepsy, it means that they have a tendency to have epileptic seizures.

There are many different types of epilepsy. These can have different causes, including a person's genetics, a structural change in the brain, or as a result of other health conditions.

It is difficult to know exactly how many people have epilepsy but it is estimated that it affects more than 600,000 people in the UK. That means around 1 in every 100 people in the UK has seizures or needs epilepsy medicines.

Epilepsy medicines (also known as antiepileptic drugs and antiseizure medicines) are medicines that treat epilepsy. More than 20 different epilepsy medicines are available. They aim to prevent or reduce the number of seizures someone has. For around 2 in 3 people with epilepsy, their seizures are controlled with one or more epilepsy medicines.

Epilepsy and pregnancy

Epilepsy is a long-term condition and so people can be on medicines for a long time. Every year in the UK around 2,500 women with epilepsy have a baby. Understandably there are many concerns that a woman will have when she begins to plan a pregnancy. These include how her epilepsy might affect her chance of becoming pregnant, how the pregnancy might affect her epilepsy, and also how her epilepsy medicine(s) may affect her unborn baby.

It is important that any woman with epilepsy who is planning a pregnancy or who becomes pregnant discusses their treatment options with their specialist, GP or specialist nurse. She should not stop taking her epilepsy medicines until she has their advice. This is because untreated epilepsy can cause harm to both the mother and her unborn baby.

Epilepsy medicines and the risks to the unborn baby

A birth abnormality, also known as a congenital disorder, is a condition a baby is born with. Congenital disorders can cause a range of different disorders, with some causing severe disability. Birth abnormalities can happen in any pregnancy, but certain things can increase the risk.

Compared with the general population, women with epilepsy who take antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy may have a higher risk of having a baby who is born with a birth defect or the antiepileptic drug may affect how the baby grows in the womb and the child's brain development (thinking, language, attention, social and behavioural skills). The risk to the unborn baby depends on many different things, including which epilepsy medicines are used during pregnancy. Some epilepsy medicines have a higher risk of harming a baby during pregnancy than others. The risk of harm to the baby may also be increased if a woman is taking a high dose of an epilepsy medicines or she is taking more than one epilepsy medicine, especially if this includes valproate or valproic acid.

Before planning a pregnancy, women are encouraged to have pre-conception counselling. Pre-conception counselling is an appointment, or series of appointments, with a doctor or nurse who knows about pregnancy and epilepsy. The aim is to review the person's epilepsy and epilepsy medicines. This discussion will take into account each woman's circumstances and help them decide which dose of which epilepsy medicine or combination of medicines is best for them and their baby during pregnancy.

Reason for the review

The epilepsy medicine, valproate or valproic acid (V; brand names Epilim, Depakote, Convulex, Episenta, Epival, Kentlim, Syonell, Orlept, Valpal) can seriously harm an unborn baby if taken by the mother during pregnancy. It has been known for many years that valproate can cause physical birth abnormalities in the child. More recent studies have also shown that it can seriously affect the child's brain development which may become more apparent as they grow up, particularly in relation to learning and thinking abilities.

If 100 women take a valproate medicine during pregnancy about 10 of their babies will be born with physical birth abnormalities. This is compared with 2 to 3 out of 100 in the general population. And about 30 to 40 of the 100 children will go on to have disorders affecting their learning and thinking abilities, including autism. All doses of valproate carry a risk but the data support that the higher the dose of valproate, the higher the risks of birth abnormalities and effects on the child's brain development.

Due to the serious harms that can happen to the unborn baby, a number of restrictions have been made to prevent women with epilepsy from taking valproate during pregnancy. This is known as the valproate pregnancy prevention programme ('prevent').

The restrictions to the use of valproate in girls or women followed a review of the available safety data including studies in animals and women who are pregnant. At that time, similar reviews had not recently been done for the other epilepsy medicines. The Commission on Human Medicines recommended that the MHRA should review whether the available data raises any new safety concerns or changes current understanding about the safety of other epilepsy medicines during pregnancy.

Conclusions of the review

The available safety data supports the following conclusions:

Physical birth abnormality

- Lamotrigine and levetiracetam medicines are safer to use during pregnancy than other epilepsy medicines. Information supports that they do not increase the risk of physical birth abnormalities compared with the general population
- Carbamazepine (brand names Curatil, Tegretol), phenobarbital (brand names Phenobarbital Accord, Phenobarbital Elixir) or topiramate (brand name Topamax) use during pregnancy increases the risk of physical birth abnormalities compared with the general population

Epilepsy medicines where the data support an increased risk of having a baby born with a physical birth abnormality

General population	2 to 3 out of 100 babies
Carbamazepine	4 to 5 out of 100 babies
Phenobarbital	6 to 7 out of 100 babies
Phenytoin	about 6 out of 100 babies
Topiramate	4 to 5 out of 100 babies
Valproate	about 10 out of 100 babies

- Gabapentin (brand names Lecomig, Neurontin) and pregabalin (brand name Alzain, Axalid, Lecaent, Lyrica) risks during pregnancy are not yet fully understood. Some data suggest that taking pregabalin during pregnancy may slightly increase the risk of a baby being born with physical birth abnormalities;
- Clobazam (brand names Frisium, Perizam, Tapcob, Zacco) and pregabalin some research suggests that these medicines may slightly increase the risk of a baby being born with physical birth abnormalities. However, the research that is available does not allow firm conclusions to be reached and further data are needed; the risk of harming a baby cannot be confirmed or ruled out.
- Zonisamide (brand name Zonegran) more data are needed to understand whether zonisamide use during pregnancy increases the chance of having a baby born with a birth abnormality.

Development of the brain

- Phenobarbital or phenytoin use during pregnancy increases the risk the child may have difficulties with learning and thinking ability. Although the exact risk is not known it is not as high as for valproate;
- For carbamazepine, lamotrigine and levetiracetam the available information does not suggest an increased risk of the child having difficulties with learning and thinking ability. However, the limited data for lamotrigine and levetiracetam mean an increased risk cannot be ruled out;
- For gabapentin, oxcarbazepine, pregabalin, topiramate and zonisamide more data are needed to understand whether use of these epilepsy medicines during pregnancy increases the chance of having a baby born with a learning or thinking disability.

Growth of the baby in the womb

- Phenobarbital, topiramate, or zonisamide use during pregnancy increases the risk of the baby being born smaller than expected compared with the general population.
- For lamotrigine and levetiracetam the information supports that use of these medicines during pregnancy does not increase the risk of the baby being born small for gestational age;
- For carbamazepine, gabapentin, oxcarbazepine, phenytoin and pregabalin the data are either limited or report inconsistent findings and therefore the possibility of an increased risk cannot be confirmed or ruled out.

For the medicines listed below there is not enough information on their use in pregnancy to make any conclusions about their safety when used during pregnancy. This means the risk of harming a baby cannot be confirmed or ruled out.

- Brivaracetam (brand name Briviact)
- Clonazepam (brand name Clonazepam Rosemont, Clonazepam Thame)
- Eslicarbazepine (brand name Zebinix)
- Ethosuximide (brand name Ethosuximide Aristo, Ethosuximide Essential Generics, Ethosuximide neuraxpharm)
- Lacosamide (brand name Vimpat)
- Rufinamide (brand name Inovelon)
- Perampanel (brand name Fycompa)
- Primidone (brand name Primidone SERB)
- Tiagabine (brand name Gabitril)
- Vigabatrin (brand name Kigabeq, Sabril)

3

2 Introduction

(See glossary for an explanation of the terms used in this report)

The Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) is the government agency responsible for regulating medicines and medical devices in the UK. We continually review the safety of all medicines in the UK and inform healthcare professionals and the public of the latest updates. In our public assessment reports we discuss evidence-based assessments of safety issues associated with a particular medicine or group of medicines.

The following report discusses our review of the non-clinical and clinical data relating to the safety of antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy.

Background

Epilepsy is one of the most common neurological conditions. Accurate estimates of incidence and prevalence of epilepsy are difficult to obtain as identifying everyone who may have epilepsy is challenging. It is estimated that more than 600,000 people in the UK have epilepsy and that every day 87 people in the UK are diagnosed with epilepsy. The estimated proportion of the UK population with active epilepsy (defined as having continuing seizures or a need for treatment) is around 1 in every 100 people in the UK. For around two-thirds of people with active epilepsy is adequately controlled by treatment with one or more antiepileptic drugs.

Epilepsy is also one of the most common neurological conditions in pregnancy and it is estimated that around 2500 infants are born to women with epilepsy every year in the UK (ref UK Epilepsy and Pregnancy Register [http://www.epilepsyandpregnancy.co.uk/]. About one-third of women with epilepsy are in the reproductive age group (Yerby 1994).

The risks associated with the use of antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy are a significant concern for all women with epilepsy who are of childbearing potential. These risks need to be balanced against risks to the mother and the unborn baby of uncontrolled seizures. These discussions form an important part of the preconception counselling that should take place between a woman who is planning to start a family and her neurologist or general practitioner. It is also an important factor to be taken into consideration when initiating antiepileptic drug treatment in girls and women.

The available data support that there is an increased risk of major congenital malformations in children born to women with epilepsy treated with antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy and that the risk is greater at higher doses of antiepileptic drugs and with polytherapy compared with monotherapy. It is also recognised that some antiepileptic drugs taken by a mother during pregnancy can affect the physical and mental development of the unborn baby. However, the type and level of risk associated with use of antiepileptic drug(s) taken by the mother during the pregnancy. Where the available data are recognised to support an increased risk of either birth defects or effects on the unborn baby's growth and development, this is reflected in the product information that is provided with the medicine – the Summary of Product Characteristics (for use by healthcare professionals) and the Patient Information Leaflet, and may be accompanied by restrictions to its use.

Of the antiepileptic drugs that are authorised for use in the UK, valproate or valproic acid, which is indicated for use in epilepsy and bipolar disorders, is known to be associated with serious harm to the unborn baby if taken by the mother during pregnancy. The available data from epidemiological studies show that valproate is associated with a significant risk of birth defects (approximately 10 in 100 babies will have a birth defect compared with 2–3 in 100 babies in the general population) and developmental disorders (about 30–40 children in every 100 may have developmental problems including delays in early development such as talking and walking later, lower intellectual abilities, poor language skills and memory problems) in children born to women who take it during pregnancy.

The consistency and strength of the evidence for valproate supporting that its use during pregnancy is associated with serious harm to the unborn baby, has, in recent years, resulted in valproate being a major focus of European regulatory reviews of the safety of its use in women of childbearing potential and during pregnancy. The current requirement that girls and women of childbearing potential should only be treated with valproate if other antiepileptic drugs are ineffective or not tolerated and the need for women to be able to make informed choices about alternative antiepileptic drugs has increased the focus on the information available on the risks associated with use during pregnancy of other antiepileptic drugs.

Currently, valproate should not be used in girls (of any age) and women of childbearing potential unless there is no suitable alternative, as judged by a specialist experienced in the management of epilepsy or bipolar disorder. If valproate is the only effective or tolerated medicine, women and girls of childbearing potential should be enrolled in the Valproate Pregnancy Prevention Programme and a Risk Acknowledgement Form should be completed by the prescriber and patient every year at an annual specialist review.

The Epilepsies:diagnosis and management Clinical guideline [CG137] from the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) recommends that in order to enable informed decisions and choice, women and girls with epilepsy and their partners, as appropriate, must be given accurate information and counselling about contraception, conception, pregnancy, caring for children, breastfeeding, and menopause. In particular, it is recommended that there should be a discussion with women and girls of childbearing potential (including young girls who are likely to need treatment into their childbearing years), and their parents and/or carers if appropriate, concerning the risk of antiepileptic drugs causing malformations and possible neurodevelopmental impairments in an unborn baby.

To support informed decision-making, in July 2019 the Commission on Human Medicines (CHM) endorsed a proposal for a review of data from non-clinical and clinical studies relating to the safety of non-valproate antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy. The Commission on Human Medicines considered that certain antiepileptic drugs should be prioritised for review based on their place in national clinical guidelines, the extent to which they are used in the UK and the available safety data; these were carbamazepine, gabapentin, lamotrigine, oxcarbazepine, phenobarbital, phenytoin, pregabalin, topiramate, and zonisamide. Consequently, the available non-clinical and clinical data has been reviewed in order to determine whether the accumulating data raises any new safety concerns or changes the current understanding about the safety of use during pregnancy of these prioritised antiepileptic drugs.

Levetiracetam (brand name Keppra), which is another antiepileptic drug that is widely used in the UK, was not included amongst the antiepileptic drugs that were prioritised for review as the available data relating to safety of its use during pregnancy had been subject to a recent European review and updates to product information had already been made. However, the data considered during the European review and any more recent published epidemiological studies have been included in this public assessment report and formed the basis on which the advice of the Commission of Human Medicines was sought.

For completeness, clinical data in relation to a number of other antiepileptic drugs less commonly used in the UK has also been reviewed; these include brivaracetam, clobazam, clonazepam, eslicarbazepine, ethosuximide, lacosamide, perampanel, primidone, rufinamide, tiagabine and vigabatrin.

The table below provides information on number of prescription items dispensed in the UK in 2019 (Prescription Cost Analysis Data)

Table: Prescription Cost Analysis Data 2019 for antiepileptic drugs prioritised for review

Antiepileptic Drug	Prescription items dispensed in the community in England in 2019*
Carbamazepine	2,274,769
Gabapentin	7,296,052
Lamotrigine	2,965,550
Levetiracetam	2,402,526
Oxcarbazepine	109,137
Phenobarbital	188,342
Phenytoin	675,597
Pregabalin	7,398,604
Topiramate	967,305
Zonisamide	164,243

* These figures include all prescription items dispensed in England for all indications so will include indications other than epilepsies

This public assessment report summarises the main evidence and key findings for the antiepileptic drugs considered in this review. It also presents the conclusions of the Commission on Human Medicines and its Neurology, Pain and Psychiatry Expert Advisory Group (NPPEAG).

The information and analyses contained in this report reflect evidence that was available at the time of the review in 2020. They are not intended to provide clinical advice. The MHRA will continue to monitor the safety of all medicines, however the information in this report will not be actively updated with new data or studies.

3 Summaries of main evidence and key findings

This section summarises the main evidence considered in this review along with the key findings. The information is presented for the following antiepileptic drugs in alphabetical order in sections 3.1 to 3.10 below – carbamazepine, gabapentin, lamotrigine, levetiracetam, oxcarbazepine, phenobarbital, phenytoin, pregabalin, topiramate and zonisamide. Section 3.11 summarises the data and findings on the antiepileptics less commonly used.

The available clinical data on the risk of major congenital malformations, neurodevelopmental disorders and delay, and also other reproductive toxic effects were taken from the published scientific literature and included meta-analyses and epidemiological studies in pregnancy registries, national birth registers, and population-based cohorts. The key findings from the main studies are presented in tabular form in Appendices 1 to 3.

For the other antiepileptic drugs that were less commonly used, the main findings are outlined in section 3.11. These medicines include brivaracetam, clobazam, clonazepam, eslicarbazepine, ethosuximide, lacosamide, perampanel, primidone, rufinamide, tiagabine and vigabatrin.

The data for diazepam, fosphenytoin, lorazepam, midazolam, thiopental sodium and stiripentol have not been reviewed given that the authorised indications for these antiepileptic drugs include status epilepticus, acute convulsions, refractory convulsive disorders or Dravet's syndrome.

The first step in developing and testing a new drug is non-clinical research and assessing the safety and efficacy in both *in vitro* models (such as cell cultures) and several animal species, including pregnant animals, prior to First in Humans. Once safety and efficacy profiles are established in these models the drug can then enter a clinical development programme. During its clinical development a drug is then tested on a range of people in clinical trials in order to generate information on safety and efficacy. Randomised controlled clinical trials are usually considered the best evidence to support a causal association. However pregnant women are generally excluded from participation in these trials for ethical reasons. This means that there is a lack of randomised clinical data on the effects of the drug in human pregnancy. Non-clinical studies conducted in pregnant animal models which are used as a surrogate, are therefore important to investigate the effects of a drug in pregnancy. This type of data provides insights on the drug's potential to interfere in human embryonic/fetal development because the mechanisms facilitating embryonic/fetal development are highly conserved through evolution and as a result there are many similarities between the response in the animal models and humans.

The review of non-clinical data in the published literature and company-sponsored studies, where available, considered teratogenicity, neurodevelopment and other reproductive toxic effects. The non-clinical neurodevelopmental studies were performed in pregnant animal models, neonatal animals, and neuronal cell cultures, and were designed to investigate the effects of the antiepileptic drugs on the offspring behaviour or tissues of the developing brain, focussing on the regions associated with the cognitive impairment reported in the children of women who used antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy (for example, general developmental delay, impaired language, and lowered IQ). A limited number of studies attempted to correlate the tissue changes in regions of the brain in animal models with changes in the behaviour of the offspring in the postnatal period.

Randomised controlled clinical trials are usually considered the best evidence to support a causal association. However, because pregnant women are rarely included in randomised controlled clinical trials, once a product is marketed the aim is to collect information on safety in pregnancy in order that better information can be provided to patients and healthcare professionals. This further information can be collected by a number of means including through spontaneous reporting schemes such as the Yellow Card Scheme in the UK, population-based birth registries of children born with congenital malformations, pregnancy registries and observational studies. Consistent findings from well conducted observational studies (or a meta-analysis thereof), where the design and methodology minimise the chance of bias and confounding, would be considered good evidence for a statistically significant increase in the risk of congenital malformations or the risk of adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes in the offspring of those who had taken antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy compared with those who had not. The data to support a causal association is considered limited where there mostly consistent but non-statistically significant findings from the available observational studies but these studies are either still at some risk of bias or they are too small to detect a statistically significant association should one exist, or there are consistent statistically significant findings from poor quality studies where the estimated magnitude of risk is such that it could not be explained by biases alone. Where there are either a limited number of studies, the available studies are too small or only poor quality studies are available then the data is considered insufficient to allow a conclusion to be reached on the likelihood of a causal association.

The conclusions of this assessment are based on an evaluation of the available non-clinical and clinical data. The assessment takes into account the methodology, including the quality of data, how it was collected, the existence of a non-exposed group or control group, the type of controls, and if possible, the inclusion of foetuses aborted due to malformation, etc. To allow a proper evaluation of the reliability of the data, the available studies must be of adequate scientific quality.

5

3.1 Carbamazepine

Carbamazepine (brand name Tegretol) is indicated for use in adults, adolescents, and children for the treatment of generalised tonic-clonic and partial seizures.

NICE guidance recommends that it can be used first line for the treatment of focal and generalised tonic–clonic seizures and also as adjunctive therapy in the treatment of focal seizures. Data from the <u>Clinical Practice Research Datalink</u> (CPRD) support that carbamazepine is among the most frequently prescribed antiepileptic drugs in women of childbearing age with epilepsy, but that its use in this group has been decreasingly steadily since 2010. These data also suggest it is among the more commonly prescribed antiepileptic drugs in pregnancy.

Congenital malformations

The available clinical data from meta-analyses (Meador et al, 2008, Weston et al, 2016, Veroniki et al, 2017a), pregnancy registries (Hernandez-Diaz et al, 2012, Campbell et al, 2014, Tomson et al, 2018, Vajda et al, 2019) and other large epidemiological studies (Petersen et al, 2017) involving around 9,000 pregnancies exposed to carbamazepine, of which around 6,000 pregnancies were exposed to carbamazepine in the first trimester, are generally supportive of an increased risk of major congenital malformations in association with carbamazepine exposure during pregnancy. The prevalence of major congenital malformations varies between 1.17% and 8% in the studies, likely reflecting the different study methodologies and populations studied. However, they generally appear to support a prevalence of around 4–5% and a risk of major congenital malformations following in-utero exposure to carbamazepine monotherapy that is higher than in the general population (2–3%) and higher than that seen in women with epilepsy who are untreated. Congenital malformations reported include cleft lip or palate, cardiac malformations, neural tube defects, hypospadias, genitourinary tract defects, skeletal malformations including club foot and polydactyly and respiratory and gastrointestinal malformations. These are broadly reflected in the current product information (the Summary of Product Characteristics for healthcare professionals and the Patient Information Leaflet).

The clinical data that is available to inform on the risk of polytherapy including carbamazepine (Meador et al, 2008, Veronika et al, 2017a) supports what is already known, which is that antiepileptic drug polytherapy is associated with a greater risk of major congenital malformations. However, it does not allow determination of the extent to which carbamazepine may contribute or even drive that risk. This is because the studies observing an increased risk associated with polytherapy involving carbamazepine also include other antiepileptic drugs that are considered to be associated with an increased risk of congenital malformations, such as valproate.

Where clinical studies have examined a dose-response, the findings are mixed; the larger studies are more supportive of an increased risk with increasing doses of carbamazepine (Tomson et al, 2018, UKEPR) but other smaller studies are not (Hernandez Diaz et al, 2012, Samren et al, 1997). The possibility of a dose-dependent risk is already reflected in the carbamazepine Summary of Product Characteristics.

Non-clinical studies in the published scientific literature in pregnant rats and mice report treatment-related congenital malformations in both rodent species (Sullivan and McElhatton, 1977; Paulson et at., 1979; El-Sayed et at., 1983; Eluma et at., 1984; Vorhees et at., 1990; Finnell et al, 1995; Bennett GD, et al. 1996; El Shama, S., et al, 2015). The increased malformations observed in mice occurred at plasma concentrations relevant to the human therapeutic dose. Therefore, based on the currently available non-clinical data the risk of a teratogenic effect following therapeutic use in humans cannot be excluded.

Neurodevelopmental disorders and delay

Clinical data on the effects of prenatal exposure to carbamazepine and the risk of neurodevelopmental disorders is available from meta-analyses (Banach et al, 2010, Bromley et al, 2014 and Veroniki et al, 2017b) and a number of other epidemiological studies not included in these meta-analyses (Forsberg et al. 2011, Christensen et al, 2013, Deshmukh et al. 2016, Elkjær et al. 2018, Cohen et al, 2019, Christensen et al, 2019, Huber-Mollema et al, 2020).

Where studies have examined effects on intelligence quotient (IQ), there are conflicting results from some of the individual studies compared with the findings of the meta-analyses. Some recent prospective observational studies (Cohen et al, 2019 (61 children exposed to carbamazepine) and Huber-Mollema et al, 2020 (32 children exposed to carbamazepine)) have reported lower scores for IQ, specific components of the Children's Memory Scale (such as Learning Index), or specific components of neuropsychological development (visuomotor precision) in children whose mothers took carbamazepine during pregnancy compared with children whose mothers did not. Similar findings were not seen in the meta-analyses (Banach et al, 2010 (83 children in the carbamazepine group) and Bromley et al, 2014 (150 children in the carbamazepine group)) that included other prospective observational studies. These differences may reflect the different methodologies and designs in the individual studies and limitations such as the potential for residual confounding and lack of a comparison to women with epilepsy in some studies.

The meta-analyses by Bromley et al, 2014 and Veroniki et al, 2017b and the studies by Christensen et al, 2013 and 2019 have examined the effect of use of carbamazepine during pregnancy on outcomes including symptoms or diagnoses of autism spectrum disorders or attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in children whose mothers used carbamazepine during pregnancy. The largest studies are those by Christensen et al, 2013 (386 children exposed to carbamazepine) and 2019 (423 children exposed to carbamazepine), which examined the risk of autism spectrum disorders and ADHD, respectively. The studies by Christensen et al, and the meta-analyses do not suggest an increased risk of symptoms or diagnoses of autism spectrum disorders or ADHD following carbamazepine exposure during pregnancy.

Non-clinical studies in rodents from the published scientific literature have reported evidence of neurodegenerative changes that persist long into the postnatal period in regions of the developing brain associated with memory and learning (for example, hippocampus, cortex cerebri, and amygdala). These regions are implicated in the learning impairments observed in antiepileptic drug exposed children (Gonzalez-Maciel et al, 2020; Elshama S et al, 2015; Aberg E et al, 2013; Manent JB, et al, 2007; Araújo, I.M et al, 1988). There were limitations in the study designs employed and only a few investigated the effects of carbamazepine on the behaviour of the exposed offspring. These limited behavioural assessments reported no evidence of an effect on behaviour even when neurodegenerative changes were present (Aberg E et al, 2013). Overall uncertainty remains over the relevance of these non-clinical findings to the effects reported clinically.

Other reproductive toxic effects on the fetus or neonate

Clinical data on reproductive toxic effects are limited and the findings are mixed. Individual pregnancy registry and population-based cohort studies have reported increased risks of fetal loss with carbamazepine compared with unexposed women with epilepsy (Artama et al, 2013, Trivedi et al, 2018). However, the meta-analysis by Veroniki et al, (2017a) that included data on 3,911 carbamazepine monotherapy exposed pregnancies did not support an increased risk of fetal loss compared with unexposed women with epilepsy (OR 1.25,

95% credible intervals 0.73 to 2.36).

Two individual studies in national birth registers (Almgren et al, 2009, Margulis et al, 2019) were not included in the meta-analysis and have suggested reduced fetal head circumference following carbamazepine exposure. It is of note that the head circumferences observed in the studies by Almgren et al, and Margulis et al, likely remain within the normal range and therefore suggest only a very small effect of carbamazepine. These data do not suggest an increased risk of microcephaly. The meta-analysis by Veroniki et al, which did not include the studies by Almgren et al, and Margulis et al, did not support an increased risk of prenatal growth retardation (OR 1.15, 95% Crl 0.77 to 1.67) based on data from 2,897 carbamazepine monotherapy exposed pregnancies.

Non-clinical studies from the published scientific literature have shown reproducible evidence of intrauterine growth restrictions/delayed growth in rodents (e.g. reduced mean fetal body weights, reduced crown-rump length and delayed bone growth [length and size]) (Vorhees et al, 1990, El-Gaafarawi and Abouel-Magd, 2015, Elshama et al, 2015; Jose, M., et al, 2017). The lowest maternal plasma concentrations of carbamazepine associated with these findings was not reported therefore the relevance to the human therapeutic doses are unknown (El-Gaafarawi and Abouel-Magd, 2015).

Key findings for carbamazepine

Overall the available clinical and non-clinical data support the following key findings for carbamazepine:

- A large amount of post-marketing data exist on the risk of birth defects following the use of carbamazepine during pregnancy with the available studies involving around 9,000 pregnancies exposed to carbamazepine, of which around 6,000 were exposed in the first trimester. These data support that 4–5% of children exposed to carbamazepine monotherapy during pregnancy have congenital malformations. The risk is higher than that in babies born to mothers with epilepsy who were not exposed to antiepileptics during pregnancy, appears to be dose-dependent, and increases with antiepileptic drug polytherapy;
- The available clinical data on neurodevelopmental outcomes do not suggest an increased risk of neurodevelopmental disorders or delay. Limited non-clinical data reported evidence of an effect on the developing nervous system in rodents, however, the data are not sufficient to confirm a developmental neurotoxic potential.
- The findings from clinical studies examining fetal loss and fetal growth retardation are inconsistent and the non-clinical studies report that use of carbamazepine affects rodent fetal growth. Overall, the available evidence is inconclusive and the risks remain uncertain.

3.2 Gabapentin

Gabapentin (brand name Neurontin) is indicated for:

- monotherapy in the treatment of partial seizures, with or without secondary generalisation in adults, adolescents aged 12 year and above;
- adjunctive therapy in the treatment of partial seizures, with or without secondary generalisation, in adults, adolescents, and children aged 6 years and above.

It is also indicated for the treatment of peripheral neuropathic pain such as painful diabetic neuropathy and post-herpetic neuralgia in adults.

NICE guidance recommends that it can be used as adjunctive treatment in focal seizures. Data from the CPRD suggests that among the prioritised antiepileptics drugs that gabapentin is one that is commonly initiated in women of childbearing age with epilepsy and also that it is among the most commonly prescribed antiepileptic drugs in pregnancy.

Congenital malformations

The available data from clinical studies remains relatively limited. The larger clinical studies are those from the North American Antiepileptic Drug pregnancy registry (Hernandez-Diaz 2012, NAAED, 2019), the Swedish National Birth Registry (Kallen et al, 2013) and a study using prospective data from teratology information services (Fujii et al, 2013). None of these studies are suggestive of an increased risk of congenital malformations in association with use of gabapentin during pregnancy. However, the numbers exposed in each of these studies and the total overall numbers of exposed pregnancies (around 600 first trimester exposed pregnancies) remains relatively low and do not allow robust conclusions to be drawn.

A meta-analysis by Veroniki et al, 2017a also did not suggest an increased risk of overall major congenital malformation with gabapentin use during pregnancy. However, gabapentin was found to be associated with statistically significantly more cases developing cardiac congenital malformations compared to the control group (odds ratio (OR) 5.98; 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.37-19.73) and hypospadias compared to the control group (OR, 16.54; 95% CI 2.50-121.70). These studies involved a very limited number of pregnancies (cardiac malformations: 2 studies involving a total of 45 exposed pregnancies, hypospadias: 1 study involving 39 exposed pregnancies) and further data are needed to determine whether this is a true effect.

The available non-clinical data from the published scientific literature, reports malformations in mice, however these findings are contradicted by the results of unpublished regulatory Good Laboratory Practice compliant studies in pregnant mice, rats and rabbits which did not detect evidence of teratogenicity in the exposed offspring at plasma concentrations equal to and above those used in the published studies. The Good Laboratory Practice studies are well designed for the purposes of detecting teratogenic effects of substances.

The risk of malformations with gabapentin therefore remains uncertain and further data are needed to inform our understanding.

Neurodevelopmental disorders and delay

The available clinical studies include a nationwide population-based cohort study using French national healthcare databases (Blotiere et al, 2020). This study provided data on 378 children exposed to gabapentin in utero and did not suggest that gabapentin was associated with an increased risk of neurodevelopmental disorders, pervasive developmental disorders, mental retardation or visits to a speech therapist.

Data are also available from a cross-sectional epidemiological study which retrospectively enrolled children from the UK Epilepsy and Pregnancy Registry (Bromley et al, 2016). However, the numbers for gabapentin were very low. Primary outcome data relating to 14 children exposed to gabapentin are reported but given the small size of the group they were not further investigated in the statistical analysis. Gabapentin was also included in the meta-analysis conducted by Veroniki et al, 2017b and this did not suggest a statistically significant increased risk of adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes in children associated with exposure to gabapentin in utero. However, the number of children exposed to gabapentin in utero was very limited and so overall no conclusions can be reached about the risk of adverse neurodevelopmental effects with gabapentin.

Non-clinical studies in the published scientific literature in rodents showed neurodegenerative changes in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus of fetuses exposed to gabapentin during early and mid-pregnancy (Prakash et al, 2008 and Badawy et al, 2019). However, limitations in the design of these studies make them insufficient to determine the effects of gabapentin on the developing nervous system. An unpublished Good Laboratory Practice compliant study in pregnant rats showed non-dose-related behavioural changes in the performance of the offspring during tests of activity and emotionality but the changes were not statistically significantly different from those of the control animals. Overall, the non-clinical data does not provide clear evidence that exposure to gabapentin during pregnancy adversely affects the development of the central nervous system.

Other reproductive toxic effects on the fetus or neonate

The available clinical studies (Fujii et al, 2013, Killic et al, 2014, Hernandez-Diaz et al, 2017) do not allow for firm conclusions to be reached. Some studies suggest that gabapentin use during pregnancy may result in an increased risk of preterm birth and prenatal growth retardation but these tend to include a small number of gabapentin exposed pregnancies. In the study with the largest number of pregnancies exposed to gabapentin monotherapy (Hernandez-Diaz et al, 2017; 153 gabapentin exposed pregnancies) the risk of the baby being born small for gestational age with gabapentin was not statistically significantly different from the risk with another antiepileptic drug (lamotrigine). Similarly, a recent meta-analysis (Veroniki et al, 2017a; 76 gabapentin exposed pregnancies) did not suggest an increased risk of on prenatal growth retardation and preterm birth following gabapentin use during pregnancy.

Non-clinical data from unpublished regulatory-compliant company-sponsored studies and from published studies have reported fetal growth retardation characterised as reduced fetal weights and crown-rump length in mice offspring (published studies [Prakash et al, 2008; Afshar M, Golalipour MJ 2008; Afshar M, et al, 2009]); delayed skeletal development in rat and mice offspring, and reduced birth weights in male rat offspring (unpublished regulatory-compliant studies) following exposure during pregnancy. The fetal growth retardation observed in the regulatory compliant studies occurred at doses approximately 1 to 5 times the human therapeutic dose.

Overall the available clinical and non-clinical data support the following key findings for gabapentin:

- A moderate amount of clinical data exist on the risk of birth defects following the use of gabapentin during pregnancy with the available studies only involving around 600 pregnancies exposed to gabapentin in the first trimester. Overall, the limitations of the available clinical and non-clinical data do not allow any firm conclusions to be drawn. The risk remains uncertain and further data are required;
- Very limited clinical data exist on the risk of neurodevelopmental outcomes and this risk remains unknown. Limited non-clinical data report some evidence of an effect on the developing nervous system in rodents, however, the data are not sufficient to determine a developmental neurotoxic potential.
- A moderate amount of clinical data show conflicting findings with regards to effects on fetal growth. Non-clinical data report that the use of gabapentin during pregnancy is associated with adverse effects on fetal growth and development in rodents. Overall, the available data do not allow any firm conclusion to be drawn and the possibility of an effect on prenatal growth cannot be ruled out.

3.3 Lamotrigine

Lamotrigine (Lamictal) is indicated for use in adults and adolescents aged 13 years and above for:

- adjunctive or monotherapy treatment of partial seizures and generalised seizures, including tonic-clonic seizures;
- seizures associated with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome. Lamotrigine is given as adjunctive therapy but may be the initial antiepileptic drug to start with in Lennox-Gastaut syndrome.

It is also indicated for use in children and adolescents aged 2 to 12 years for:

- adjunctive treatment of partial seizures and generalised seizures, including tonic-clonic seizures and the seizures associated with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome;
- monotherapy of typical absence seizures.

NICE guidance recommends that it can be used as first line or adjunctive treatment for generalised tonic-clonic, absence or focal seizures and also as adjunctive treatment in tonic or atonic seizures.

CPRD data show that in women of childbearing age, lamotrigine is the antiepileptic drug that is most commonly prescribed and also most commonly started for the treatment of epilepsy. It is also among the most commonly prescribed antiepileptic drugs in pregnancy.

Congenital malformations

The review of clinical data on the risk of major congenital malformations with lamotrigine included data from meta-analyses (Meador et al, 2008, Weston et al, 2016, Veroniki et al, 2017a) and other large epidemiological studies which included pregnancies exposed to lamotrigine monotherapy (Cunnington et al, 2011, Petersen et al, 2017, Tomson et al, 2018, Vajda et al, 2019). Together these meta-analyses and studies included more than 12,000 pregnancies where lamotrigine monotherapy was used, including more than 9,000 in which lamotrigine was used in the first trimester These studies included comparisons with pregnancy outcomes in women without epilepsy, and in women with epilepsy who were not treated with antiepileptic drugs. The results from these meta-analyses and other studies consistently indicated that exposure to lamotrigine monotherapy during pregnancy is not associated with an increased risk of major congenital malformations at usual maintenance doses. The largest meta-analysis considered in this review included 6,290 pregnancies exposed to lamotrigine compared with pregnancies in women with epilepsy not exposed to antiepileptic drugs and there was no increased risk of major congenital malformations was 0.96 (95% credible intervals 0.72 - 1.25). The risk ratio in this meta-analysis was 1.07 (95% Cl 0.64 - 1.77) (Weston et al, 2016). The latest data on 2,514 exposed pregnancies from the International Registry of Antiepileptic Drugs and Pregnancy (EURAP) reported a major congenital malformation rate of 2.9% for lamotrigine (74/2,514) (Tomson et al, 2018).

The UK product information for lamotrigine recommends that the usual maintenance dose is 100 - 200 mg, although it notes that 500 mg per day has been required by some patients to achieve desired response. Studies investigating the effect of lamotrigine dose on the risk of major congenital malformations have shown conflicting results. A study in the International Lamotrigine Pregnancy Registry (Cunnington et al, 2011) reported no evidence of an increase in the rate of major congenital malformations after first trimester use of lamotrigine monotherapy (n=1,523) at doses increasing in 100 mg increments, although there was little use of daily doses above 600mg (n=44). A population-based cohort study using data from Danish health registers found no difference in major congenital malformation risk in a pre-planned analysis that evaluated the risks associated with first trimester mean daily doses of lamotrigine of 250 mg or lower (n=766) or higher than 250 mg (n=253) (Mølgaard-Nielsen and Hviid 2011). A study using data from the Australian Register of Antiepileptic Drugs in Pregnancy (APR), including pregnancies with use of lamotrigine monotherapy in the first trimester (n=406), did not find an association between lamotrigine dosage and risk of major congenital malformations (Vajda et al. 2019). However, a study using data from EURAP reported that the prevalence of major congenital malformations was 4.3% (28/644) for doses of lamotrigine higher than 325 mg per day compared with 2.5% (46/1,870) for doses of lamotrigine 325 mg per day or lower, odds ratio 1.68 (95% CI 1.01 – 2.80) (Tomson et al, 2018).

The assessment of the reproductive and developmental effects of lamotrigine in non-clinical studies is limited by the induction of maternal toxicity at human therapeutic doses and consequently its effects at higher exposures has not been performed. However, acknowledging such limitations, the non-clinical evidence reports that lamotrigine at doses relevant to human therapeutic doses is not teratogenic in rodents and rabbits. The absence of teratogenicity provides some reassurance over the use of lamotrigine in pregnancy but caution is required due to the limitations caused by the dosing restrictions.

Neurodevelopmental disorders and delay

Epidemiological studies and meta-analyses have investigated outcomes including measures of intelligence, developmental outcomes, and symptoms or diagnoses of autism spectrum disorders or ADHD (Veroniki et al, 2017b, Bromley et al, 2014, Deshmukh et al. 2016, Christensen et al, 2013, Elkjaer et al. 2018, Christensen et al, 2019, Cohen et al, 2019, Huber-Mollema et al, 2019 and 2020, Richards et al. 2019, Blotière et al. 2020, Husebye et al. 2020). Overall, the available clinical data do not indicate a negative impact of lamotrigine on these outcomes.

For the outcome of autism spectrum disorders, the data for lamotrigine were not completely consistent, with some studies reporting increases in the risk of autism spectrum disorder outcomes, by disorders and similar outcomes, but with different estimates of the size of the increase. The largest single study that investigated autism spectrum disorder outcomes, by Christensen et al. 2013 (1383 children exposed to lamotrigine in utero), did not indicate an increase in risk in children whose mothers took lamotrigine during pregnancy, compared with children whose mothers did not take antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy, when adjusted for variables including maternal age, parental psychiatric history, gestational age, and sex. Some studies have reported potentially increased risks of autistic spectrum disorder outcome, or of poorer levels of early child development in terms of social and language skills, however some studies lacked precision or were potentially subject to residual confounding, or to bias where the outcomes were reported by those with knowledge of the child's antiepileptic drug exposure status, and these data are not sufficient to confirm a causal association with lamotrigine..

Non-clinical studies have reported that exposure to lamotrigine during pregnancy and also in juvenile rats can induce some neurobehavioural effects at doses relevant to human therapeutic doses.

Other reproductive toxic effects on the fetus or neonate

Overall, the available clinical data from epidemiological studies (Hernandez Diaz et al, 2014, Hernandez-Diaz et al, 2017, Killic et al, 2014, Trivedi et al, 2018, Bech et al, 2018, Vajda et al, 2018, Danielsson et al, 2019) and the meta-analysis by Veroniki et al. (2017a) do not suggest that lamotrigine monotherapy is associated with an increased risk of combined fetal loss, prenatal growth retardation, or preterm birth. The majority of the data come from studies including between 2,000 and 3,000 pregnancies where lamotrigine monotherapy was used and which were included in the meta-analysis by Veroniki et al. (2017a) for different reproductive outcomes. In this meta-analysis the odds ratio for combined fetal loss was 1.38 (95% CrI, 0.70 - 2.88), the odds ratio for prenatal growth retardation was 0.90 (95% CrI, 0.56 - 1.42)., and the odds ratio for preterm birth was 1.05 (95% CrI, 0.70 - 1.48). Whilst some individual studies, including some which contributed to the meta-analysis by Veroniki et al. (2017a), did report an increased risk of either spontaneous abortion (Trivedi et al, 2018) or preterm birth (Killic et al, 2014), these have some important limitations such as the possibility of residual confounding and/or low numbers of exposures.

Data from non-clinical studies report that increased incidences of reduced fetal body weights and skeletal variations in embryofetal development studies have been observed in rodents as well as increases in incidence of fetal and postnatal mortality, but these effects were observed in the presence of, and could be attributed to, maternal toxicity. Similar to the findings for teratogenic effects, the limited picture caused by the dosing restrictions mean that caution is required with regards to the interpretation of these data.

Key findings for lamotrigine

Overall the available clinical and non-clinical data support the following key findings for lamotrigine:

- Studies involving more than 12,000 pregnancies exposed to lamotrigine consistently show that lamotrigine at the usual maintenance doses recommended in the product information is not associated with an increased risk of major congenital malformations. Non-clinical data do not report a teratogenic effect at human therapeutic doses.
- The available clinical studies on neurodevelopmental outcomes do not suggest an increased risk of neurodevelopmental disorders or delay, however, the limitations of the data mean an increased risk cannot be definitively excluded. Non-clinical data report some neurobehavioural effects but the clinical relevance of these are unknown.
- A large amount of data from clinical studies examining the effects of lamotrigine on fetal growth and development do not support adverse effects following use of lamotrigine during pregnancy. Non-clinical data report that lamotrigine can produce effects on fetal growth at human therapeutic doses but this appears to be due to toxic effects in the mother and the clinical relevance is unclear.

3.4 Levetiracetam

Levetiracetam (brand name Keppra) is indicated for use as monotherapy in the treatment of partial seizures, with or without secondary generalisation, in adults and adolescents aged 16 years and older. It is also indicated as adjunctive therapy in the treatment of:

- partial seizures, with or without secondary generalisation, in adults, adolescents, and children aged 4 years and older;
- myoclonic seizures in adults and adolescents from 12 years of age with juvenile myoclonic epilepsy;
- primary generalised tonic-clonic seizures in adults and adolescents from 12 years of age with idiopathic generalised epilepsy.

NICE guidance recommends that it can be used as first line or adjunctive treatment for myoclonic seizures and also as adjunctive treatment in generalised tonic-clonic or focal seizures.

Congenital malformations

The review considered clinical data from meta-analyses of published studies and epidemiological studies from pregnancy registries of antiepileptic drugs (Weston et al, 2016, Veroniki et al, 2017a, Tomson et al, 2018, Vajda et al, 2019), which included data on more than 1800 pregnancies exposed to levetiracetam monotherapy, of which more than 1500 exposures occurred during the first trimester. These studies consistently suggest that in-utero exposure to levetiracetam monotherapy is not associated with an increased risk of major congenital malformations.

The largest of these studies reported data on 599 levetiracetam exposed pregnancies from the International Registry of Antiepileptic Drugs and Pregnancy (Tomson et al, 2018) and 450 levetiracetam exposed pregnancies from the North American Antiepileptic Drugs Pregnancy Registry (Hernandez-Diaz et al, 2012); major congenital malformation rates of 2.8% and 2.0% respectively were reported and were not statistically significant increased compared with the control groups in these studies.

Neurodevelopmental disorders and delay

The available clinical data on the risk of neurodevelopmental disorders with levetiracetam is extremely limited and involves data on around 100 children (Shallcross et al, 2011, Bech et al, 2018, Huber-Mollema et al, 2019 and 2020). Levetiracetam was also included in the meta-analysis by Veroniki et al, (2017b). The available data do not suggest an increased risk of cognitive developmental delay, psychomotor developmental delay and autism/dyspraxia. However, as the numbers of exposures remains limited this cannot be concluded definitively and so it is important that any emerging data is kept under close review.

Other reproductive toxic effects on the fetus or neonate

The available clinical data from epidemiological studies (Killic et al, 2014, Trivedi et al, 2018, Bech et al, 2018, Vajda et al, 2018, Danielsson et al, 2019 and Margulis et al, 2019) and the meta-analysis by Veroniki et al. (2017a) including data on more than 1,800 pregnancies consistently suggest that levetiracetam monotherapy is not associated with an increased risk of fetal loss, prenatal growth retardation, or preterm birth.

Key findings for levetiracetam

Overall the available clinical data support the following key findings for levetiracetam:

- Clinical studies involving more than 1,800 pregnancies exposed to levetiracetam monotherapy (including more than 1,500 pregnancies exposed to levetiracetam in the first trimester) do not suggest an increase in the risk for major congenital malformations;
- Available clinical studies do not suggest an increased risk of neurodevelopmental disorders or delay associated with in-utero exposure to levetiracetam but the data are very limited meaning the risks remain uncertain and the possibility of an increased risk cannot be excluded;
- Clinical studies examining the effects of levetiracetam on fetal growth and development do not suggest that levetiracetam is associated with adverse effects.

3.5 Oxcarbazepine

Oxcarbazepine (brand name Trileptal) is indicated as monotherapy or adjunctive therapy in adults and children aged over 6 years of age with partial seizures with or without secondary generalised seizures.

NICE guidance recommends that oxcarbazepine can be used first line for generalised tonic-clonic seizures and also as first line and adjunctive treatment for focal seizures.

Congenital malformations

Overall, the available clinical data does not suggest an increased risk of major congenital malformations associated with oxcarbazepine during pregnancy. However, the number of

exposures is more limited than that for some of the other antiepileptic drugs with around 800 total exposed pregnancies including around 600 first-trimester-exposed pregnancies.

The clinical data from meta-analyses, pregnancy registry studies and the larger epidemiological studies (Weston et al, 2016, Veroniki et al, 2017a, Tomson et al, 2018, data published on North American Antiepileptic Drug Pregnancy Registry website in 2019, Vajda 2019) which included data on around 800 pregnancies suggest that the prevalence of major congenital malformations associated with in-utero exposure to oxcarbazepine is 2–3% and is similar to that seen in the general population. These studies also suggest that the risk of malformations is not greater than that seen in women with epilepsy that are not exposed to antiepileptic drugs. The study by Tomson et al, 2018, which is the largest of the individual studies, compared the risk seen with oxcarbazepine to that seen with other individual antiepileptic drugs and these data do not suggest that the risk differs significantly from that seen with lamotrigine, levetiracetam or carbamazepine. For these other antiepileptic drugs that were used as comparators, the available clinical data for both lamotrigine and levetiracetam do not support an increased risk of major congenital malformations with either of these antiepileptic drugs when used at usual maintenance doses, however, the data for carbamazepine does support an increased risk of major congenital malformations.

There are some studies that report a higher prevalence of major congenital malformations (Kallen et al, 2013, Vajda et al, 2019) with oxcarbazepine. These studies include low numbers of oxcarbazepine exposed pregnancies – less than 50 pregnancies exposed to monotherapy in the first trimester.

It is also of note that oxcarbazepine is structurally similar to carbamazepine (it is structural analog of carbamazepine) but is metabolised differently in the body and therefore its side effect profile may differ to that of carbamazepine, which has been shown to be associated with an increased risk of major congenital malformations. Further data are needed to more fully inform the understanding of the risk of congenital malformations with oxcarbazepine and no definitive conclusions can be reached.

A regulatory-compliant company-sponsored study in pregnant rats reported an increased incidence of fetal malformations at human therapeutic doses (approximately 1.2 to 4 times the maximum human recommended dose)

Neurodevelopmental disorders and delay

Clinical data on the risk of neurodevelopmental disorders with oxcarbazepine is primarily driven by data from retrospective studies using Danish national registries (Bech et al, 2018, Christensen et al, 2013 and 2019) and the meta-analysis by Veroniki et al, 2017b.

Overall, these data are not supportive of a detrimental impact, as all three studies do not support any impact on school performance, nor do they suggest an increased risk of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder or autism spectrum disorder in children in association with oxcarbazepine use during pregnancy. Although the data from the Veroniki et al,

meta-analysis suggested a significantly increased risk of autism/dyspraxia (OR 13.51 [95% Crl 1.28–221.40]), this was based on limited data as is reflected in the very wide confidence interval. Furthermore, the increased risk of autism/dyspraxia was no longer statistically significant when a sensitivity analysis was conducted that only included studies considered to be at low risk of bias (OR 10.23 [95% Cl 0.36–6.8x10³]), suggesting that this is not a robust basis on which to reach a conclusion about an increased risk of autism.

Non-clinical data are limited in terms of the number and design of the studies that have investigated the effect of oxcarbazepine on the developing central nervous system (Araújo, IM et al, 2004 and Pavone A, Cardile V, 2003), however evidence of a neurodegenerative effect in the hippocampus of rat offspring, which persists long into the postnatal period has been reported. These offspring also had substantial changes in brain and body weights prenatally and postnatally (Gonzalez-Maciel et al, 2020). The clinical relevance of these recent findings are unclear due to limitations in the study design; however, they may be related to the results of a regulatory compliant company sponsored study in which behavioural changes (slightly reduced activity index) had been concluded to be associated with diminished body weight gain of the offspring as opposed to an effect on the central nervous system.

Other reproductive toxic effects on the fetus or neonate

The findings from clinical studies with regards to the risk of fetal death in association with in-utero exposure to oxcarbazepine are inconsistent. The meta-analysis by Veroniki et al, (2017a) does not support an increased risk of fetal loss, however, data from some studies in pregnancy registries (Artama et al, 2013, Trivedi et al, 2018) are suggestive of a trend towards an increased risk of fetal loss in association with oxcarbazepine exposure during pregnancy. However, these studies suffer from some limitations that preclude firm conclusions being reached. Equally there are other prospective studies in pregnancy registries that do not support an increased risk of fetal loss (Bech et al, 2014, Vajda et al, 2018).

Similarly, the data from clinical studies on the risk of intrauterine growth retardation show inconsistent results. The meta-analysis by Veroniki et al, (2017a) does not suggest an increased risk with oxcarbazepine (OR 0.99, 95% CI 0.56–1.76), while some individual studies (Artama et al, 2013, Killic et al, 2014) report findings that are suggestive of an adverse effect on prenatal growth and development. Artama et al, was associated with a statistically significant increased risk of babies being born small for gestational age but with no detrimental effects on birth weight. In contrast, the study by Killic et al, 2014 suggested an effect of oxcarbazepine on birth weight but no increased risk of babies being born small for gestational age. These conflicting findings along with the limitations of these studies mean that the available data do not provide a robust basis from which to draw conclusions.

Non-clinical data from studies in rats have reported developmental toxicity (embryolethality, growth retardation) in the offspring exposed to either oxcarbazepine or its active 10hydroxy metabolite during pregnancy at doses relevant to human therapeutic doses.

Given the non-clinical data showing effects on fetal growth and conflicting clinical data it is important that any emerging data are carefully evaluated in order to better inform our understanding in this respect.

Key findings for oxcarbazepine

Overall the available clinical and non-clinical data support the following key findings for oxcarbazepine:

- A moderate amount of clinical data exist on the risk of birth defects following the use of oxcarbazepine during pregnancy, with the available studies only involving around 800 total exposed pregnancies including around 600 first-trimester-exposed pregnancies. Whilst these data do not suggest an increased risk of congenital malformations. the limited data coupled with the findings from non-clinical studies of teratogenic potential at human therapeutic doses do not allow the possibility of an increased risk of malformation to be definitively excluded;
- The limited available clinical data on the risk of neurodevelopmental outcomes following oxcarbazepine exposure during pregnancy do not suggest an increased risk, however, further data are required before an increased risk can be definitively ruled out. Non-clinical data are very limited but neurodegenerative effects have been reported.
- The findings from clinical studies are inconsistent and the risk remains uncertain. Non-clinical studies in rodents report that use of oxcarbazepine during pregnancy affects fetal growth.

3.6 Phenobarbital

Phenobarbital is indicated for the treatment and control of all forms of epilepsy, except absence seizures. However, it should only be used in the treatment of febrile convulsions in exceptional circumstances.

NICE guidance recommends that it can be used as adjunctive treatment in convulsive status epilepticus and may be considered for use by a tertiary epilepsy specialist in focal seizures when adjunctive treatment is not effective or not tolerated.

Congenital malformations

The clinical studies, which comprise data from three meta-analyses (Meador et al, 2008, Weston et al, 2016, Veroniki et al, 2017a) and other epidemiological studies (Veiby et al, 2014, Tomson et al, 2011 and 2018, Hernandez-Diaz et al, 2012), also support a teratogenic effect.

These clinical studies, involving around 1800 pregnancies exposed to phenobarbital (including 600 pregnancies exposed in the first trimester), show an increased risk of major congenital malformations following phenobarbital exposure compared with either unexposed women without epilepsy or unexposed women with epilepsy. While there is some variation in incidence rates with the largest meta-analysis by Weston et al, 2016 showing a prevalence of 7.1%, other studies broadly support incidence rates of malformations in offspring of phenobarbital exposed women of around 5–6%).

Across these studies not all the reported increased risks reached statistical significance, however, the data appear to broadly support an approximately 2–3-fold increase in risk (Weston et al, 2016, Relative Risk 2.84 (95% CI 1.57-5.13); Hernandez- Diaz et al, 2012, Relative Risk 2.9 (95% CI 1.4-5.8); Tomson et al, 2018 Odds Ratio 2.46 (95% CI 1.16-5.23); and Veroniki et al, 2017a Odds Ratio 1.83 (95% CI 1.35 -2.47)) compared to unexposed pregnancies. The study by Veiby et al, 2014 in the Norwegian Birth register did not show a statistically significantly increased risk of malformations with phenobarbital but this was a relatively small study (27 pregnancies exposed to phenobarbital monotherapy) and a higher risk cannot be excluded.

Data from Tomson et al, 2011 suggest a dose-dependent increase in the risk of major congenital malformations with a rate of 5.4% for doses lower than 150mg per day up to 13.7% for doses higher than 150 mg per day (OR 3.2; 95% CI 1.11 to 9.45, p=0.0316). Veiby et al, only reported on average phenobarbital dose (120mg per day) but the prevalence they observed (5.5%) appears in line with data from Tomson et al, 2018 (6.5%).

Studies consistently reported a higher rate of major congenital malformations in polytherapy compared to monotherapy (Meador 2008, Veroniki 2017a, Veiby 2014, Vajda 2014, Tomson 2018, Dean 2002), however, the details of the individual antiepileptic treatment that contributed to polytherapy were often not provided so it is not possible to determine to what extent phenobarbital contributes to the greater risk seen with polytherapy.

Non-clinical evidence regarding phenobarbital-induced malformations is limited to studies in mice from the published scientific literature. These studies have reported that phenobarbital exposure during pregnancy is associated with an increased risk of malformations in the offspring.

Neurodevelopmental disorders and delay

Overall, the data from clinical studies are suggestive of a possible adverse effect of pre-and postnatal phenobarbital exposure on neurodevelopment and IQ. Whilst some studies suggest the detrimental effects may weaken over time (Farwell 1990, Sulzbacher 1999, Thorp 1999 and 2003), in other instances they seemed to last into adulthood (Reinisch et al, 1995).

The meta-analyses of epidemiological studies (Bromley et al, 2014, Veroniki et al, 2017b) do not support an increased risk of adverse effects on neurodevelopment and delay, however, these meta-analyses include few studies that include relatively small numbers of exposed children and it was recognised by the authors that the absence of evidence should not regarded as evidence of safety.. There are well conducted prospective cohort studies including small numbers of subjects (<30 monotherapy exposures), that observed significant neurodevelopmental delay and detrimental effects on IQ in children whose mothers took phenobarbital monotherapy during pregnancy (Titze et al, 2008, Gopinath et al, 2015, van der Pol et al, 1991). Furthermore, longer-term postnatal treatment of a larger group of infants of >200 subjects (Farwell et al, 1990) was found to be associated with

statistically significant neurodevelopmental delay that appeared to weaken with time but a lower achievement score (WRAT-R) was still measurable a number of years later (Sulzbacher et al, 1999). A double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled study by Thorp et al, 1999 including perinatal phenobarbital treatment (antenatal and neonatal) was associated with a significant reduction in both mental development index and psychomotor development index in the exposed children after a two year follow up when compared to offspring exposed to placebo. A publication describing results of two retrospective cohort studies using independent samples and matched controls of 33 and 81 adult men also found significant associations of prenatal phenobarbital exposure and lower IQ in both studies following use of different outcome measures (study 1: Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale; study 2: Danish Military Draft Board Intelligence Test) (Reinisch et al, 1995). Other studies assessing outcomes following prenatal exposure at ages between 18 months and 7 years (Shankaran 1996, Shankaran 2002; Thorp 2003) based on primary randomised controlled trials, did not find a significant effect on neurodevelopment. However, a dose-dependent effect based on cumulative dosage was described in some studies (Reinisch et al, 1995, Gopinath et al, 2015) and it is possible that the total dosages used by Shankaran and Thorp are on the low side. It is of note that the studies examined the risk across a variety of indications and this may give further support to the likelihood of a true association.

Non-clinical studies in the published scientific literature have reported that exposure to phenobarbital during and soon after pregnancy can induce neurobehavioural effects in offspring and induce widespread apoptotic neurodegeneration in the brains of rodents. However, there are limitations to the data.

Other reproductive toxic effects on the fetus or neonate

Data from the meta-analysis by Veroniki et al, 2017a, showed that exposure to phenobarbital monotherapy or polytherapy during pregnancy was not associated with an increased risk of combined fetal loss or preterm birth when compared to the control groups, which is supported by a study by Tomson et al, 2015 examining data from the International Antiepileptic Drug and Pregnancy Registry. However, the meta-analysis did suggest that exposure to phenobarbital monotherapy during pregnancy was associated with a statistically significant increased risk of prenatal growth retardation (OR, 1.88; 95% CI, 1.07–3.32) and this is supported by data from the North American Antiepileptic Drug Pregnancy Registry (Hernandez-Diaz et al, 2017). Overall, the data are indicative of adverse effects on prenatal growth following in-utero exposure to phenobarbital.

Key findings for phenobarbital

Overall the available clinical and non-clinical data support the following key findings for phenobarbital:

- A large amount of data exist on the risk of birth defects following the use of phenobarbital during pregnancy with the available studies only involving around 1,800 pregnancies exposed to phenobarbital including around 600 exposed in the first trimester. The largest meta-analysis showed a prevalence of 7.1% for major congenital malformations and most individual studies support that 5-6% of children exposed to phenobarbital monotherapy during pregnancy suffer from congenital malformations. This risk is increased compared with children of mothers who were not exposed to antiepileptics during pregnancy (2-3% in general population) and appears be higher with increasing doses of phenobarbital. Non-clinical data are limited but also suggest phenobarbital may be teratogenic.
- Clinical data on neurodevelopmental outcomes following pre and postnatal exposures to phenobarbital is suggestive of possible adverse effects on neurodevelopment. Non-clinical data report possible neurobehavioural effects but limitations in the data exist.
- Clinical studies examining the effects of phenobarbital on fetal growth and development suggest that exposure to phenobarbital during pregnancy is associated with a higher risk of babies being born small for gestational age.

3.7 Phenytoin

Phenytoin (brand name Epanutin) is indicated for the control of tonic-clonic seizures (grand mal epilepsy), partial seizures (focal including temporal lobe) or a combination of these, and for the prevention and treatment of seizures occurring during or following neurosurgery and/or severe head injury.

NICE guidance recommends that phenytoin can be used as adjunctive treatment for convulsive status epilepticus in hospital and may be considered on referral to tertiary care for the treatment of focal seizures.

Congenital malformations

Clinical studies involving more than 2,000 pregnancies exposed to phenytoin, including around 1,000 pregnancies exposed in the first trimester, show an increased risk of major congenital malformations following prenatal phenytoin exposure compared with either unexposed women without epilepsy or unexposed women with epilepsy (Meador et al, 2008, Hernandez-Diaz 2012 and 2019, Weston et al, 2016, Veroniki et al, 2017a, Tomson et al, 2018). While there is some variation in prevalence rates, authors of the more robust studies including the Cochrane analysis by Weston et al, and the meta-analysis by Meador et al, reported prevalence rates of major congenital malformations in the offspring of women exposed to phenytoin during pregnancy of around 6–7%, which is consistent with that seen in the study exploring data in the International Antiepileptic Drug and Pregnancy Registry (Tomson et al, 2018). While the prevalence observed in the North American Antiepileptic Drug Registry is much lower (2.6%; 95% Cl 1.4 to 4.4), the prevalence of major congenital malformations in the internal control group of 1.1% (95% Cl 0.5 to 2.0) is also lower than would be expected in the general population (2–3%) and therefore this may reflect a different approach to the identification of major congenital malformations within this registry.

Across these studies not all reported increased risks reached statistical significance, however, the data appear to broadly support an approximately 2-2.5 fold increased risk of major congenital malformations compared to pregnancies not exposed to antiepileptic drugs (Weston et al, Risk Ratio 2.4 (95% CI 1.42 – 4.08); Hernandez- Diaz et al, Relative Risk 2.6 (95% CI 0.9 -7.4); Tomson et al, Odds Ratio 1.93 (95% CI 0.78 – 4.75); Veroniki et al, Odds Ratio 1.67 (95% CrI 1.3 -2.17)) as well as an approximately 1.5-fold increased risk compared with pregnancies exposed to lamotrigine. A recent study in the Australian Pregnancy Registry (Vajda et al, 2019) did not show an increased risk of malformations with phenytoin but this was a small study only involving 88 phenytoin-exposed pregnancies with wide confidence intervals that did not exclude the possibility of an increased risk.

Studies that explore a dose-dependent risk are very limited but where this was studied (Nulman et al, 1997, Samren et al, 1997, Kaneko et al, 1999, Kaaja 2003, Hernandez-Diaz et al, 2012) the data do not consistently show an association between dose and risk of major congenital malformations. Of these studies, only Samren 1997 and Kaneko et al, 1999 reported a dose-effect. Samren conducted a very small study involving 33 phenytoin exposed pregnancies. Kaneko (132 exposed pregnancies), found a clear but not statistically significant positive trend between dose and incidence of malformation based on 132 phenytoin-exposed pregnancies. Overall, these data are inconsistent and too limited to draw conclusions on a dose-dependent risk of congenital malformations following phenytoin exposure in utero.

The data available to inform on the risk of polytherapy including phenytoin (Meador et al, 2008, Veronika et al, 2017a, Keni et al, 2008) does not allow determination of the extent to which phenytoin may contribute or even drive the increased risk seen with polytherapy because polytherapy included antiepileptic drugs known to cause malformations (such as valproate).

Non-clinical studies in pregnant rats, rabbits, and mice report that exposure during pregnancy resulted in fetal malformations and these occur at plasma concentrations relevant to human therapeutic doses. The defects observed in animals are similar to those seen with fetal hydantoin syndrome.

Neurodevelopmental disorders and delay

Although the available clinical data concerning neurodevelopmental disorders and delay are inconsistent there are some small, reasonably well-conducted studies that do support an adverse effect on neurodevelopment. Both meta-analyses (Bromley et al, 2014, Veroniki et al, 2017b) along with most of the individual epidemiological studies did not support an increased risk of adverse effects on neurodevelopment, cognitive outcomes or IQ in children whose mothers took phenytoin during pregnancy when compared to non-exposed control groups or those exposed to other antiepileptic drugs (Leavitt 1992, Wide 2002 Thomas et al, 2007, Thomas et al, 2008, Thomas et al, 2009, Forsberg et 2011, Gopinath et al, 2015, Cohen et al, 2019). However, some small, well-conducted clinical studies (less than 30 phenytoin exposures) showed a significant increased risk of serious adverse outcomes compared to control subjects including fetal hydantoin syndrome, effects on development (Rovet 1995, Arulmozhi 2006) and below average IQ (Hanson 1976, Scolnik et al, 1994).

Published scientific literature has reported that phenytoin exposure during pregnancy can induce behavioural abnormalities in animal offspring at plasma concentrations relevant to human therapeutic doses. It has also been reported in the published scientific literature that phenytoin can induce neurodegeneration in neonatal rodent brains following early postnatal exposure at plasma concentrations of phenytoin relevant to human therapeutic concentrations.

Other reproductive toxic effects on the fetus or neonate

The available clinical do not support a detrimental effect on fetal growth and development. The meta-analysis by Veroniki et al, 2017a found that phenytoin monotherapy was not associated with increased combined fetal loss or preterm birth when compared to controls; and it was associated with the lowest risk of impaired prenatal growth retardation among the investigated antiepileptic drugs. Hernandez-Diaz et al, 2017 also did not observe an increased risk of being small for gestational age (adjusted RR 0.8, 95% CI 0.5-1.25) for phenytoin compared with lamotrigine.

A further study by Trivedi et al, 2018 in the Kerala Pregnancy Registry investigated spontaneous fetal loss in pregnancies exposed to phenytoin compared with pregnancies in nonexposed women with epilepsy. Although the risk was statistically significantly increased compared to the untreated control group, there was no difference compared with a levetiracetam exposed group and the available data for the latter does not appear to support an increased risk of fetal loss.

One study (Dean et al, 2002) suggested that phenytoin use during pregnancy may be associated with an increased risk of neonatal withdrawal effects but this study included a small number of children.

Non-clinical studies in pregnant rats, rabbits, and mice report that phenytoin exposure during pregnancy can cause embryofetal death and decreased fetal growth.

Key findings for phenytoin

Overall the available clinical and non-clinical data support the following key findings for phenytoin:

- A large amount of post-marketing data exist on the risk of birth defects following the use of phenytoin during pregnancy with the available studies involving more than 2,000 pregnancies exposed to phenytoin (including around 1,000 pregnancies exposed in the first trimester). These data support that around 6% of children exposed to phenytoin monotherapy during pregnancy suffer from congenital malformations. This risk is increased compared with that in children of mothers who were not exposed to antiepileptics during pregnancy (2-3% in the general population). Non-clinical data report that phenytoin is teratogenic.
- The clinical studies report inconsistent findings with regards to the effect of phenytoin on the risk of neurodevelopmental disorders or delay. Non-clinical studies report that exposure during pregnancy at human therapeutic doses can cause neurobehavioural abnormalities. Overall, taken together the available non-clinical and clinical data are suggestive of possible adverse effects on neurodevelopment;
- A moderate amount of data from the available clinical studies examining the effects of phenytoin on fetal loss and fetal growth and development do not suggest that it is associated with adverse effects. However, the non-clinical studies report that use of phenytoin can affect fetal growth.

3.8 Pregabalin

Pregabalin (brand name Lyrica) is indicated as adjunctive therapy in adults with partial seizures with or without secondary generalisation. It is also indicated in adults for the treatment of peripheral and central neuropathic pain and the treatment of generalised anxiety disorder (GAD).

NICE guidance recommends that pregabalin may be considered by the tertiary epilepsy specialist in the treatment of focal seizures if adjunctive treatment is not effective or not tolerated. Therefore, its use in epilepsy is likely limited and the product information reflects that the available data on pregnancy outcomes is also limited.

Prescribing trend data show that prescribing prevalence rates for pregabalin are high and have been increasing over time but this is reflective of the increasing use in the pain and anxiety indications. In June 2019, the rate was 75.94 prescriptions per 10,000 eligible women of childbearing age women (CPRD GOLD), making pregabalin the second most frequently prescribed antiepileptic drug in women of childbearing age among the drugs which have been prioritised for review. CPRD data also show that among the prioritised antiepileptic drugs it is the one that is most commonly prescribed in pregnancy. These data suggest that there is substantial use in women of childbearing potential and also during pregnancy.

Congenital malformations

Emerging unpublished data from a clinical study provide some suggestion of a slight increased overall risk of congenital malformations. However, at the time of publication of this report the study data are currently undergoing further evaluation at a European level.

In a retrospective cohort study, Blotière et al, 2019 used data from the French healthcare databases. This included data from 1,671 pregnancies exposed to pregabalin monotherapy of which 918 were considered exposed during first trimester, with the others discontinuing treatment prior to conception. This study examined rates of 23 specific malformations, so no overall rate of major congenital malformations was available. It identified potential signals of increased risk of coarctation of aorta (Odds Ratio 5.8 [95% CI 1.6 -14.9]) and craniosynostosis (Odds Ratio 8.1 [95% CI 1.7-23.7]), but no other increased risk was seen for any of the other 21 malformations studied. Given the lack of an overall malformation rate and the further limitations of this study (retrospective nature, potential for exposure misclassification, and small numbers of malformations) it does not allow any firm conclusions to be drawn about the risk of major congenital malformations associated with pregabalin.

Other smaller clinical studies show conflicting results. A multi-centre, prospective observational study by Winterfeld et al, provided data on 164 pregabalin exposed pregnancies (116 first trimester exposed pregnancies) and observed a higher rate of major birth defects in the pregabalin group (7/116 [6.0%]) compared to pregnancies in women not exposed to any medications known to be teratogenic or to any antiepileptic drugs (12/580 [2.1%]) to give an OR of 3.0 [95% CI 1.2–7.9], p=0.03). However, as the authors themselves acknowledged, this study includes a relatively small number of exposed pregnancies and suffers from a number of limitations and no robust conclusions can be drawn.

Patorno et al, 2017 conducted a cohort study nested in the US Medicaid Analytic eXtract (MAX) providing data on 477 pregnancies exposed to pregabalin in the first trimester and compared these to pregnancies of women not exposed to antiepileptics. The crude data suggested an increased risk of major congenital malformations (RR 1.80, 95% Cl 1.26–2.58), which this was no longer statistically significant after the analyses were adjusted to take into account factors including age, race, comorbidities, and other medication.

Other clinical studies by Veiby et al, 2014 and Mostacci et al, 2017 contain less than 30 pregnancies exposed to pregabalin in the first trimester and provide very little data to inform our understanding.

Limited published non-clinical studies report of teratogenicity in rodents however, in company sponsored studies no teratogenicity was reported in rodents and rabbits at plasma concentrations far exceeding human therapeutic doses. In considering the conflicting data regarding the teratogenic potential of pregabalin, no firm conclusions can be drawn of its potential teratogenic effect.

Neurodevelopmental disorders and delay

The preliminary conclusion from review of emerging unpublished clinical data is that there was no evidence of an increased risk for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, autism spectrum disorders and learning disabilities in pregabalin-exposed children. However, the study data are being further reviewed.

A nationwide population-based cohort study in French national healthcare databases by Blotiere et al, 2020 provided data on 1,627 children exposed to pregabalin. In this study pregabalin was not associated with an increased risk of neurodevelopmental disorders, pervasive developmental disorders, mental retardation, or visits to a speech therapist.

Non-clinical studies report on neurobehavioral effects in the offspring of rats given pregabalin during gestation and lactation but at doses which generated plasma concentrations higher than human therapeutic doses. Non-clinical studies also suggest that neurobehavioural effects can occur following dosing of juvenile rats at doses relevant to human therapeutic doses, however, reversibility has been observed upon discontinuation of dosing.

Other reproductive toxic effects on the fetus or neonate

Emerging unpublished clinical data found no statistically significant findings for small for gestational age, low birth weight and preterm birth outcomes, but these data are currently under review.

A study in the nationwide Swedish Medical birth register (Margulis et al, 2019) reported on the outcomes for 562 pregabalin exposed infants compared to those exposed to lamotrigine. Compared with infants exposed to lamotrigine, those exposed to pregabalin were reported to be born, on average, 1.1 days earlier (95% CI –3.0 to 0.8), an effect that was more notable in women with a diagnosis of epilepsy (–5.6 days, 95% CI –10.7 to –0.4); were 0.1 standard deviations lighter (95% CI –0.3 to 0.0); and had the same head

circumference. However, it is considered there is a strong possibility that residual confounding may have had an effect on the pregabalin analyses given the distinct profile of pregabalin users (younger, less well-educated and more likely to be obese or smokers).

Other smaller studies (Mostacci et al, 2018, Killic et al, 2014) reported on the outcomes of 14 and 18 pregnancies exposed to pregabalin, respectively. However, the very low numbers for pregabalin mean that no statistical analyses were conducted, and no conclusions can be reached with respect to the risk associated with pregabalin from either of these studies

Non-clinical studies report reduced fetal body weights in rats and rabbits following exposure to pregabalin during pregnancy but this occurred at plasma concentrations sufficiently higher than human therapeutic concentrations. Dosing of pregabalin during gestation and lactation induced offspring developmental toxicity in rats at exposures 5 times or greater than the maximum recommended human exposure.

Key findings for pregabalin

Overall the available non-clinical and clinical data support the following key findings for pregabalin:

- Data from the available clinical studies, including preliminary unpublished study data is suggestive of a slightly increased overall risk of congenital malformations but there
 is uncertainty in the estimate of the increased risk. There are some limitations to the available data and the unpublished data is subject to ongoing evaluation, and therefore
 definitive conclusions cannot be reached. Non-clinical data regarding teratogenicity are inconclusive.
- Very limited data exist on the risk of neurodevelopmental outcomes and these are suggestive of no increased risk. However, longer-term follow-up data are not yet available from the most recent and largest unpublished study and this risk therefore currently remains unknown.
- The data available from clinical studies do not allow any firm conclusion to be drawn and the risk remains uncertain. Non-clinical data report on effects of pregabalin on fetal growth and development, but these effects were only seen at doses much higher than those used in humans.

3.9 Topiramate

Topiramate (Topamax) is indicated as monotherapy in adults, adolescents and children aged older than 6 years of age with partial seizures with or without secondary generalised seizures, and primary generalised tonic-clonic seizures. It is also indicated as adjunctive therapy in adults, adolescents and children older than 2 years of age with partial onset seizures with or without secondary generalised tonic-clonic seizures and for the treatment of seizures associated with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome.

NICE guidance recommends that topiramate can be used first line for myoclonic seizures and as adjunctive treatment in generalised tonic-clonic, myoclonic and focal seizures.

Congenital malformations

Data from meta-analyses (Weston et al, 2016 Risk Ratio 3.69 [95% CI 1.36-10.07] vs women without epilepsy and Risk Ratio 1.99 [95% CI 0.65- 6.08] vs women with epilepsy, Veroniki et al, 2017a Odds Ratio 1.90 [95% Crl 1.17, 2.97]) and larger epidemiological studies in pregnancy registries (Hernandez-Diaz et al, 2012 Relative Risk 3.8 [95% Cl 1.4-10.6] vs women without epilepsy, Relative Risk 2.2 [95% Cl 1.2-4.0] vs women with epilepsy) and national birth registers (Kallen et al, 2013 Relative Risk 3.73 [95% Cl 1.97-8.11]) support an increased risk of major congenital malformations in children born to mothers who took topiramate during pregnancy compared with controls (unexposed women with or without epilepsy) and in comparison with mothers who took lamotrigine or levetiracetam but not those who took carbamazepine, phenobarbital or phenytoin. With regards to risk of specific malformations, the available data suggest an increased risk of oral cleft lip or palate, hypospadias and atrial septal defect in association with topiramate. While the evidence to support an increased risk of major congenital malformations is not consistent across all studies, those that do not suggest an increased risk tend to be studies with a smaller number of pregnancies exposed to topiramate.

In clinical studies where the effect of dose is examined, the findings are inconsistent. The meta-analysis by Weston et al, (2016) and data from the North American Antiepileptic Drug Pregnancy Registry and the Australian Pregnancy Registry failed to observe an increased risk of major congenital malformations with increasing doses of topiramate. Although a study in the UK Epilepsy and Pregnancy Registry (Hunt et al, 2008) and a study in a US healthcare database (US 2010 Medicaid Analytic eXtract) (Hernandez-Diaz et al, 2018) suggest a dose–dependent effect, only limited numbers of exposed pregnancies were involved in these analyses but these studies do provide some evidence of a dose effect.

Clinical studies examining the effect of polytherapy are more limited and are restricted to data from the UK Epilepsy and Pregnancy Registry and the Australian Pregnancy Registry, involving more than 300 exposed pregnancies. These data support an increased risk of congenital malformations following exposure to antiepileptic drug polytherapy regimens that include topiramate, and the Australian Pregnancy Registry data suggest that the increased risk observed with antiepileptic drug polytherapy is eliminated when pregnancies involving topiramate or valproate are excluded.

Overall, the data are supportive of a median prevalence of congenital malformations with topiramate of 4–5% and an increased risk compared with unexposed women with or without epilepsy.

In non-clinical studies, topiramate is reported to be teratogenic in rodents and rabbits at plasma concentrations relevant to human therapeutic doses.

Neurodevelopmental disorders and delay

There are extremely limited clinical data available to inform on the effect of topiramate exposure during pregnancy and the risk of neurodevelopmental disorders in the offspring. Data from a very small study by Rihtman et al, (2012), that involved only 9 children whose mothers had taken topiramate during pregnancy suggested that, compared with control children, topiramate had an adverse effect on cognitive, motor, and behavioural outcomes, as well as on IQ score, and motor and visual spatial skills. In contrast, a retrospective observational study in the UK Epilepsy and Pregnancy Registry (Bromley et al, 2016b) reported on data for 27 children who had prenatal exposure to topiramate and the findings did not suggest reductions in the cognitive abilities of the children. More recent data from a cross sectional study involving 25 women prospectively enrolled in the UK Epilepsy and Pregnancy Registry suggests the possibility of poorer development outcomes for children exposed to topiramate (communication, daily living and socialisation skills) and raises concerns about a higher incidence of autistic spectrum disorder in children exposed to topiramate compared with UK rates (Knight 2020). However, the number of exposures in the available clinical studies remains very limited and suggests that this is an area where further study would be very important.

Data from non-clinical studies in rats published in the scientific literature reported some evidence of neurodegenerative changes in the brains of the offspring exposed during pregnancy (Glier et al, 2004, Singh M, Mishra A., 2005, Hashish 2014). Limitations in the study designs, combined with conflicting findings in a Good Laboratory Practice compliant study in which there was no sign of degenerative changes in the brains of rat offspring means that there is no clear evidence of a potential for topiramate to adversely affect central nervous system development.

Other reproductive toxic effects on the fetus or neonate

Prevalence data from the North American Antiepileptic Drug Pregnancy Registry (Hernandez Diaz et al, 2017) as well as studies in Danish and Norwegian population birth registers (Killic et al, 2014, Veiby et al, 2014) indicate an approximate 2–3-fold increased prevalence of babies born small for their gestational age following topiramate in-utero exposure compared with unexposed pregnancies or in-utero lamotrigine exposure. These data are supported by the meta-analysis of Veroniki et al, 2017a. Two smaller epidemiological studies (Hunt et al, 2008 and Wade, 2015) did not show an increased relative risk of small for gestational age but these studies may not have been adequately powered to detect an increase in risk.

The available clinical data examining the effect of topiramate on fetal loss are very limited and the findings are inconsistent (Ornoy et al, 2008, Trivedi et al, 2018, Vajda et al, 2018, Veroniki et al, 2017a). The studies contain limited numbers of exposed pregnancies and for the studies that suggest an increased risk it is considered that the results may be affected by confounding. Similarly the available clinical data on the effects of topiramate on preterm birth are very limited; the meta-analysis by Veroniki et al, 2017a, a study in the North American Antiepileptic Drug Pregnancy Registry (Hernandez-Diaz et al, 2014) and a study by Ornoy et al, 2008 do not suggest an increased risk but given the limited data, no firm conclusions can be reached.

Non-clinical data report reduced fetal weights in offspring exposed to topiramate during pregnancy.

Key findings for topiramate

Overall the available clinical and non-clinical data support the following key findings for topiramate:

- A moderate amount of post-marketing data exist on the risk of birth abnormalities following the use of topiramate during pregnancy, with the available studies involving around 1,000 pregnancies exposed to topiramate in the first trimester. These data support that 4-5% of children exposed to topiramate monotherapy during pregnancy have congenital malformations and that this risk is increased compared with children of mothers who were not exposed to antiepileptics during pregnancy (2-3% in the general population) and possibly dose-dependent. In non-clinical studies topiramate is teratogenic in rodents and rabbits at human therapeutic doses.
- Very limited data exist on the risk of neurodevelopmental outcomes and, whilst there are some data indicative of adverse effects, overall this risk is uncertain.
- Clinical and non-clinical data support that the use of topiramate during pregnancy affects fetal growth and development, resulting in babies being more likely to be born with low birth weight and small for gestational age.

3.10 Zonisamide

Zonisamide (brand name Zonegran) is indicated for use as monotherapy in the treatment of partial seizures, with or without secondary generalisation, in adults with newly diagnosed epilepsy and also for adjunctive therapy in the treatment of partial seizures, with or without secondary generalisation, in adults, adolescents, and children aged 6 years and older.

NICE guidance recommends that it may be considered for use by a tertiary epilepsy specialist when adjunctive treatment is not effective or not tolerated, and therefore its usage is limited. Prescription cost analysis data show that 164,243 prescription items for zonisamide were dispensed in England in 2019 and data from the CPRD suggest that its use in women of childbearing age is limited.

Congenital malformations

The available clinical data from the use of zonisamide in pregnant women remains extremely limited, with the largest data set (90 pregnancies exposed to zonisamide monotherapy) being that from a study in the North American Antiepileptic Drug Pregnancy Registry (Hernández-Díaz et al, 2012), which did not report any congenital malformations. Based on the pooled data from this study the prevalence of major malformations (any type) for children exposed to zonisamide was calculated to be 0.28% (95% CI 0.25–2.39) in the meta-analysis by Weston et al, 2016.

Further clinical data are available from a small retrospective questionnaire-based study conducted in Japan (Kondo et al, 1996) and the Swedish Medical Birth Register (Källén et al, 2013). The study by Kondo et al, reported on the outcomes of 26 pregnancies, of which only 4 were pregnancies exposed to zonisamide monotherapy. Congenital malformations were detected in 2 offspring (7.7%) exposed to zonisamide as part of polytherapy, so the role of zonisamide is unclear. In the study by Källén et al, there were only 7 pregnancies exposed to zonisamide, of which 3 were exposed to zonisamide monotherapy; no congenital malformations were reported in any of these pregnancies.

Overall, very few clinical studies have examined the risk of major congenital malformations in pregnancies exposed to zonisamide and the number of pregnancies exposed to monotherapy is very small (less than 100 pregnancies).

Zonisamide is reported to be teratogenic in multiple animal species, both rodent and non-rodent at plasma concentrations relevant to the human therapeutic dose.

The limited clinical data, coupled with the non-clinical data showing a teratogenic effect of zonisamide, mean that the risk of malformations with zonisamide use during pregnancy remains uncertain and the possibility of an increased risk of malformations can neither be confirmed nor ruled out. Any emerging data should be carefully evaluated to better inform the risk.

Neurodevelopmental disorders and delay

No clinical studies have examined the effect of exposure to zonisamide during pregnancy on the neurodevelopment of children.

The available non-clinical data are very limited and focus on an identified neuroprotective property of zonisamide in different settings, such as during ischaemic damage. To date there are no non-clinical studies reporting a developmental neurotoxic effect.

Other reproductive toxic effects on the fetus or neonate

Effects on fetal development and growth have also been observed in clinical studies. The largest data set from the North American Antiepileptic Drug Pregnancy Registry (Hernández-Díaz et al, 2014 and 2017) showed an increased risk of being small for gestational age and effects on birth weight and birth length. Hernández-Díaz (2017) reported a prevalence of 10.2% of babies small for gestational age in 125 pregnancies exposed to zonisamide and the same group in 2014 reported a similar prevalence of small for gestational age (12.2%) in 98 pregnancies exposed to zonisamide along with a significant effect on the mean birth weight (mean lower birth weight of 202 g) and mean birth length (mean lesser birth length of 1cm) compared with 1,581 pregnancies exposed to lamotrigine.

Non-clinical studies in several animal species have reported reduced fetal bodyweight gain and a reduction in growth parameters in the fetus as well as reductions in maternal bodyweight gain.

Key findings for zonisamide

Overall the available clinical and non-clinical data support the following key findings for zonisamide:

- Very limited clinical data exist on the risk of birth abnormalities following the use of zonisamide during pregnancy with the available studies only involving around 100
 pregnancies exposed to zonisamide. The non-clinical data suggest that there is a possibility that exposure to zonisamide during pregnancy may be associated with an
- increased risk of birth abnormalities The risk remains uncertain and the possibility of an increased risk cannot be confirmed or ruled out.
- There are no clinical data and very limited non-clinical data on the risk of neurodevelopmental outcomes and this risk remains unknown.
- Use of zonisamide during pregnancy is associated with adverse effects on fetal growth and development. Studies involving around 100 pregnancies support that babies born to mothers exposed to zonisamide during pregnancy were more likely to be smaller than expected for their age compared with babies born to mothers who took another antiepileptic drug (lamotrigine) during pregnancy.

3.11 Other antiepileptic drugs

The section summarises the data and conclusions on the following antiepileptic medicines: brivaracetam, clobazam, clonazepam, eslicarbazepine, ethosuximide, lacosamide, rufinamide, perampanel, primidone, tiagabine and vigabatrin

For the majority of these drugs the data relating to safety of use during pregnancy remains limited or very limited. For perampanel, primidone and vigabatrin there are data on less than 300 exposed pregnancies and for brivaracetam, eslicarbazepine, ethosuximide, lacosamide, rufinamide, and tiagabine there are data on less than 100 exposed pregnancies. Given the limited data, no firm conclusions can be drawn with regards to the safety of use of these antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy and the risks remain unclear.

For both clobazam and clonazepam, there are data on approximately 300 and 1,000 exposed pregnancies respectively; however, this is still a relatively moderate number and the findings are inconsistent.

For clobazam, although there are some studies that are suggestive of an increased risk of major congenital malformations, the numbers of exposed pregnancies within the individual studies remain relatively small (the largest study includes data on 119 exposed pregnancies but other studies are much smaller) and the available data is not be considered to provide a robust basis on which to reach firm conclusions.

With regards to clonazepam, generally the data are not supportive of an increased risk of major congenital malformations; however, this finding is based on a limited number of studies. The individual studies generally include around 100 exposed pregnancies and are not sufficiently powered to rule out an increased risk. Subsequently, a conclusion cannot be reached with any certainty and the risk pertaining to congenital malformations remains unclear. Similarly, the data relating to effects on neurodevelopmental outcomes are

generally not suggestive of an increased risk. A study by Elkjaer et al, (2018) showed a detrimental effect on school performance, however, this effect was not consistently seen in all school performance tests and the absolute differences seen were small. Therefore, the data do not allow a firm conclusion to be reached on the adverse effect of clonazepam on neurodevelopmental outcomes and the possibility of adverse effects cannot be ruled out; any emerging data should be carefully evaluated. In relation to the risk of other reproductive toxicity effects, the data are generally not suggestive of adverse effects on fetal growth, however, there are conflicting data on the risk of fetal loss, with a study by Bech et al, (2018) suggesting that high dose clonazepam may be associated with an increased risk. However, the authors of this study highlight that they did not have information on the actual antiepileptic drug dose prescribed or taken nor did they know if the dose was changed during the pregnancy, which may limit the validity of the analyses on dose-response.

Overall, the available data do not allow for robust conclusions to be drawn on the safety of use during pregnancy of brivaracetam, clobazam, clonazepam, eslicarbazepine, ethosuximide, lacosamide, rufinamide, perampanel, primidone, tiagabine and vigabatrin etc and the risks remain uncertain; the possibility of adverse effects can neither be confirmed nor ruled out.

4 Key conclusions

The Commission on Human Medicines and its Expert Advisory Group on Neurology, Pain and Psychiatry, whose meetings were attended by representatives of patient groups and charities, have advised that these data support the following conclusions:

Lamotrigine and levetiracetam are the safer antiepileptics to use during pregnancy and overall the available data support:

- no increased risk of major congenital malformations or other reproductive toxic effects at the usual maintenance doses, based on a large amount of data for both drugs;
- for lamotrigine the data for an increased risk of major congenital malformations at higher doses are contradictory;
- with regards to the risk of neurodevelopmental disorders and delay, the data for both lamotrigine and levetiracetam are more limited. Although the limited available
 data did not suggest an increased risk for either antiepileptic drug, the limitations of the available data mean the possibility of an increased risk of
 neurodevelopmental disorders and delays cannot be ruled out.

For all other antiepileptics reviewed, with regards to the risk of major congenital malformations:

- use of carbamazepine, phenobarbital, phenytoin and topiramate during pregnancy is associated with an increased risk of major congenital malformations compared with that seen in the general population and unexposed women with epilepsy;
- the increased risk seen with carbamazepine, phenobarbital and topiramate is dose-dependent but no dose has been found to be without risk;
- pregabalin may be associated with a slightly increased risk of major congenital malformations but further data are needed to reach a definitive conclusion;
- the risks remain uncertain for gabapentin, oxcarbazepine, and zonisamide and the possibility of an increased risk can neither be confirmed nor ruled out;

In relation to the <u>risk of neurodevelopmental disorders</u> the available non-clinical and clinical data are limited but that which is available supports that:

- carbamazepine use during pregnancy does not appear to be associated with an increased risk of adverse effects on neurodevelopment and delay in humans; however, the non-clinical data showing some neurotoxic effects and this coupled with the limitations of the clinical data mean that an increased risk cannot be definitively ruled out;
- for phenobarbital and phenytoin, although the clinical studies report inconsistent findings, considering these alongside the non-clinical studies which demonstrate a possible effect, the totality of the data support the possibility of adverse effects on neurodevelopment;
- some recent data for topiramate raise concerns that its use during pregnancy may be associated with poorer development outcomes in the children exposed in utero, however, the numbers in the available studies remain limited and further data from larger studies are needed to reach firm conclusions in this respect.
- for gabapentin, oxcarbazepine, pregabalin, and zonisamide the data are either lacking or extremely limited and sometimes inconsistent, meaning that the risks remain uncertain and the possibility of an increased risk cannot be ruled out.

The available non-clinical and clinical data relating to the risk of other reproductive toxics effects supports that:

- use of **phenobarbital**, **topiramate**, **and zonisamide** during pregnancy is associated with an **increased risk of intrauterine growth retardation** (small for gestational age), where this is not currently reflected in product information updates are needed;
- non-clinical data for carbamazepine, gabapentin, oxcarbazepine, topiramate, and zonisamide show they can affect fetal growth but the clinical data are either too limited or report inconsistent findings. Overall the risks of other reproductive toxic effects with carbamazepine, gabapentin, oxcarbazepine, and pregabalin remain uncertain.

Overall, the available data do not allow for robust conclusions to be drawn on the safety of use during pregnancy of brivaracetam, clobazam, clonazepam, eslicarbazepine, ethosuximide, lacosamide, rufinamide, perampanel, primidone, tiagabine and vigabatrin. The risks of major congenital malformations, neurodevelopmental disorders and delay, and other reproductive toxic effects remain uncertain; the possibility of adverse effects can neither be confirmed nor ruled out.

Need for further data

The review has confirmed that for some of the AEDs that are frequently used, such as gabapentin, oxcarbazepine and zonisamide the data relating to safety of use during pregnancy remains limited or extremely limited and that further data are needed to more fully inform our understanding of the risks associated with their use during pregnancy.

Usage data for pregabalin and gabapentin clearly show that there is significant usage of both these products in women of childbearing potential and they are among the most commonly used antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy, however, it is recognised that the majority of such is used is likely to be in the pain and anxiety indications. For pregabalin, there are emerging unpublished clinical data which are currently undergoing further evaluation but are suggestive of a possible slight increase in overall risk of congenital malformations. For gabapentin, the Marketing Authorisation holder has recently been requested to perform a population-based cohort study examining pregnancy outcomes, which ideally will include a sufficient number of exposed pregnancies to better inform our understanding of the risks to the unborn baby. The findings of both of these studies along with any other emerging data on safety of use during pregnancy of any of the antiepileptic drugs will be carefully evaluated as they become available.

For topiramate, more recent data suggests the possibility of poorer development outcomes for children exposed during pregnancy and the possibility of a higher incidence of autistic spectrum disorder in children exposed to topiramate. The number of exposures in the available clinical studies remains very limited and this is an area where further study would be very important.

Table 1: Key conclusions for the individual AEDs for each of the risk areas reviewed.

The colour coding used within this table indicates the following:



data do not support an increased risk.

data support an increased risk.



data are considered more limited and inconsistent but overall supportive of an increased risk.

risks remain uncertain either due to the limited amount of data and/or the limitations of the available data.

	Congenital malformations	Neurodevelopmental disorders and delay	Other Reproductive toxic effects
Carbamazepine (CBZ)	Large amount of clinical data support an increased risk 2-3 fold higher than women without epilepsy ~9,000 exposed pregnancies (~6,000 1 st trimester) Non-clinical data report teratogenic effects at human therapeutic doses	Large amount of clinical data do not support an increased risk Non-clinical data report neurodegenerative effects, but no neurobehavioural effects in the few studies performed	Large amount of clinical data – inconsistent findings ~3,500 exposed pregnancies Non-clinical data report adverse effects on fetal growth
Gabapentin (GBP)	Moderate amount of clinical data not suggestive of ↑risk ~600 1 st trimester exposed pregnancies Non-clinical studies report inconsistent findings	Very limited clinical data Limited non-clinical studies report some neurodegenerative effects but the findings are unclear	Moderate amount of clinical data – inconsistent findings and studies often underpowered ~500 exposed pregnancies Non-clinical data report adverse effects on fetal growth
Lamotrigine (LMT)	Large amount of clinical data consistently support no increased risk >12,000 monotherapy exposed pregnancies Non-clinical data do not report a teratogenic effect at human therapeutic doses	Clinical data do not support an increased risk but limitations of the data mean an increased risk cannot be definitively excluded Non-clinical data report some neurobehavioural effects	Large amount of clinical data consistently support no increased risk ~3,000 exposed pregnancies Non-clinical data report effects on fetal weight but likely due to maternal toxicity
Levetiracetam (LEV)	Large amount of clinical data consistently support no increased risk ~1,800 exposed pregnancies (~1,500 1 st trimester)	Clinical data do not support an increased risk but limitations of the data mean an increased risk cannot be definitively excluded	Limited clinical data but consistently support no increased risk ~200 exposed pregnancies
Oxcarbazepine (OXC)	Moderate amount of clinical data not suggestive of increased risk ~800 exposed pregnancies (~600 1 st trimester) Non-clinical data report teratogenic effects at human therapeutic doses	Moderate amount of clinical data Non-clinical data are very limited but neurodegenerative effects have been reported	Moderate amount of clinical data – inconsistent findings ~800 exposed pregnancies Non-clinical data report adverse effects on fetal growth
Phenobarbital (PHB)	Clinical studies support an increased risk of Major Congenital Malformations ~1,800 exposed pregnancies (~600 1 st trimester) Limited non-clinical data report a teratogenic effect	Inconsistent findings from clinical data Non-clinical data report adverse effects Overall data suggestive of the possibility of a detrimental effect	Studies support an increased risk of effects on fetal growth: small for gestational age but not low birth weight
Phenytoin (PHT)	Increased risk 2-3 fold higher than women without epilepsy >2,000 exposed pregnancies (~1,000 1 st trimester) Non-clinical data report a teratogenic effect	Inconsistent findings from clinical data Non-clinical data report adverse effects Overall data suggestive of the possibility of a detrimental effect	Moderate amount of clinical data not suggestive of ∱risk >400 exposed pregnancies Non-clinical data report effects on fetal growth
Pregabalin (PGB)	Moderate amount of clinical data not suggestive of ↑risk ~600 1 st trimester exposed pregnancies Non-clinical data regarding teratogenicity are inconclusive	Limited clinical data from one study with methodological limitations Non-clinical data report possible neurobehavioural effects	Moderate amount of clinical data not suggestive of ↑risk mainly from one study with methodological limitations >500 exposed pregnancies Non-clinical data do not report adverse effects on fetal weight
Topiramate (TPA)	Clinical studies support increased risk of Major Congenital Malformations that is ~3 fold higher than women without epilepsy ~1,000 1 st trimester exposed pregnancies Non-clinical data report teratogenic effects at human therapeutic doses	Very limited data but some recent data are suggestive of an increased risk Non-clinical data have limitations and no firm conclusions can be drawn	Clinical studies support an increased risk of effects on fetal growth: increased risk of small for gestational age and low birth weight >500 exposed pregnancies Non-clinical data report adverse effects on fetal growth
Zonisamide (ZNS)	Very limited data – no conclusions can be drawn <100 monotherapy exposed pregnancies Non-clinical data report teratogenic effects at human therapeutic doses	No clinical data available Non-clinical data are very limited	Clinical studies support an increased risk of effects on fetal growth: increased risk of small for gestational age and low birth weight >200 exposed pregnancies Non-clinical data report adverse effects on fetal growth

5 Appendix 1 Table 1: Prevalence rate of Congenital Malformations for prioritised AEDs

Veroniki et al, 4.14% 2.43% 2.62% 1.77% 2.96% 5.50% 6.08% - 4.1 2017 320 avecure 6000 avecure 1045 avecure 270 avecure 170% 10	Fopiramate	Valproate	Zonisamide
2017a8437 exposures329 exposures6290 exposures1015 exposures372 exposures1/09 exposures2237 exposures59	4.67% 599 exposures	9.07% 4455 exposures	-
Weston et al, 2016 3.71% (95% Cl 3.19 to 4.27) 1.47% (95% Cl 0.26 to 2.31% (95% Cl 1.87 to 2.78) 1.77% (95% Cl 0.98 to 2.79) 2.39% (95% Cl 0.85 to 7.10% (95% Cl 5.36 to 5.38% (95% Cl 4.22 to 6.67) - 4.1	4.28% (95 % CI 2.65-	9.09% (95% Cl 8.02 to 10.23)	0.28% (95% CI 0.25
4.93% (95% Cl 3.84 to 6.16) 3.64) RR 1.68 (0.78, 3.65) vs WWOE RR 2.16 (0.76, 6.17) vs WWOE 9.08)) 6.26% 6.26% Random effects modelling* 5.18) vs RR 1.07 (.064, WWOE RR 0.32 (0.10, RR 0.32 (0.10, RR 1.94 (0.53, 7.15) vs WWOE RR 2.84 (1,57, 5.13) vs WWOE (95% Cl 4.37 to 8.47) Rf	6.29) RR 3.69 (1.36, 10.07) vs WWOE	10.93% (95% Cl 8.91 to 13.13) Random effects modelling*	to 2.39) RR 0.44 (0.02, 7.93) vs WWOE
RR 2.01 (1.20, 3.36) vs WWOE RR 1.50 (1.16, 0.23, 5.93) vs 1.77) vs WWE 1.07) vs WWE RR 2.75 (0.53, 14.43) vs WWE vs WWE RR 2.38 (1.12, 5.03) vs WWOE RR 2.38 (1.12, 5.03) vs WWOE RR 2.38 (1.12, 5.03) vs WWOE 6.1	RR 1.99 (0.65, 5.08) vs WWE	RR 5.69 (3.33, 9.73) vs WWOE RR 3.13 (2.16, 4.54) vs	90 exposures
RR 1.50 (1.03, 2.19) vs WWE 190 exposures 190 exposures 238 exposures 1279 exposures		WWE 2565 exposures	
Meador et al, 2008 4.62% (95% CI 3.48 to 5 76) CPZ mono - 2.91% (95% CI 2.00 to 3.82) LMT - 4.91% (95% CI 3.22 to 6.59) PHB mono 7.36% (95% CI 3.60 to 11.11) - - - 4.91% (95% CI 3.22 to 6.59) PHB mono -		10.73% (95% CI 8.16 to 13.29)	-
5.76) CB2 mono mono mono 11.11) 9.19% (95% CI 5.88 PHT mono 7.10% (95% CI 5.59% (95% CI to 12.50) PHB dual 3.71 to 10.49) CBZ 1.11 to 10.08) 11.47%		9.79% (95% CI 7.57 to 12.02)	
dual LMT dual 14.57% (95% CI 8.81 to 20.33) PHB poly (95% CI 6.65 to 16.30) 8.57 (95% CI 1.99 PHT dual PHT dual		VPA dual 25.00%	
to 15.16) CBZ poly 1337 mono and 599 dual exposures 4411 mono 4411		(95% CI 5.97 to 44.03) VPA poly 2097 mono	
942 dual and 70 poly exposures		694 dual and 20 poly exposures	
720 dual and 276 poly exposures			
Pregnancy Registries UK and Ireland Pregnancy Registry (UKEPR)			
UKEPR 2.6% 2.3% # Campbell et (95% Cl 1.9 to 3.5) (95% Cl 1.8 to		6.7% (95% CL 5.5 to 8.3)	
al, 2014 (60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60%		1220 VPA exposures	
# UKEPR 2.2% (95% Cl 1.4 3.2% 3.2% (95% 2.1 to 0.0% (95% Cl 0.0 3.7% Morrow et al, to 3.4) (95% Cl 0.6 to 4.9) to 14.9) (95% Cl 1.3 to 10.2) (95% Cl 1.3 to 10.2)	7.1% (95% Cl 2.0-	6.2% (95% CI 4.6 to 8.2)	
2006 927 exposures 16.2) 647 exposures 26 exposures 82 exposures	22.6) 28 exposures	762 exposures	
# Hunt et al, 2008 Image: Composition Image:	4.8% (95% CI 5.6-		
	14.1) 70 TPM mono		
European Pregnancy Registry (EURAP)	exposures		
Tomson et al, 2018 5.5% (95% Cl 4.5 to 6.6) 2.9% (95% Cl 2.3 to 3.7) 2.8% (95% Cl 1.7 to 4.5) 3.0% (95% Cl 1.4 to 5.4) 6.5% (95% Cl 4.2 to 9.9) 6.4% (95% Cl 2.8 to 12.2) 3.1% (95% Cl 2.8 to 12.2)	3.90% (95% CI 1.5- 3.4)	10.3% (95% Cl 8.8 to 12.0	
1957 exposures 2154 exposures 599 exposures 333 exposures 125 exposures 15 North American Antiepileptic Drug Pregnancy Registry (NAAEDPR) 599 exposures 333 exposures 15 15	152 exposures	1381exposures	
2.9% 1.5% (95% CI 2.3% (95% CI 1.5 1.9% 5.6% 2.6% - 5. Dublished an (05% CI 0.0 ± 1.5 0.0) (05% CI 1.5 0.0) 1.9% 5.6% 2.6% - 5.	5.1%	9.3%	1.2%
Published on NAAEDPR (95% Cl 2.0 to 4.0%) 0.37 to 3.9) (95% Cl 1.7 to 2.9) to 3.4) (95% Cl 0.7 to 4.1%) (95% Cl 3.0 to 9.6%) (95% Cl 1.4 to 4.4) (95	(95% CI 3.4 to 7.4)	(95% CI 6.5 to 12.7%) 335 exposures	(95% CI 0.2 to 3.9%)
2019 1110 exposules 2179 exposules 205 exposules 40 # Hernandez- 3.0% 0.7% (95% 2.0% 2.4% 2.2% 5.5% 2.9% 4. Diaz at al. (05% Cl 21 to 4.2) 0.02 to 2.8) (05% Cl 1.2 to 4.2) (05% Cl 1.4 to 4.2)	4.2%	9.3%	0
Diaz et al, 2012 (95% CI 2.1 to 4.2) 0.02 to 3.8) (95% CI 1.4 to 2.8) (95% CI 1.2 to 4.3) (95% CI 2.6 to 9.7) (95% CI 1.5 to 5.0) (95% CI 1.5 to 5.0) 1033 exposures 145 exposures 1562 exposures 150 exposures 182 exposures 199 exposures 416 exposures 34	5.8)	323 exposures	90 exposures
Australian Pregnancy Registry (APR)	559 exposures		
Vajda et al, 2019 5.9% 4.9% 3.6% 5.3% 2.3% 1.4	1.9%	14.8%	
409 exposures 406 exposures 139 exposures 19 exposures 44 exposures 53	53 exposures	290 exposures	
* Vajda et al, 5.5% 4.6% 2.4% 5.9% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4%	2.4% 42 exposures	13.8%	
2014346 exposure307 exposures82 exposures17 exposures41 exposures42		253 exposures	
2014 346 exposure 307 exposures 82 exposures 17 exposures 41 exposures 42 Prospective studies Patorno et al, 2017 Control of al and a control of a c		253 exposures	
2014346 exposure307 exposures82 exposures17 exposures41 exposures42Prospective studiesPatorno et al, 20172017 <td< td=""><td></td><td>253 exposures</td><td></td></td<>		253 exposures	
2014346 exposure307 exposures82 exposures17 exposures41 exposures42Prospective studiesPatorno et al, 2017		253 exposures 6.55% (95% CI 3.71 to 10.57)	
2014 346 exposure 307 exposures 82 exposures 17 exposures 41 exposures 42 Prospective subset Patorno et al, 2017 Image: Construct subset Image: Conste <td></td> <td>253 exposures 6.55% (95% CI 3.71 to 10.57) 229 exposures</td> <td></td>		253 exposures 6.55% (95% CI 3.71 to 10.57) 229 exposures	
2014 346 exposure 307 exposures 82 exposures 17 exposures 41 exposures 44 Prospective stuties Patorno et al, 2017 Image: Constraint of the state of		253 exposures 6.55% (95% CI 3.71 to 10.57) 229 exposures	
2014346 exposure307 exposures82 exposures17 exposures41 exposures42Prospective stutiesPatorno et al, 2017		253 exposures 6.55% (95% CI 3.71 to 10.57) 229 exposures	
2014 346 exposure 307 exposures 82 exposures 17 exposures 41 exposures 44 exposures 44 Prospective stuties Patron et al, 2017 Image: Construct of al, 2018 Imag	4.2% 48 exposures	253 exposures 6.55% (95% CI 3.71 to 10.57) 229 exposures 6.3% 333 exposures	
2014 346 exposure 307 exposures 82 exposures 17 exposures 41 exposures 41 exposures 42 Prospective stuties Patorno et al. 2017 Composition of al. 2017 Composition of al. 2017 Composition of al. 2017 Composition of al. 2017 Sum of al. 2018 Sum of al. 2019	4.2% 48 exposures	253 exposures 6.55% (95% CI 3.71 to 10.57) 229 exposures 6.3% 333 exposures	
2014 346 exposure 307 exposures 82 exposures 17 exposures 41 exposures 41 exposures 42 Prospective stutis Summary state Summary s	4.2% 48 exposures 5.88% 102 total and 49 mono exposures	253 exposures 6.55% (95% CI 3.71 to 10.57) 229 exposures 6.3% 333 exposures 7.19% 862 total and 697 mono exposures	14.28% 7 total and 3 mono exposures

*Conducted due to significant variance * These studies were included in the Weston et al, 2016 and/or the Veroniki et al, 2017a meta-analyses and therefore for the purposes of the public assessment report these data will not be presented separately.

6 Appendix 2

Table 2: Effects on Cognitive function and risk of neurodevelopmental disorders for prioritised AEDsTable 2a: Effects on IQ/Cognitive Effects

	IQ/ Cognitive Effects								
	Carbamazepine	Lamotrigine	Levetiracetam	Oxcarbazepine	Phenobarbital	Phenytoin	Topiramate	Valproate	
Meta-analyses Veroniki et al, 2017b	OR 2.07 (0.82, 5.48)	OR 0.93 (0.09, 5.10) N=43	OR 3.42 (0.65, 16.40)	-	OR 1.36 (0.18, 7.02)	OR 2.55 (0.72, 8.55)	OR 3.14 (0.45, 16.53)	OR 7.40 (3.00, 18.46)	
Cognitive Developmental Delay Bromley et al, 2014 IQ mean (SD) Verbal IQ (VIQ) Performance IQ (PIQ)	N=238 IQ MD -0.03 (95% CI -3.08 to 3.01) Vs WWOE N=150 MD 1.84 (95% CI -2.13 to 5.80) Vs WWE N=163 Vs general population controls VIQ MD -1.81 (95% CI -4.94 to 1.33 PIQ MD 1.27 (95% CI -1.55 to 4.09) N=136	IQ mean 105.56, SD 12.49 versus control mean 108.71, SD 10.20, P>0.05 N=41 Verbal IQ and Performance IQ also did not significantly differ to control population			N=12 86.2 (SD 11) vs WWOE 93 (SD 14.4) N=41	N=111 PHT (n=29) mean 90.3 (95% CI 77 to 103) vs WWE control (n=32) mean 92.3 (95% CI 81 to 103) NS* Cognitive dysfunction OR 1.37 (95% CI 0.38 to 5.0) PHT (n=12)	N= mean 96.33 SD 10.37) Vs WWOE mean 111.39 (SD 12.20), P=0.005 N=9	N= MD-8.94 (-11.96, -5.92), P<0.00001, I ² =88% Vs WWOE N=76 MD-8.17 (-12.80, -3.55), P=0.005, I ² =27% Vs WWE VIQ MD-11.39 (-14.68, -8.10), P<0.00001, I ² =0% vs general population N=64 PIQ MD-10.48 (-13.94, -7.02), P<0.00001, I ² =68% N=64	
Banach et al, 2010	Wechsler scale Statistically significantly								
Wechsler Scale PIQ Bayley or McCarthy scale FSIQ	(p<0.002) compared all control group; No statistically significant difference for either VIQ or FSIQ compared to all control								
	group N=151 Bayley or McCarthy scales FSIQ no statistically significant different; CBZ vs control group (98 vs 102, p=0.3) N=83								
Pregnancy Regis	tries	1	1	1	1				
Gopinath et al. 2015 Wechsler scale Full Scale IQ Mean (SD)	CBZ mono (40) 82.2 (13.9) vs 80.2 (13.4); p=0.449 CBZ all (76) 77 (15.2) vs 78.5 (1.4):	LMT mono (1) 89 Vs 80.8 (13.6); p=0.551 LMT all (4) mean 71.3 (17.9) Vs 78.1 (14.6): p=0.356			PB mono (n=22) 74.5 (14) vs 82.5 (13); p=0.013 PB all (n=59) 73.5 (14.4) vs 80 (14.4):	PHT mono (n=11) 82.6 (13.5) vs 80.7 (13.7); p=0.656 PHT all (n=39) 74.9 (14.8) vs 78.7 (14.5):	-	VPA mono (36) 82.8 (12.4) vs 77 (15.3); p=0.190 VPA all (53) 80.2 (12.7) vs 77 (15.3);	
	p=0.466				p=0.05	p=0.153		p=0.313	
Huber-Mollema et a I2020 Wechsler Intelligence Scale	FSIQ 105.3 (13.7) B 5.6 (SE 3.9) (95% -2.2 to 13.4), P=0.157	FSIQ 109.2 (15.0) B 7.5 (SE 3.5) (95% 0.6 to 14.4), P=0.033	FSIQ 110.8 (14.8) B 7.7 (SE 4.1) (95%0.4 to 15.8), P=0.064					FSIQ 103.2 (14.8) VIQ 100.6 (14.9)	
Full-Scale IQ (FSIQ) Verbal IQ (VIQ) Performance IQ (PIQ)	106.2 (14.2) B 9.1 (SE 4.0) (95% 1.3 to 17.0), P=0.023 PIQ	109.7 (15.7) B 10.3 (SE 3.5) (95% 3.4 to 17.3), P=0.004 PIQ	VIQ 114.0 (13.1) B 13.4 (SE 4.2) (95% 5.2 to 21.6), P=0.002					PIQ 105.3 (17.0) PSI	
Processing Speed Index Mean (SD)	102.8 (15.5) B 0.1 (SE 4.3) (95% -8.3 to 8.6), P=0.973 PSI	106.0 (14.9) B 2.3 (SE 3.8) (95% -5.3 to 9.8), P=0.551 PSI	PIQ 104.4 (14.8) B -0.6 (SE 4.5) (95% -9.5 to 8.3),					107.4 (18.6) N=22	
Individual AED Vs VPA	N=32	B 6.3 (SE 3.8) (95% -1.1 to 13.7), P=0.097 N=82	PSI 111.2 (16.2) B 4.9 (SE 4.4) (95% -3.9 to 3.6), P=0.275						
Kerala Pregnancy Reg	l istry	1	N=25		1				
Kerala Pregnancy Reg Thomas et al, 2007 Full Scale IQ (FSIQ- adaptation of Wechsler Intelligence Scale) Malayalam Language Test (MLT) – local proficiency test for language vs Age Matched Controls	FSIQ 83.6 (30.0); p=0.22 (all) 91.9 (21.7); p=0.86 (mono) MLT 71.5 (22.4); p=0.44 (all) 74.9 (21.0); p=0.87 (mono) N=28 (all) N=14 (mono)	-	-	-	FSIQ 84.9 (20.1); p=0.35 (all) 86.2 (11.0); p=0.07 (mono) MLT 71.8 (14.9); p=0.47 (all) 70.6 (8.5); p=0.146 (mono) N=32 (all) N=14 (mono)	FSIQ 87.6 (19.0); p=0.96 (all) 97.8 (9.9) p=0.43 (mono) MLT 71.1 (15.7); p=0.51 (all) 76.0 (10.7); p=0.92 (mono) N=18 (all) N=5 (mono)	-	FSIQ 87.2 (29.8); p=0.90 (all) 98.5 (13.5); p=0.12 (mono) MLT 73.7 (21.1); p=0.95 (all) 81.5 (11.9); p=0.09 (mono) 19 VPA (all) 12 VPA (mono)	

Prospective stud	ies						
Cohen et al, 2019 Standardised mean of 6 years IQ (95% CI)	IQ 106.2 (95% CI 103.1 to 109.3); Effect -5.4 (-10.4 to - 0.4); p=0.0370	IQ 108.4 (95% CI 105.5 to 111.3); Effect -3.2 (-8.1 to -1.8); p=0.2111	-		IQ 107.4 (95% CI 103.3 to 111.4); Effect -4.2 (-9.8 to 1.4); p=0.1467	-	IQ 100.8 (95% CI 97.2 to 104.3); Effect -10.8 (-16 to -5.6); p<0.0001
Attention/concentration Verbal immediate	Attention/concentration 101.2 (96.8, 105.5) Effect -3.1 (-8.7, 2.6)	Attention/concentration 98.2 (94.2, 102.3) Effect -6 (-11.5, -0.5)			Attention/concentration 98 (92.5, 103.6) Effect -6.2 (-12.7, 0.3)		Attention/concentration 94.1 (89.1, 99.1) Effect -10.2 (-16.3, -4.1)
Delayed recognition	Verbal immediate 103.2 (99.4, 107) Effect -1.6 (-6.5, 3.3)	Verbal immediate 103.1 (99.6, 106.7) Effect -1.7 (-6.5, 3.1)			Verbal immediate 100.8 (96, 105.6) Effect -4 (-9.7, 1.6)		Verbal immediate 94.5 (90, 98.9) Effect -10.4 (-15.8, -5.0)
Visual delayed	Verbal delayed 103.8 (99.5, 108.1) Effect 0 (-5.6, 5.5)	Verbal delayed 103.6 (99.6, 107.6) Effect -0.3 (-5.6, 5.1)			Verbal delayed 99.1 (93.7, 104.5) Effect -4.8 (-11.1, 1.6)		Verbal delayed 92.2 (87.2, 97.3) Effect -11.6 (-17.7, -5.5)
Loaning	Delayed recognition 101.5 (97.8, 105.2) Effect -3.8 (-8.6, 1)	Delayed recognition 103.1 (99.7, 106.6) Effect -2.2 (-6.8, 2.5)			Delayed recognition 99.3 (94.6, 103.9) Effect -6 (-11.5, -0.5)		Delayed recognition 90.4 (86, 94.7) Effect -14.9 (-20.2, -9.6)
	Visual immediate 98.6 (95, 102.1) Effect -3.1 (-7.7, 1.5)	Visual immediate 100.6 (97.3, 103.9) Effect -1.1 (-5.6, 3.4)			Visual immediate 97.3 (92.8, 101.8) Effect -4.4 (-9.7, 0.9)		Visual immediate 94.4 (90.3, 98.5) Effect -7.3 (-12.3, -2.2)
	Visual delayed 103.4 (99.7, 107) Effect 0.2 (-4.5, 4.9)	Visual delayed 105.3 (101.9, 108.7) Effect -2.2 (-2.4, 6.7)			Visual delayed 99.4 (94.8, 104.1) Effect -3.7 (-9.1, 1.7)		Visual delayed 95.2 (90.9, 99.4) Effect -8 (-13.2, -2.8)
	Learning 98.4 (94.6, 102.1) Effect-5.1 (-10, -0.3)	Learning 98 (94.5, 101.5) Effect-5.5 (-10.2, -0.8)			Learning 94.7 (89.9, 99.4) Effect-8.8 (-14.4, -3.3)		Learning 90.2 (85.9, 94.6) Effect-13.3 (-18.6, -8)
	N=61	N=73			N 00		N 40
Titze et al, 2008 Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS)				adjusted total IQ: 98.0 SD11.9 versus control 105.4 SD11.0, p=0.037	<u>N=39</u>		N=48
Scolnik et al, 1994 Global IQ	Global IQ 111.5 (19.7) Vs 114.9 (13.3) NS			N=14 (3 mono)	Global IQ 103.1 (25.2) Vs 113.4 (13.1) Significant difference		
(Bayley or McCarthy Scale)					-10.6 (27.9)		
Mean (SE)	Reynell verbal comprehension 0.72 (1.4) Vs 1.05 (0.81)				Reynell verbal comprehension 0.2 (1.6)		
Vs Control	NS				VS 1.1 (0.95) Significant difference -0.47 (1.2)		
Others Reinisch et al. 1995	-	-	-	- WAIS	-	-	-
Retrospective cohort study Denmark				VIQ 100.69 (14.94) Vs predicted 107.86 (6.38)			-
Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS) Verbal IQ (VIQ) Mean (SD)				equal to -7.17 (adjusted SE, 3.99; adjusted t, -1.79; df, 37; P<.04)			
Danish Military Board Intelligence Test BPP scores (IBPP)				IBPP mean difference -4.77; adjusted SE,			
				1.63, adjusted t, -2.92; df, 85; P<.002).			
Hanson et al, 1976					PHT 91.7 (17.29)		
WISC full scale IQ at 7 years Mean (SD)					Vs Control 96.83 (15.5); t=2,01, p<0.05		
					N=83		
Rihtman et al Israeli Teratogen Information Service						Fluid reasoning (p=0.005) Quantitative reasoning (p=0.002)	
IQ tests						Visual-spatial (p=0.003) Verbal IQ (p=0.017),	
						non-verbal IQ (=0.011) General IQ (p=0.005)	
						9 TPM exposures	

Table 2b: Effects on Developmental Quotient (DQ)

DQ/ Effects on development								
Meta-analyses	Carbamazepine	Lamotrigine	Levetiracetam	Phenobarbital	Phenytoin	Topiramate	Valproate	
Veroniki et al, 2017b	LD OR 4.32 (0.81, 26.93) N=117	LD OR 4.36 (0.68,25.41) N=59	PDD OR 0.27 (0.00,4.26)	LD OR 1.06 (0.22,5.08) N=41	PDD OR 2.84 (0.97,7.93)	PDD OR 3.89 (0.41,24.27)	LD OR 7.95 (1.50,49.13) N=	
Language Delay	חחפ	סספ		PDD	N=83	N=	PDD	
Psychomotor developmental delay	OR 1.68 (0.85, 3.41) N=249	OR1.86 (0.72, 4.76) N=745		OR 0.96 (0.39, 2.29) N=117			OR 4.16 (2.04, 8.75) N=	
(PDD) Bromley et 2014	DQ	Mean 99 (95% CI 94 to	Mean 99.9 (95% CI 97	mean 115	MD -0.12 (95% CI -7.54 to	-	mean 92 (87, 96)	
DQ Mean	MD -5.58 (95% CI -10.83 to -0.34) Vs WWOE N=50	103) vs general population mean 98.8 (95% CI 96 to 102): P=0.62	to 103,) vs WWOE mean 100 (95% CI 99 to 102): P=0.21	(SD not reported) vs general population mean 119 (SD not reported)	7.30, P=0.98) vs general population N=20		Vs WWOÈ mean 100 (99, 102); P<0.001 N=42	
	MD -7.22 (95% CI -12.76	N=51	N=34	P=0.372	Mean 90.3 (77, 103) Vs WWE		Baylov Scales	
	N=163		Mean 99 (95% CI 94 to 103,) vs WWE	Mean 90.3 (94, 97) Vs WWE Mean 92.3 (81, 103)	N=29 Motor development		MD -8.72 (-14.31, -3.31), P=0.002, I ² =0% N=123	
			mean 104 (95% CI 101 to 108); P=0.21	N=41	PHT (n=15) mean 98 versus control mean 106 (CIs		Griffiths Mental	
			N=34		unclear)		Development Scale mean 92 (87, 96) Vs WWE mean 104 (101, 108)	
Pregnancy Regi	istries			1	1	1		
2011 Bayley Scale of	20.4% evidence of mild or significant developmental delay	2.9% evidence of mild of significant developmental delay					or significant developmental delay	
Infant Development	CBZ vs control Adjusted OR 7 7 (95%	LMT vs control Adjusted OR 1 1 (95% 0 1					VPA vs control Adjusted OR 26 1 (95%	
Griffiths Mental Development Scale	1.4 to 43.1); p<0.01 49 exposures	to 13.7); p<0.01 35 exposure					4.9 to 139); p<0.001 58 exposures	
Shallcross et al, 2011			Overall DQ 99.96 (95% CI 97.16 to 102.76				Overall DQ 87.63 (95% CI 82.68 to 93.18)	
Griffiths Mental Development Scale) Locomotor				Locomotor	
Mean (95% CI)			97.35 (95% CI 93.66 to 98.29)				84.66 (95% CI 78.72 to 90.59)	
Overall DQ			Personal and Social				Personal and Social	
Locomotor			98.00 (95% CI 93.73 to 102.27)				89.82 (95% CI 83.62 to 96.02)	
Personal and Social			Hearing and Language 100.57 (95% CI 96.89				Hearing and Language 90.48 (95% CI 84.29 to	
Hearing and Language			to 104.24)				96.66)	
Hand and Eye Coordination			Hand and Eye Coordination 101.88 (95% CI 97.46 to 106.30)				Hand and Eye Coordination 88.21 (95% CI 82.07 to 94.35)	
Performance			Performance				Performance	
Overall DQ OR AED vs Control			101.75 (95% CI 98.02 to 105.47)				88.88 (95% CI 83.29 to 94.48)	
			N=51					
Birth Registers				1				
Wide et al, 2002 Griffiths Mental Development Scale	Locomotor function 104 (95% CI -5.1 to 4.7) Personal and Social				Locomotor 98 (95% CI -14.0 to -0.4) Personal and Social Behaviour	-		
Mean (95% CI for	behaviour 107 (-3.4 to 3.3)				105 (95% CI -8.2 to 2.5)			
the differences of mean score)	Hearing and Speech 105 (-9.6 to 6.7)				Hearing and speech 111 (95% CI -11.9 to 10.4)			
Total Score	Hand and Eye				Hand and Eye Coordination 101 (95% CI -7.8 to 5.4)			
Personal and Social	100 (-6.1 to 3.5)				Performance 110 (95% CI -8.4 to 11.2)			
Hearing and	Performance 105 (-8.0 to 2.5)				Practical reasoning 97 (-23.0 to 3.5)			
Language	Practical reasoning 101 (-11.1 to 3.1)				Total Score 612 (-66 8 to 19 7)			
Coordination	Total Score 618 (-34.7 to 11.8)				N=15			
Performance Overall DQ	N=35							
Prospective stu	dies							
Cohen et al, 2019	IQ 106.2 (05%) CI 102.4 to	IQ 108 / (05% CL 105 5 to	-	-	IQ 107 / (05% CI 102 2 to 111 4)	-	IQ 100 8 (05% CL 07 0 4-	
Standardised mean of 6 years IQ (95% CI)	109.3); Effect -5.4 (-10.4 to - 0.4); p=0.0370	111.3); Effect -3.2 (-8.1 to -1.8); p=0.2111			Effect -4.2 (-9.8 to 1.4); p=0.1467		100.8 (93% CI 97.2 to 104.3); Effect -10.8 (-16 to -5.6); p<0.0001	
	Attention/concentration 101.2 (96.8, 105.5) Effect -3.1 (-8.7, 2.6)	Attention/concentration 98.2 (94.2, 102.3) Effect -6 (-11.5, -0.5)			Attention/concentration 98 (92.5, 103.6) Effect -6.2 (-12.7, 0.3)		Attention/concentration 94.1 (89.1, 99.1) Effect -10.2 (-16.3, -4.1)	
	Verbal immediate 103.2 (99.4, 107) Effect -1.6 (-6.5, 3.3)	Verbal immediate 103.1 (99.6, 106.7) Effect -1.7 (-6.5, 3.1)			Verbal immediate 100.8 (96, 105.6) Effect -4 (-9.7, 1.6)		Verbal immediate 94.5 (90, 98.9) Effect -10.4 (-15.8, -5.0)	
	Verbal delayed 103.8 (99.5, 108.1) Effect 0 (-5.6, 5.5)	Verbal delayed 103.6 (99.6, 107.6) Effect -0.3 (-5.6. 5.1)			Verbal delayed 99.1 (93.7, 104.5) Effect -4.8 (-11.1, 1.6)		Verbal delayed 92.2 (87.2, 97.3) Effect -11.6 (-17.75.5)	
	Delayed recognition 101.5 (97.8, 105.2) Effect -3.8 (-8.6, 1)	Delayed recognition 103.1 (99.7, 106.6) Effect -2.2 (-6.8, 2.5)			Delayed recognition 99.3 (94.6, 103.9) Effect -6 (-11.5, -0.5)		Delayed recognition 90.4 (86, 94.7) Effect -14.9 (-20.29.6)	

	Visual immediate 98.6 (95, 102.1) Effect -3.1 (-7.7, 1.5) Visual delayed 103.4 (99.7, 107) Effect 0.2 (-4.5, 4.9) Learning 98.4 (94.6, 102.1) Effect-5.1 (-10, -0.3) N=61	Visual immediate 100.6 (97.3, 103.9) Effect -1.1 (-5.6, 3.4) Visual delayed 105.3 (101.9, 108.7) Effect -2.2 (-2.4, 6.7) Learning 98 (94.5, 101.5) Effect-5.5 (-10.2, -0.8) N=73			Visual immediate 97.3 (92.8, 101.8) Effect -4.4 (-9.7, 0.9) Visual delayed 99.4 (94.8, 104.1) Effect -3.7 (-9.1, 1.7) Learning 94.7 (89.9, 99.4) Effect-8.8 (-14.4, -3.3) N=39	Visual immediate 94.4 (90.3, 98.5) Effect -7.3 (-12.3, -2.2) Visual delayed 95.2 (90.9, 99.4) Effect -8 (-13.2, -2.8) Learning 90.2 (85.9, 94.6) Effect-13.3 (-18.6, -8) N=48
Dean et al, 2002	DD 15 (22%);	-	-	DD 6 (10%)	DD 8 (33%);	DD 13 (28%);
Developmental delay (DD) Behaviour disorder (BD) N(%)	p<0.05 BD 10 (14.5%); p<0.05 N=70			BD 4 (6.6%) N=25	p<0.05 BD 1 (4.2%) N=25	p<0.05 BD 5 (10.9%); p<0.05 N=47
Others						
Shankaran et al, 2001 Antenatal exposure to PHB or placebo between 24 to 32 weeks Bayley Scale of development In infant at 18-22 months Mental Development Index (MDI) Psychomotor Development Index (PDI) median (range)				MDI PHB 85 (49-124) Vs Placebo 86 (49-129) PDI PHB 91 (49-121) Vs Placebo 91 (49-134) N=344		

Table 2c: Autistic spectrum disorders (ASD) and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)

	Autistic disorders and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity disorder									
	Carbamazepine	Lamotrigine	Levetiracetam	Oxcarbazepine	Phenobarbital	Phenytoin	Valproate			
Meta-analyses	1	1	1	1	1	1				
Veroniki et al, 2017b Autism/dyspraxia (A/D)	A/D OR 5.76 (95% Cl 0.76 to 73.43) N=182	A/D OR 8.88 (95% Cl 1.28 to 112.00) N=126	A/D OR 3.64 (95% CI 0.00 to 222.30) LEV mono	A/D OR 13.51 (95% CI 1.28 to 221.40) OXC mono N=321	ADHD OR 1.29 (95% Cl 0.25,6.21) N=61	A/D OR 7.09 (95% Cl 0.02 to 397.70) N=83	A/D OR 17.29 (95% Cl 2.40 to 217.60)			
ADHD Vs WWE	ADHD OR 2.32 (95% Cl 0. 70 to 7.86)	ADHD OR 1.63 (95% Cl 0.41 to 6.06)				ADHD OR 0.63 (95% Cl 0.07 to 4.07 N=41	ADHD OR 2.84 (95% CI 0.82 to 9.99)			
(untreated)	N=182	N=105								
Bromley et al, 2014 ASD	Autistic traits (parental rating) OR 3.3 (0.5, 24.8 18 months) OR 2.5 (0.3, 19.1) 36 months N=41	Autistic traits (parental rating) OR 1.5 (0.2, 11.0) 18 months) OR 5.0 (1.7, 14.4) 36 months N=154	-	-	-	-	Autistic traits (parental rating) VPA 0% vs 0.5% control 18 months OR 3.7 (0.5, 28.4) 36 months N=19			
Pregnancy Re	gistries									
APR	-	-								
Wood et al, 2016 Autism traits (assessed using	Elevated CARs score 5.9% N=34	-	-	-			Elevated CARs score 7.7% N=26 (mono)			
Childhood Autism Rating Scale)							46.7% N=15 (poly)			
Huber-Mollema et a 2019	ADHD 2.8% vs 4.3% p=0.653;	ADHD 5.7% vs 4.3% p=0.529;	ADHD 7.1% vs 4.3% p=0.897;				ADHD 3.8% vs 4.3%; p=0.897;			
ASD	ASD 0% vs 1.5%	ASD 4.6% vs 1.5% p=0.02	ASD 3.6% vs 1.5% p=0.352				ASD 7.1% vs 1.5%; p<0.01			
ADHD diagnosis	p=0.453	N=88	N=30				N=26			
vs population norms	N=37									
Voiby of al. 2012	Autistic traits	Autistic traits	[Autistic traits			
Risk at 36 months	3.4% Vs 1.5% OR 2.5 (95% Cl 0.3 to 19.1)	9.3% Vs 1.5% OR 5.0 (95% Cl 1.7 to 14.4)			-		5.6% Vs 1.5% OR 3.7 (95% Cl 0.5 to 28.4)			
Autistic traits (Social Communication Questionnaire)	ADHD symptoms 6.5% Vs 4.0% OR 2.0 (95% CI 0.5 to	ADHD symptoms 7.0% Vs 4.0% OR 1.5 (95% CI 0.4 to 4.8)					ADHD symptoms 5.6% Vs 4.0% OR 1.3 (95% CI 0.2 to 9.9)			
ADHD symptoms	0.0) N=31	N=44					N=19			
Vs children born to WWOE										
Others	-			-						
Christensen et al,	7.33%	2.96%		6.72%			8.82%			
ADHD Diagnosis	5.6 (95% CI 3.9 to 7.9) Incidence/1000 PYs	3.4 (95% CI 2.5 to 4.6) Incidence/1000 PYs		5.5 (95% CI 3.7 to 8.1) Incidence/1000 PYs			7.2 (95% CI 5.2 to 9.8) Incidence/1000 PYs			
Vs unexposed	aHR 1.23 (95% 0.84 to 1.82)	aHR 0.84 (95% 0.59 to 1.19)		aHR 1.10 (95% 0.72 to 1.67)			aHR 1.52 (95% 1.05 to 2.19) N=431			
	N=423	N=1383		N=372						
Christensen et al, 2013	ASD 1.04% aHR 1.0 (95% CL 0.4 to 2.8)	- ASD 1.23% aHR 1 7	-	ASD 2.18% aHR 2.1 (95% CI 0.96 to 4 6)	-	-	ASD 3.09% aHR 3.0 (95% CI 1.7 to 5.4)			
Autism Spectrum disorder (ASD)	Childhood Autism	(95% CI 0.5 to 5.2)		Childhood Autism			Childhood Autism 1.80%			
Childhood Autism	0.52% aHR 1.4 (95% CI 0.4 to 2.8)	Childhood Autism 0.62% aHR 1.7 (95% CI 0.8 to 3.5)		0.31% aHR 1.0 (95% CI 0.1 to 6.9)			aHR 4.9 (95% CI 2.3 to 10.3) N=388			
unexposed	N=386	N=647		N=321						

Table 2d: Other Neurodevelopmental Effects

		1		Other Neurod	evelopmenta	I Effects	1		
Pregnancy Re	Carbamazepine	Gabapentin	Lamotrigine	Levetiracetam	Oxcarbazepine	Phenobarbital	Phenytoin	Topiramate	Valproate
Pregnancy Re Deshmukh et al, 2016 Vineland-II Adaptive Behaviour Scale Frequency of low and moderately low adaptive levels (%): Overall ABC domain Communication Daily Living Skills Socialization Motor Skills	Carbamazepine gistries ABC 5.1% CBZ vs LMT OR 1.46 (95% CI 0.24 to 9.03) CBZ vs VPA OR 0.16 (95% CI 0.03 to 0.92) Communication 10.2% CBZ vs LMT OR 2.91 (95% CI 0.64 to 13.21) CBZ vs VPA OR 0.68 (95% CI 0.15 to 3.05) Daily Living Skills 5.1% CBZ vs LMT OR 0.64 (95% CI 0.15 to 2.75) CBZ vs VPA OR 0.48 (95% CI 0.09 to 2.66)	Gabapentin	ABC 2.9% LMT vs VPA OR 0.11 (95% CI 0.02- 0.74) Communication 7.7% LMT vs VPA OR 0.23 (95% CI 0.04- 1.27) Socialization 4.8% LMT vs VPA OR 0.10 (95% CI 0.01- 0.89) Motor Skills 7.7% LTG vs VPA OR 0.09 (95% CI 0.02- 0.50) N=104	-	-	Phenobarbital	Phenytoin	Topiramate	Valproate
	Socialization 5.1% CBZ vs LMT OR 1.54 (95% CI 0.18 to 13.15) CBZ vs VPA OR 0.15 (95% CI 0.02 to 1.00) Motor Skills 8.2% CBZ vs LMT OR 0.81 (95% CI 0.19 to 3.41) CBZ vs VPA OR 0.20 (95% CI 0.05 to 0.82)								
Birth Registers	N=97								
Husebye et al. 2020 Prospective cohort study using data from the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study Language impairment at 5 years	Language impairment at 5 years aOR 1.9 (95% CI 0.6-5.6) Language impairment at 8 years aOR 3.8 (95% CI 1.6-9.0) N=23		Language impairment at 5 years aOR 1.0 (95% CI 0.5-2.3) Language impairment at 8 years aOR 1.2 (95% CI 0.6-2.6) N=41	Language impairment at 5 years aOR 1.0 (95% CI 0.2- 5.3) Language impairment at 8 years aOR 0.7 (95% CI 0.1- 6.0) N=6				Language impairment at 5 years aOR 5.8 (95% CI 0.5-64.0) Language impairment at 8 years aOR 1.1 (95% CI 0.1-10.9) N=4	Language impairment at 5 years aOR 2.2 (95% CI 0.7-7.0) Language impairment at 8 years aOR 2.2 (95% CI 0.7-6.4) N=16
Language impairment at 8 years									
AED-exposed children of WWE vs Children of women without epilepsy									
Bech et al, 2018 Learning disabilities in 1 st year of compulsory education Vs unexposed controls Or Vs	cf Unexposed controls aOR 1.74 (95% CI 0.19 to 16.05) cf AED exposed aOR 0.46 (95% CI 0.06 to 3.79) N=35	cf Unexposed controls aOR 1.22 (95% CI 0.14 to 10.52) cf AED exposed aOR 0.31 (95% CI 0.04 to 2.58) N=29	cf Unexposed aOR 1.81 (95% CI 0.74 to 4.41) cf AED exposed aOR 0.42 (95% CI 0.19 to 0.92) LMT mono 290 exposures	cf Unexposed aOR 13.17 (95% CI 1.581 to 109.99) cf AED exposed aOR 5.45 (95% CI 0.78 to 38.02) N=12	cf Unexposed aOR 2.34 (95% CI 0.50 to 10.82) cf AED exposed aOR 0.88 (95% CI 0.24 to 3.27) N=44	cf Unexposed aOR 57.36 (95% CI 4.63 to 710.21) cf AED exposed aOR 12.61 (95% CI 1.98 to 80.15) N=11		cf Unexposed aOR 5.82 (95% CI 1.21 to 27.97) cf AED exposed aOR 2.57 (95% CI 0.67 to 9.89) N=27	cf Unexposed aOR 5.31 (95% CI 2.03 to 13.93) cf AED exposed aOR 4.67 (95% CI 1.73 to 12.59) N=55
AED exposed Forsberg et al, 2011 Children's School Grade OR Not Passing Exams AED exposed versus	Maths OR 1.60 (95% CI 0.99-2.56) English OR 1.31 (95% CI 0.78-2.18) Swedish OR 1.32 (95% CI 0.81-2.17) Sport						Maths OR1.13 (95%Cl 0.81-1.54) English OR1.16 (95%Cl 0.81-1.66) Swedish OR1.17 (0.81-1.69) Sport OR 1.00 (95%Cl 0.68-1.47)		

Other children born in the same	OR 1.50 (95% CI 0.93-2.44)				N=316	
period						
	N_242					
	N=243					
Others						
Elkjaer et al, 2018	Danish	-	- Danish	Danish		
	2 nd grade -0.01 (-		2 nd grade -0.01 (-	2 nd grade -0.01 (-0.04		
Performance in	0.05 to 0.03)		0.02 to 0.01)	to 0.02)		
national tests	4 th grade -0.02 (-		4 th grade 0.00 (-	4 th grade -0.01 (-0.04		
	0.05 to 0.01)		0.02 to 0.02)	to 0.02)		
Difference in	6 th grade -0.02 (-		6 th grade 0.01 (-	6 th grade -0.01 (-0.04		
standardised z	0.05 to 0.01)		0.02 to 0.04)	to 0.02)		
scores	8 th grade -0.03 (-		8 th grade 0.02 (-	8 th grade -0.02 (-0.07		
	0.07 to 0.01)		0.03 to 0.07	to 0.03)		
AED						
VS	Mathematics		Mathematics	Mathematics		
No AED exposure	3 rd grade -0.04 (-		3 rd grade 0.00 (-	3 rd grade -0.01 (-0.04		
	0.08 to 0.01)		0.02 to 0.02)	to 0.02)		
	6 th grade -0.04 (-		6 th grade 0.01 (-	6 th grade -0.03 (-0.06		
	0.07 to -0.01)		0.01 to 0.04)	to 0.00)		
	N=294		N=396	N=123		

7 Appendix 3

Table 3: Other Reproductive Toxic Effects for prioritised AEDs

Table 3a: Fetal Loss

Fetal Loss											
	Carbamazepine	Gabapentin	Lamotrigine	Levetiracetam	Oxcarbazepine	Phenobarbital	Phenytoin	Pregabalin	Topiramate	Valproate	Zonisamide
Meta-analyses											
Veroniki et al, 2017a	OR 1.25 (0.73,2.36)	-	OR 1.38 (0.70,2.88)	OR 2.47 (0.50,10.15)	OR 1.66 (0.50,4.50)	OR 0.90 (0.44,1.93)	OR 1.50 (0.85,2.91)	-	OR 23.58 (1.18,549.60)	OR 1.83 (1.04,3.45)	_‡
	N=3911		N=2540	N=28	N=567	N=407	N=618		N=2	N=2612	
Pregnancy Regis	tries					1	1				L
Vajda et al, 2018 Vs WWE unexposed	4.7%	-	3.67%	1.55%	5.26%	-	2.38%	-	1.96%	3.17%	-
	N=404		N=382	N=129	N=19		N=42		N=51	N=284	
Kerala Pregnancy Regi	stry		•			·					·
Trivedi et al, 2018 vs WWE unexposed	5.8%	-	8.3%	6.4%	8.9%	3.6%	7.8%	-	45.4%	7.1%	-
	N=465		N=48	N=63	N=56	N=138	N=129		N=11	N=322	
Birth Registers											
Bech et al, 2014 Vs	14.4%	-	13.6%	-	15.0%	-	-	-	-	15.8%*	
WWE unexposed	N=409		N=1128		N=413					N=474	
[‡] Artama et al, 2013 Finland Vs WWOE (no AED exposure)	11.6 (all) 9.2 (mono) 24.0 (poly) N=1292 (all) 1084 (mono)	-	No cases	No cases	11.5 (all) 13.2 (mono) 6.1 (poly) N=695 (all) 532 (mono)	-	No cases	-	-	10.6 (all) 9.9 (mono) 1.3 (poly) N=944 (all) 706 (mono)	-
Fujii et al, 2013		9.8% N=223 (71epilepsy)									
Others			•								
Winterfeld et al, 2016 Vs unexposed								15.1%			
								N=139			
łOrnoy et al, 2008 Vs non-teratogen exposed women	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	11.3% N=52		

* Increased risk driven by high dose VPA (>750mg/.day)

Table 3b Preterm Birth

Preterm Birth											
	Carbamazepine	Gabapentin	Lamotrigine	Levetiracetam	Oxcarbazepine	Phenobarbital	Phenytoin	Pregabalin	Topiramate	Valproate	Zonisamide
Meta-analyses											
Veroniki et al, 2017a	OR 1.10 (0.77,1.56)	OR 1.93 (0.88,4.05)	OR 1.05 (0.70,1.48)	OR 0.87 (0.04,8.14)	OR 0.80 (0.5,1.26)	OR 1.59 (0.87,2.75)	OR 1.03 (0.55,1.82)	-	OR 1.38 (0.73, 2.35)	OR 0.96 (0.65,1.37)	-
	N=2141	N=76	N=3015	N=93	N=1045	N=206	N=283		N=408	N=1694	
Pregnancy Registri	es										
<pre>#Hernandez-Diaz et al, 2014</pre>	-	-	5.9%	-	-	-	-	-	10.4%	-	10.2%
			N=1581						N=347		N=98
Birth Registers					·						
Margulis et al, 2019 Swedish Mean pregnancy duration days compared with LMT	-1.3 (95 % CI -2.3 to - 0.3) use any time N= 1975 -1.6 (95% CI -2.7 to - 0.5) 1 st trimester N=1686	-	ref	-0.5 (95 % CI -2.6 to 1.6) any time N=213 -0.7 (95% CI -2.9 to - 1.5) 1 st trimester N=184	-	-	-	-1.1 (95 % CI - 3.0 to 0.8) any time N=522 -1.8 (95% CI - 3.7 to 0.2) 1 st trimester N=484	-	-0.0 (95 % CI -1.2 to - 1.2) any time N=985 -0.1 (95% CI -1.3 to - 1.2) 1 st trimester N=845	-
Danielsson et al. 2019	10.6%	_	5.7%	7.2%				IN=404	-	1.5%	
Dameisson et al, 2013	10.070		5.170	1.270	-	-				4.570	
	N=243		N=437	N=118						N=130	
Killic et al, 2014	8.4% (all) 8.1% (mono)	12.1% (all) 12.5% (mono)	9.3% (all) 9.4% (mono)	5.6% (all) 3.8% (mono)	6.2% (all) 6.5% (mono)	10.8% (all) 10.4% (mono)	-	22.2% (all) 23.1% (mono)	4.7% (all) 8.5% (mono)	7.6% (all) 6.7% (mono)	0
	N=416	N=91	N=1157	N=72	N=405	N=111		N=18	N=129	N=461	
[‡] Artama et al, 2013 Finland	7.5% (all) 7.7% (mono)	-	4.3% (all) 4.6% (mono)	10.7% (all) 15.4% (mono)	4.6% (all) 4.4% (mono)	-	7.5% (all) 7.7% (mono)	-	-	5.7% (all) 5.7% (mono)	-
	N=1292 N=1084 mono		N=345 N=173 mono	N=56 N=13 mono	N=695 N=532 mono		N=53 N=26 mono			N=944 N=706 mono	
Fujii et al, 2013		10.5%									
		N=223									
Others											
Mostacci et al, 2017	-	54.5%	-	-	-	-	-	25%	-	-	-
		N=11						N=16			
Winterfeld et al, 2016								9.2%			
								N=119			
Ornoy et al, 2008	-								9.8%		
									N=29		

Table 3c: Prenatal Growth Restriction

Prenatal Growth Restriction											
	Carbamazepine	Gabapentin	Lamotrigine	Levetiracetam	Oxcarbazepine	Phenobarbital	Phenytoin	Pregabalin	Topiramate	Valproate	Zonisamide
Meta-analyses	OD 1 15 (0 77 1 67)	OD 1 27 (0 11 2 61)	OD 0 00 (0 56 1 42)	OD 1 27 (2 04 2 54)		OD 4 99 (4 07 2 22)	OD 0 69 (0 27 1 21)	1	00.064	1 28 (0.86 1.05)	
2017a	N=2897	N=70	N=2882	N=81	1.76)	N=400	N=519	-	(1.41, 4.63)	N=1622	-
					N=1002				N=472		
Pregnancy R	egistries		1	1							
North American		aRR 1.2 (95% CI 0.7 to 2.0)				aRR 2.4 (95% CI 1.6 to 3.6)	to 1.25)		(95% CI 1.8 to 3.1)		3.0)
et al, 2017		N=153				N=178	N=383		N=394		N=125
Compared with											
[‡] Hernandez-Diaz et al, 2014	-	-	6.8% SGA	-	-	-	-	-	17.9% SGA	-	12.2% SGA
TPM and ZNS			N=1581						Mean lower BW of 221g		Mean lower BW of 202g
compared with LMT and									Mean lesser birth		Mean lesser birth
unexposed control group									length of 1cm		length of 1cm
Birth Registers									N=347		N=98
Margulis et al, 2019 Swedish BW (grams) Microcephaly – Birth Head circumference (cm)	BW -69 (95% CI -112 to - 26) any time -87 (95 % CI -133 to -40) 1 st trimester use N=1988 (any time) N=1699 (1st trimester) Microcephaly -0.3 (95% CI -0.5 to - 0.2) any time -0.4 (95% CI -0.6 to - 0.3) 1 st trimester N=1883 (any time) N= 1605 (1 st trimester)	-	ref	BW -79 (95% CI -166 to 8) any time -95 (95 % CI -189 to 2) 1 st trimester N=215 (any time) N=186 (1 st trimester) Microcephaly -0.2 (95% CI -0.5 to 0.0) any time -0.3 (95% CI -0.6 to 0.0) 1 st trimester N=206 (any time) N=178 (1 st trimester)	-	-	-	$\begin{array}{c} {\sf BW} \\ -83 \ (95\% \ {\sf CI} \ -63 \ to \\ 3) \ any \ time \\ -127 \ (95 \ \% \ {\sf CI} \ - \\ 210 \ to \ 44) \ 1^{st} \\ trimester \\ {\sf N} = 528 \ (any \ time) \\ {\sf N} = 489 \ (1^{st} \\ trimester) \\ \hline {\sf Microcephaly} \\ -0.0 \ (95\% \ {\sf CI} \ - 0.3 \\ to \ 0.2) \ any \ time \\ -0.2 \ (95\% \ {\sf CI} \ - 0.4 \\ to \ -0.1) \ 1^{st} \\ trimester \\ \hline {\sf N} = 516 \ (any \ time) \\ {\sf N} = 480 \ (1^{st} \\ trimester) \\ \hline \end{array}$		BW -27 (95% CI -79 to 24) any time -40 (95 % CI -95 to 14) 1 st trimester N=992 any time N=852 1 st trimester Microcephaly -0.2 (95% CI -0.3 to 0.0) any time -0.2 (95% CI -0.4 to 0.2) 1 st trimester N=931 (any time) N=802 (1 st trimester)	
Danielsson et al,	2.9%	-	1.8%	3.4%	-	-	-	-	-	2.3%	-
2019	N=243		N=437	N=118						N=130	
SGA	SCA BW								SCARW	SCA BW	
SGA HC	11.9% Vs 9.6% aOR 1.37 (95% 1.09 to 1.73)	-	OR1.0 NS (CI not provided) SGA HC OR 1.1 NS (CI not provided)	OR0.8 NS (CI not provided) SGA HC OR 0.4 NS (CI not provided)	-		-	-	25.0% vs 8.9% aOR 3.29 (95% 1.70 to 6.39) SGA-HC 14.9% vs 2.4%	OR 0.9 NS (CI not provided) SGA HC OR 0.8 NS (CI not provided)	
	SGA HC 4.6% Vs 2.4%		N=983	N=188					aOK 7.21 (95% CI 3.23 to 16.1) N=90	N=410	

	aOR 2.05 (95% 1.44 to 2.93)									
	N-704									
Killic et al, 2014	SGA	SGA	SGA	SGA	SGA	SGA	SGA	SGA	SGA	SGA
	13.5% (all)	12.1% (all)	10.3% (all)	15.3% (all)	18.7% (all)	18.9% (all)	38.5% (all)	27.8% (all)	23.3% (all)	16.8% (all)
SGA	11.2% (mono)	12.5% (mono)	8.9% (mono)	11.5% (mono)	16.0% (mono)	18.8% (mono)	20.0% (mono)	23.1% (mono)	17.0% (mono)	15.3% (mono)
LBW	LBW	LBW	LBW	LBW	LBW	LBW	LBW	LBW	LBW	LBW
	6.5% (all)	5.5% (all)	5.8% (all)	5.6% (all)	6.2% (all)	9.9% (all)	7.7% (all)	16.7% (all)	5.4% (all)	8.1% (all)
	6.6% (mono)	6.9% (mono)	5.5% (mono)	7.7% (mono)	5.5% (mono)	9.4% (mono)	20.0% (mono)	15.4% (mono)	6.8% (mono)	6.5% (mono)
	N=416	N=91	N=1157	N=72	N=405	N=111	N=13	N=18	N=129	N=461
[‡] Artama et al,		-				-		-	-	
2013	5.2% (all) 4.7% (mono)		4.1% (all) 3.5% (mono)	10.7% (all) 15.4% (mono)	4.4% (all) 3.6% (mono)		3.8% (all) 3.8% (mono)			4.6% (all) 4.0% (mono)
LBW										4.070 (110110)
	SGA		SGA	SGA	SGA		SGA			SGA
SGA	2.3% (all) 1.8% (mono)		1.7% (all) 1.2% (mono)	3.6% (all) 0 (mono)	3.9% (all) 3 4% (mono)		0 (all) 0 (mono)			1.9% (all) 1.7% (mono)
			1.2 /0 (11010)		0.470 (meno)					
	N=1292 (all)		N=345 (all)	N=56 (all)	N=695 (all)		N=53 (all)			N=944 (all)
	1084 (mono)		173 (mono)	13 (mono)	532 (mono)		26 (mono)			706 (mono)
Fujii et al, 2013	1	IUGR	+	1	-	+			+	
		3.5%								
IUGR		vs 1.9% control								
LBW										
		LBW 10.5%								
		VS 4.4% control								
Almgren et al,	-0.15 mean SD +/-	-0.02 +/- 0.13	-0.004 +/-0.06	-		-	-0.02 +/- 0.09	1-		-0.10 mean SDs +/-
2009	0.03						1. 407			0.05
BW adjusted HC	N=1094	N=56	N=308				N=137			N-460
Others										
Mostacci et al,	-	27%	-	-	-	-	6.3%	-	-	1
2017							NL 00			
SGA		N=11					N=30			
Winterfeld et al,	+	+	+	1	+	+		3,300 g (3,000 to	+	+ +
2016								3,690)		
Birth Weight a								N-119		
(median, IQR)										
[₽] Ornoy et al,	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2932g	
2008 Birth weight									VS 3300	
(grams)										
									N=52	

References 8

Aberg E, Holst S, Neagu A, Ogren SO, Lavebratt C. Prenatal exposure to carbamazepine reduces hippocampal and cortical neuronal cell population in new-born and young mice without detectable effects on learning and memory. PLoS One 2013;8:e80497.

Abdulrazzaq YM, Shafiullah M, Kochyil J, Padmanabhan R, Bastaki SMA. Ameliorative effects of supplemental folinic acid on Lamotrigine-induced fetal malformations in the mouse. Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry. 2018 Sep;446(1-2):185-197

Afshar M, Golalipour MJ. Teratogenic effects of gabapentin on neural tube and limb development in mice. Neurosciences (Riyadh). 2008;13(3):321–323

Afshar M, Hassanzadeh-Taheri MM, Moallem SA, Tamizi A, Golalipour MJ. Teratogenic effects of gabapentin on the skeletal system of Balb/C mice fetuses. Neurosciences (Riyadh). 2009;14(3):239-244.

Almgren M, Källén B, Lavebratt C. Population-based study of antiepileptic drug exposure in utero-Influence on head circumference in newborns. Seizure. 2009;18:672-675

Ambrosio AF, Silva AP, Arauiol I, Malva JO, Soares-da-Silva P, Carvalho AP, Carvalho CM, Neurotoxic/neuroprotective profile of carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine and two new putative antiepileptic drugs, BIA2-093 and BIA2-024. EurJ Pharmacol. 2000;406:191-201.

Andrade C. Major congenital malformations associated with exposure to antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy. J Clin Psychiatry. 2018;79(4): 18f12449.

ANSM. Antiepileptics during pregnancy: Current state of knowledge on the risk of malformations and of neurodevelopmental disorders. April 2019. https://www.ansm.sante.fr/Sinformer/Points-d-information-Points-d-information/Antiepileptiques-au-cours-de-la-grossesse-Etat-actuel-des-connaissances-sur-les-risques-de-malformations-et-de-troubles-neurodeveloppementaux-Point-d-information

Antel, J. and Hebebrand, J. Weight-Reducing Side Effects of the Antiepileptic Agents Topiramate and Zonisamide. Appetite Control. 2012;209:433-466.

Araújo, I.M., Ambrósio, A.F., Leal, E.C., Verdasca, M.J., Malva, J.O., Soares-da-Silva, P., Carvalho, A.P. and Carvalho, C.M. (2004), Neurotoxicity Induced by Antiepileptic Drugs in Cultured Hippocampal Neurons: A Comparative Study between Carbamazepine, Oxcarbazepine, and Two New Putative Antiepileptic Drugs, BIA 2-024 and BIA 2-093. Epilepsia. 2004;45(12): 1498-1505.

Artama M, Auvinen A, Raudaskoski T, Isojärvi I, Isojärvi J. Antiepileptic drug use of women with epilepsy and congenital malformations in offspring. Neurology. 2005 Jun 14;64(11):1874-8.

Artama M, Gissler M, Malm H, Ritvanen A; Drug and Pregnancy Group. Effects of maternal epilepsy and antiepileptic drug use during pregnancy on perinatal health in offspring: nationwide, retrospective cohort study in Finland. Drug Saf. 2013 May;36(5):359-69

Azarbayjani F, Borg LA, Danielsson BR. Increased susceptibility to phenytoin teratogenicity: excessive generation of reactive oxygen species or impaired antioxidant defense? Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2006 Oct;99(4):305-11.

Badawy GM, Atallah MN, Sakr SA. Effect of gabapentin on fetal rat brain and its amelioration by ginger. Heliyon. 2019; 5(9):e02387.

Banach R1, Boskovic R, Einarson T, Koren G. Long-term developmental outcome of children of women with epilepsy, unexposed or exposed prenatally to antiepileptic drugs: a metaanalysis of cohort studies. Drug Saf. 2010; Jan 1;33(1):73-9.

Battino D, Binelli S, Caccamo ML, Canevini MP, Canger R, Como ML, Croci D, De Giambattista M, Granata T, Pardi G, Avanzini G. Malformations in offspring of 305 epileptic women: a prospective study. Acta Neurologica ScandinavicaVolume 85, Issue 3

Battino D1, Kaneko S, Andermann E, Avanzini G, Canevini MP, Canger R, Croci D, Fumarola C, Guidolin L, Mamoli D, Molteni F, Pardi G, Vignoli A, Fukushima Y, Kan R, Takeda A, Nakane Y, Ogawa Y, Dansky L, Oguni M, Lopez-Ciendas I, Sherwin A, Andermann F, Seni MH, Goto M, et a Intrauterine growth in the offspring of epileptic women: a prospective multicenter study. Epilepsy Res. 1999 Aug;36(1):53-60.

Bech BH, Kjaersgaard MI, Pedersen HS, Howards PP, Sørensen MJ, Olsen J, Parner ET, Pedersen LH, Vestergaard M, Christensen J. Use of antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy and risk of spontaneous abortion and stillbirth: population based cohort study. BMJ 2014; 349:g5159

Bech LF, Polcwiartek C, Kragholm K, Andersen MP, Rohde C, Torp-Pedersen C, Nielsen J, Hagstrøm S. In utero exposure to antiepileptic drugs is associated with learning disabilities among offspring. Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2018;89:1324–1331.

Bennett GD, Amore BM, Finnell RH, Wlodarczyk B, Kalhorn TF, Skiles GL, et al. Teratogenicity of carbamazepine-10, 11-epoxide and oxcarbazepine in the SWV mouse. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1996;279:1237-42

Bergman A, Feigenbaum JJ, Yanai J. Neuronal losses in mice following both prenatal and neonatal exposure to phenobarbital. Acta Anat 1982;114(2):185-92

Bertollini R, Källen B, Mastroiacovo P, Robert E. Anticonvulsant drugs in monotherapy. Effect on the fetus. Eur J Epidemiol. 1987 Jun;3(2):164-71.

Bittigau P, Sifringer M, Genz K, Reith E, Pospischil D, et al. Antiepileptic drugs and apoptotic neurodegeneration in the developing brain. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2003;99:15089-15094.

Bittigau P, Sifringer M, Ikonomidou C. Antiepileptic drugs and apoptotic neurodegeneration in the developing brain. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2003 May;993:103-14; discussion 123-4.

Blank NK, Nishimura RN, Seil FJ. Phenytoin Neurotoxicity in Developing Mouse Cerebellum in Tissue Culture. J Neurol S. 1982 Jul;55(1):91-7

Blotière P-O, Raguideau F, Weill A, Elefant E, Perthus I, Goulet V, Rouget F, Zureik M, Coste J, Dray-Spira R. Risks of 23 specific malformations associated with prenatal exposure to 10 antiepileptic drugs. Neurology. 2019;93(2) e167-e180.

Blotière PO, Miranda S, Weill A, Mikaeloff Y, Peyre H, Ramus F, Mahmoud Z, Coste J, Dray-Spira R. Risk of early neurodevelopmental outcomes associated with prenatal exposure to the antiepileptic drugs most commonly used during pregnancy: a French nationwide population-based cohort study. BMJ Open. 2020 Jun 7;10(6):e034829.

Bromley R, Weston J, Adab N, Greenhalgh J, Sanniti A, MckAy AJ, Tudur Smith C, Marson AG et al. Treatment for epilepsy in pregnancy: neurodevelopmental outcomes in the child. Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2014;10: Cd010236

Bromley RL, Calderbank R, Cheyne CP, Rooney C, Trayner P, Clayton-Smith J, García-Fiñana M, Irwin B, Morrow JI, Shallcross R, Baker GA; UK Epilepsy and Pregnancy Register.

Buznikov GA, Schmukler YB. Possible role of "prenervous" neurotransmitters in cellular interactions of early embryogenesis: A hypothesis. Neurochemical Research. 1981;6:55-68.

Bromley RL1, Mawer G, Love J, Kelly J, Purdy L, McEwan L, Briggs M, Clayton-Smith J, Shi X, Baker GA; Liverpool and Manchester Neurodevelopment Group [LMNDG]. Early cognitive development in children born to women with epilepsy: a prospective report. Epilepsia. 2010 Oct;51(10):2058-65.

Bromley RL1, Mawer GE, Briggs M, Cheyne C, Clayton-Smith J, García-Fiñana M, Kneen R, Lucas SB, Shallcross R, Baker GA; Liverpool and Manchester Neurodevelopment Group. The prevalence of neurodevelopmental disorders in children prenatally exposed to antiepileptic drugs. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2013 Jun;84(6):637-43.

Bromley R The treatment of epilepsy in pregnancy: The neurodevelopmental risks associated with exposure to antiepileptic drugs. Reprod Toxicol 2016a Sep; 64:203-10

Campbell E1, Devenney E, Morrow J, Russell A, Smithson WH, Parsons L, Robertson I, Irwin B, Morrison PJ, Hunt S, Craig J. Recurrence risk of congenital malformations in infants exposed to antiepileptic drugs in utero. Epilepsia. 2013 Jan;54(1):165-71.

Campbell E, Kennedy F, Russell A, Smithson WH, Parsons L, Morrison PJ, Liggan B, Irwin B, Delanty N, Hunt SJ, Craig J, Morrow J. Malformation risks of antiepileptic drug monotherapies in pregnancy: updated results from the UK and Ireland Epilepsy and Pregnancy Registers. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2014 Sep;85(9):1029-34

Carrasco M, Rao SC, Bearer CF, Sundararajan S. Neonatal Gabapentin Withdrawal Syndrome. Pediatr Neurol. 2015 Nov;53(5):445-7.

Chapman, J. B., & Cutler, M. G. Behavioural effects of phenobarbitone. Psychopharmacology. 1983;79(2-3), 155–160.

Chen EH, Olson EN. Unveiling the Mechanisms of Cell-Cell Fusion. Science. 2005;308:269–373.

Christensen HD, Gonzalez CL, Rayburn WF. Chronic prenatal exposure to phenobarbital and long-term behavior effects on mice offspring. The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine. 2004;15:6, 351-355

Christensen J, Grønborg TK, Sørensen MJ, Schendel D, Parner ET, Pedersen LH, Vestergaard M. Prenatal valproate exposure and risk of autism spectrum disorders and childhood autism. JAMA. 2013 Apr 24;309(16):1696-703.

Christensen J, Pedersen L, Sun Y, Dreier JW, Brikell I, Dalsgaard S. Association of Prenatal Exposure to Valproate and Other Antiepileptic Drugs With Risk for Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder in Offspring. JAMA Netw Open. 2019 Jan 4;2(1):e186606.

Cnattingius S, Bergstrom R, Lipworth L, et al. Prepregnancy Weight and the Risk of Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes. N Engl J Med 1998;338(3):147-52.

Cognition in school-age children exposed to levetiracetam, topiramate, or sodium valproate. Neurology. 2016b Nov 1;87(18):1943-1953. Epub 2016 Aug 31.

Cohen MJ, Meador KJ, May R, Loblein H, Conrad T, Baker GA, Bromley RL, Clayton-Smith J, Kalayjian LA, Kanner A, Liporace JD, Pennell PB, Privitera M, Loring DW; NEAD Study Group.Fetal antiepileptic drug exposure and learning and memory functioning at 6 years of age: The NEAD prospective observational study. Epilepsy Behav. 2019 Mar;92:154-164.

Cummings C, Stewart M, Stevenson M, Morrow J, Nelson J. Neurodevelopment of children exposed in utero to lamotrigine, sodium valproate and carbamazepine. Arch Dis Child. 2011 Jul;96(7):643-7.

Cunnington MC. The International Lamotrigine pregnancy registry update for the epilepsy foundation. Epilepsia. 2004 Nov;45(11):1468.

Cunnington MC1, Weil JG, Messenheimer JA, Ferber S, Yerby M, Tennis P. Final results from 18 years of the International Lamotrigine Pregnancy Registry. Neurology. 2011 May 24;76(21):1817-23.

Danielsson BR, Johansson A, Danielsson C, Azarbayjani F, Blomgren B, Sköld AC. Phenytoin teratogenicity: hypoxia marker and effects on embryonic heart rhythm suggest an hERG-related mechanism. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2005 Mar;73(3):146-53.

Danielsson KC, Gilhus NE, Borthen I, Lie RT, Morken NH. Maternal complications in pregnancy and childbirth for women with epilepsy: Time trends in a nationwide cohort. PLoS One. 2019 Nov 25;14(11):e0225334.

Daoud AS, Bataineh H, Otoom S, Abdul-Zahra E. The effect of Vigabatrin, Lamotrigine and Gabapentin on the fertility, weights, sex hormones and biochemical profiles of male rats. Neuro Endocrinol Lett. 2004 Jun;25(3):178-83.

Dean JCS, Hailey H, Moore SJ, LloydDJ, Turnpenny PD, Little J. Long term health and neurodevelopment in children exposed to antiepileptic drugs before birth. British Medical Journal. 2002;Vol 39, Issue 4, 251-259.

de Jong J, Garne E, de Jong-van den Berg LT, Wang H. The Risk of Specific Congenital Anomalies in Relation to Newer Antiepileptic Drugs: A Literature Review. Drugs Real World Outcomes. 2016;3(2):131–143.

De Marchi, N.S., Azoubel, R. & Tognola, W.A. . Teratogenic effects of lamotrigine on rat fetal brain: a morphometric study", Arquivos de Neuro-Psiquiatria 2001;59(2):-362-364

Deshmukh U, Adams J, Macklin EA, Dhillon R, McCarthy KD, Dworetzky B, Klein A, Holmes LB. Behavioral outcomes in children exposed prenatally to lamotrigine, valproate, or carbamazepine. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 2016 Mar;Apr;54:5-14.

Dessens AB, Cohen-Kettenis PT, Mellenbergh GJ, Koppe JF, Poll NE, Boer K. Acta Paediatrica. June 2000;89(5):533-41

Dobbing J and Sands J. Comparative aspects of the brain growth spurt. Early Hum Dev. 1979;3:79-83.

Dow KE, Riopelle RJ. Differential effects of anticonvulsants on developing neurons in vitro Neurotoxicology. 1988 Spring;9(1):97-104.

El-Gaafarawi, I. and Abouel-Magd, M. Teratogenic Effect of Carbamazepine Administration in Pregnant Rats. The Egyptian Journal of Hospital Medicine. April 2015;59:244-257

Elkjær LS, Bech BH, Sun Y, Laursen TM, Christensen J. Association Between Prenatal Valproate Exposure and Performance on Standardized Language and Mathematics Tests in Schoolaged Children. JAMA Neurol. 2018 Jun 1;75(6):663-671.

Elmazar MM, Sullivan FM. Effect of Prenatal Phenytoin Administration on Postnatal Development of the Rat: A Behavioral Teratology Study. Teratology. 1981 Oct;24(2):115-24

Elshama, S., Eldin H., Osman H., and El-Meghawry El-Kenawy A. Teratogenic effect of Carbamazepine use during pregnancy in the mice. Pak J Pharm Sci. 2015 Jan;28(1):201-12

EI-Sayed MGA, Aly AE, Kadri M, Moustafa. AM: Comparative study on the teratogenicity of some antiepileplics in the rat. East Afr Mcd J 1983; 60:407 - 415.

Eluma FO, Sucheslon ME, Hayes TG, Paulson RB: Teratogenic effects of dosage levels and time of administration of carbamazepinc, sodium valproatc. and diphenylhydantoin on craniofacial development in the CD-I mouse fetus. I Craniofac Genet Dev Biol 1984;4:191-210

Eman Y. Salah El-Din, Amel R. Omar. Effect of Prenatal Administration of Therapeutic Dose of Topiramate on Placentae Albino Rats' Fetuses. International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2017;9(3)

Eriksson K1, Viinikainen K, Mönkkönen A, Aikiä M, Nieminen P, Heinonen S, Kälviäinen R. Children exposed to valproate in utero--population based evaluation of risks and confounding factors for long-term neurocognitive development. Epilepsy Res. 2005 Jul;65(3):189-200.

Erisgin, Zuleyha., Ayas, Bulent., Nyengaard, Jens R., Ercument Beyhun, N., Terzi, Yuksel. (2017). The neurotoxic effects of prenatal gabapentin and oxcarbazepine exposure on newborn rats. J Maternal Fetal Neonatal Med. 2019 Feb;32(3):461-471

Etemad L, Mohammad A, Mohammadpour AH, Vahdati Mashhadi N, Moallem SA. Teratogenic Effects of Pregabalin in Mice. Iran J Basic Med Sci. 2013 Oct;16(10):1065-70.

European Public Assessment Report (EPAR) for Zonegran. European Medicines Agency. https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/zonegran

European Public Assessment Report (EPAR) for Lyrica. European Medicines Agency.

Fadel, R., Othman, M., Abu-Hijleh, M., Sequeira, R., & Salem, A. Effects of Topiramate Administration on Placenta of Rat. Bahrain Medical Bulletin. Bahrain Medical Bulletin. 2016;38(2):90-93.

Fadel, R., Skrypnyk C, Salem A, Hijleh, M., Jaradat, A., Sequeira, R. Effects of Topiramate on Pregnancy Outcome in Rats. Bahrain Medical Bulletin. 2016;38(4):214-218

Farmen AH, Grundt J, Tomson T, Nakken KO, Nakling J, Mowinchel P, Lossius M. Intrauterine growth retardation in foetuses of women with epilepsy. Seizure. 2015 May;28:76-80.

Farwell J, Lee YJ, Hirtz DG, Sulzbacher S, Ellenberg JH, Nelson KB. Phenobarbital for febrile seizures – effects on intelligence and on seizure recurrence. N Engl J Med. 1990;322:364-369.

Finnell RH, Shields HE, Taylor SM, Chernoff GF. Strain Differences in Phenobarbital- Induced Teratogenesis in Mice. Teratology. 1987;35:177-185

Finnell RH, Bennett GD, Slattery JT,,. Amore BM, Bajpai M, Levy RH. Effect of Treatment with Phenobarbital and Stiripentol on Carbamazepine-Induced Teratogenicity and Reactive Metabolite Formation. Teratology 52324-332. 1995

Finnell RH, Dansky LV (1991). Parental epilepsy, anticonvulsant drugs, and reproductive outcome: epidemiologic and experimental findings spanning three decades: animal studies. Reproductive Toxicol Rev. 1991;5:281–299.

Forcelli PA, Kim J, Kondratyev A, Gale K. Pattern of antiepileptic drug-induced cell death in limbic regions of the neonatal rat brain. Epilepsia. 2011;52:e207–11

Forcelli, P.A., Kozlowski, R., Snyder, C., Kondratyev, A. & Gale, K. Effects of neonatal antiepileptic drug exposure on cognitive, emotional, and motor function in adult rats. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics. 2012;340(3):558-566

Forcelli PA, Janssen MJ, Vicini S, Gale K. Neonatal exposure to antiepileptic drugs disrupts striatal synaptic development. Ann Neurol. 2012;72:363–72

Forsberg L, Wide K, Källén B. School performance at age 16 in children exposed to antiepileptic drugs in utero--a population-based study. Epilepsia. 2011 Feb;52(2):364-9.

Frankel S, Medvedeva N, Gutherz S, Kulick C, Kondratyev A, Forcelli PA. Comparison of the long-term behavioral effects of neonatal exposure to retigabine or phenobarbital in rats. Epilepsy Behav. 2016 Apr;57(Pt A):34-40.

Fried S, Kozer E, Nulman I, Einarson TR, Koren G. Malformation rates in children of women with untreated epilepsy: a meta-analysis. Drug Saf. 2004;27(3):197-202.

Fritz H, Muller D, Hess R. Comparative study of the teratogenicity of phenobarbitone, diphenylhydantoin and carbamazepine in mice. Toxicology 1976;6:323–30.

Fujii H, Goel A, Bernard N, Pistelli A, Yates LM, Stephens S, Han JY, Matsui D, Etwell F, Einarson TR, Koren G, Einarson A. Pregnancy outcomes following gabapentin use: results of a prospective comparative cohort study. Neurology 2013;(80):1565-1570

Fujimura K, Mitsuhashi T, Takahashi T. Adverse effects of prenatal and early postnatal exposure to antiepileptic drugs: Validation from clinical and basic researches. Brain Dev. 2017; Sep;39(8):635-643

Fuzier R, Serres I, Guitton E, Lapeyre-Mestre M, Montastruc JL. French Network of Pharmacovigilance Centres. Adverse drug reactions to gabapentin and pregabalin: a review of the French pharmacovigilance database. Drug Saf. 2013;36(1):p55-62

Gaily E, Kantola-Sorsa E, Hiilesmaa V, Isoaho M, Matila R, Kotila M, Nylund T, Bardy A, Kaaja E, Granström ML.Normal intelligence in children with prenatal exposure to carbamazepine. Neurology. 2004 Jan 13;62(1):28-32. Gerard EE, Meador KJ. An Update on Maternal Use of Antiepileptic Medications in Pregnancy and Neurodevelopment Outcomes. J Pediatr Genet. 2015 Jun;4(2):94-110.

Glier C, Dzietko M, Bittigau P, Jarosz B, Korobowicz E, Ikonomidou C. Therapeutic doses of topiramate are not toxic to the developing rat brain. Experimental Neurology. 2004 Jun; 187:403–409

Godfrey KM, Barker DJ, Robinson S, et al. Maternal Birthweight and Diet in Pregnancy in Relation to the Infant's Thinness at Birth. Brit J Obstet Gynaec. 1997; 104(6):663-7.

González- Maciel A, Romero-Velázquez RM, Alfaro-Rodríguez A, Sanchez Aparicio P, Reynoso-Robles R. Prenatal exposure to oxcarbazepine increases hippocampal apoptosis in rat offspring. Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy. 2020 Jan;103:101729

Gopinath N, Muneer AK, Unnikrishnan S, Varma RP, Thomas SV.Children (10-12 years age) of women with epilepsy have lower intelligence, attention and memory: Observations from a prospective cohort case control study. Epilepsy Res. 2015 Nov;117:58-62.

Guttuso T, Robinson L, Amankwah, K. Gabapentin use in hyperemesis gravidarum: A pilot study. Early Human Development. 2010 Jan;86(1):65-6

Halpern, W. G., Ameri, M., Bowman, C. J., Elwell, M. R., Mirsky, M. L., Oliver J, Regan KS, Remick AK, Sutherland VL, Thompson KE, Tremblay C, Yoshida M, Tomlinson L. Scientific and Regulatory Policy Committee Points to Consider Review: Inclusion of Reproductive and Pathology End Points for Assessment of Reproductive and Developmental Toxicity in Pharmaceutical Drug Development. Toxicologic Pathology 2016 Aug;44(6), 789–809.

Han Y, Mei X, Wang Q, Liu G. Effect of topiramate on astrocytes in hippocampal formation of acute epileptic rats. Sichuan Journal of Anatomy 2008-03.

Hanson MD James W, Myrianthopoulos NC, Sedgwick MA, Smith MD DW. Risks to the offspring of women treated with hydantoin anticonvulsants, with emphasis on the fetal hydantoin syndrome. The Journal of Pediatrics. 1976;89(4):662-668.

Hashish, H. Histopathologic Effect of Prenatal Topiramate Exposure on Rat Cerebral Cortex and Hippocampus. J Interdiscipl Histopathol. 2014;2(2):61-68

Hatta T, Ohmori H, Murakami T, Takano M, Yamashita K, Yasuda M. Neurotoxic Effects of Phenytoin on Postnatal Mouse Brain Development Following Neonatal Administration. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 1999 Jan-Feb;21(1):21-8

Hayman LA, Fuller GN, Cavazos JE, Pfleger MJ, Meyers CA, Jackson EF. The hippocampus: normal anatomy and pathology. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1998; 171(4):1139-1146.

Hernández-Díaz S, Smith CR, Shen A, Mittendorf R, Hauser WA, Yerby M, Holmes LB; North American AED Pregnancy Registry; Comparative safety of antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy. Neurology. 2012 May 22;78(21):1692-9.

Hernández-Díaz, S., and Michael Levin, M., 2014. Anticonvulsants Teratogenic Mechanism Involves Alteration of Bioelectrically-controlled Processes in the Embryo. A hypothesis. Reprod Toxicol. 2014 August;47:111–114.

Hernández-Díaz S, Mittendorf R, Smith CR, Hauser WA, YerbyM, Holmes LB NAAED Pregnancy Registry. Association between topiramate and zonisamide use during pregnancy and low birth weight. Obstet Gynecol. 2014;123(1):21-28.

Hernández-Díaz S, McElrath TF, Pennell PB, Hauser WA, Yerby M, Holmes LB; North American Antiepileptic Drug Pregnancy Registry. Fetal growth and premature delivery in pregnant women on antiepileptic drugs. Ann Neurol. 2017 Sep;82(3):457-465.

Hernandez-Diaz S, Huybrechts KF, Desai RJ, Cohen JM, Mogun H, Pennell PB, Bateman BT, Patorno E. Topiramate use early in pregnancy and the risk of oral clefts, A pregnancy cohort study. Neurology. 2018;90:e342-e351.

Hill DS, Wlodarczyk BJ, Palacios AM, Finnell RH. Teratogenic effects of antiepileptic drugs. Expert Rev Neurother. 2010;10(6):943-959.

Huber-Mollema Y, Oort FJ, Lindhout D, Rodenburg R. Behavioral problems in children of mothers with epilepsy prenatally exposed to valproate, carbamazepine, lamotrigine, or levetiracetam monotherapy. Epilepsia. 2019 Jun;60(6):1069-1082.

Huber-Mollema Y, van Iterson L, Oort FJ, Lindhout D, Rodenburg R. Neurocognition after prenatal levetiracetam, lamotrigine, carbamazepine or valproate exposure. J Neurol. 2020 Jun;267(6):1724-1736.

Hunt S, Russell A, Smithson WH, Parsons L, Robertson I, Waddell R, Irwin B, Morrison PJ, Morrow J, Craig J. Topiramate in pregnancy: preliminary experience from the UK Epilepsy and Pregnancy Register. Neurology. 2008 Jul 22;71(4):272-6.

Husebye ESN, Gilhus NE, Spigset O, Daltveit AK, Bjørk MH. Language impairment in children aged 5 and 8 years after antiepileptic drug exposure in utero - the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study. Eur J Neurol. 2020 Apr;27(4):667-675.

International Council for Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use. Detection of Reproductive and Developmental Toxicity for Human Pharmaceuticals S5(R3) 2020. https://database.ich.org/sites/default/files/S5-R3_Step4_Guideline_2020_0218_1.pdf

Johnson & Johnson Study - SRT IIIC 1/8: Fertility and general reproduction studies

Johnson & Johnson Study - SRT IIIC 2/8: Fertility and general reproduction studies

Johnson & Johnson Study - SRT IIIC 3/8: Mouse teratology study (conducted in 1986)

Johnson & Johnson Study - SRT IIIC 5/8: Rat embryo-fetal study (conducted in 1986)

Johnson & Johnson Study - SRT IIIC 4/8: Rat embryo-fetal study (conducted in 1994)

Johnson & Johnson Study - SRT IIIC 7/8: Rabbit embryo-fetal study (conducted in 1991)

Johnson & Johnson Study - SRT IIIC 6/8: Rabbit embryo-fetal study (conducted in 1994)

Johnson & Johnson Study - IIIC 8/8: Peri- and postnatal study rats

Jose, M., Sreelatha, H., James, M., Arumughan, S. & Thomas, S. Teratogenic effects of carbamazepine in mice. Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology. Apr-Jun 2017;20(2):132-137.

Kaaja E, Kaaja R, Hiilesmaa V. Major malformations in offspring of women with epilepsy. Neurology. 2003 Feb 25;60(4):575-9.

Källén B, Borg N, Reis M. The use on central nervous system active drugs during pregnancy. Pharmaceuticals (Basel). 2013 Oct 10;6(10):1221-86

Kaneko S, Battino D, Andermann E, Wada K, Kan R, Takeda A, Nakane Y, Ogawa Y, AvanziniG, Fumarola C, Granata T, Molteni F, Pardi G, Minotti L, Canger R, Dansky L, Oguni M, Lopes-Cendas I, Sherwin A, Andermann F, Seni MH, Okada M, Teranishi T. Congenital malformations due to antiepileptic drugs. Epilepsy Res. 1999 Feb;33(2-3):145-58.

Katz I, Kim J, Gale K, Kondratyev A. Effects of lamotrigine alone and in combination with MK-801, phenobarbital, or phenytoin on cell death in the neonatal rat brain. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2007; 322:494–500

Keni RR, Jose M, Sarma PS, Thomas SV; Kerala Registry of Epilepsy and Pregnancy Study Group. Teratogenicity of antiepileptic dual therapy: Dose-dependent, drug-specific, or both? Neurology. 2018 Feb 27;90(9):e790-e796.

Khoury M., Berg, C., Calle, E. The Ponderal Index in term newborn siblings. American Journal of Epidemiology. 1990 Sep;132(3):576–583

Kilic D, Pedersen H, Kjaersgaard MI, Parner ET, Vestergaard M, Sørensen MJ, Olsen J, Bech BH, Christensen J, Pedersen LH. Birth outcomes after prenatal exposure to antiepileptic drugs--a population-based study. Epilepsia. 2014 Nov;55(11):1714-21.

Kjaer D, Horvath-Puhó E, Christensen J, Vestergaard M, Czeizel AE, Sørensen HT, Olsen J. Antiepileptic drug use, folic acid supplementation, and congenital abnormalities: a populationbased case-control study. BJOG. 2008 Jan;115(1):98-103.

Kleinberger N, Yanai J. Early phenobarbital-induced alterations in hippocampal acetylcholinesterase activity and behavior. Brain Res. 1985;354(1):113–23.

Knight R. Neurodevelopmental Outcomes in Children Exposed to Newer Anti-Seizure Medications in the Womb. Thesis submitted August 2020. University of Manchester.

Kondo T, Kaneko S, Amano Y, Egawa I. Preliminary report on teratogenic effects of zonisamide in the offspring of treated women with epilepsy. Epilepsia, 1996;37:1242-4

Koo J, Zavras A. Antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) during pregnancy and risk of congenital jaw and oral malformation. Oral Diseases. 2013;19:712-720.

Kramer MS, Olivier M, McLean FH, et al. Determinants of Fetal Growth and Body Proportionality. Pediatrics. 1990;86(1):18-26.22.

Langley-Evans SC, Gardner DS, Jackson AA. Association of Disproportionate Growth of Fetal Rats in Late Gestation with Raised Systolic Blood Pressure in Later Life. J Reprod Fertil. 1996;106(2):307-12.23.

Lawrence DM, Santos CA, Zemp JW. Effects of Phenobarbital Given to Pregnant Mice on Behavior of Mature Offspring. Developmental Psychobiology. 1975;8(4):305-313

Liu L and Wells PG. DNA Oxidation as a Potential Molecular Mechanism Mediating Drug-Induced Birth Defects: Phenytoin and Structurally Related Teratogens Initiate the Formation of 8-Hydroxy-2'-Deoxyguanosine In Vitro and In Vivo in Murine Maternal Hepatic and Embryonic Tissues. Free Radical Biology & Medicine. 1995;19(5):639 648

Livezey GT, Rayburn WF, Smith CV. Prenatal exposure to phenobarbital and quantifiable alterations in the electroencephalogram of adult rat offspring. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1992 Dec;167(6):1611-5

Loudin S, Murray S, Prunty L, Davies T, Evans J, Werthammer J. An Atypical Withdrawal Syndrome in Neonates Prenatally Exposed to Gabapentin and Opioids. J Pediatr. 2017 Feb;181:286-288.

Manent JB, Jorquera I, Mazzucchelli I, Depaulis A, Perucca E, Ben-Ari Y and Represa A. Fetal exposure to GABA-acting antiepileptic drugs generates hippocampal and cortical dysplasias. Epilepsia. 2007;48: 684-693.

Manent J-B, Jorquera I, Franco V, Ben-Ari Y, Perucca E and Represa A. Antiepileptic drugs and brain maturation: Fetal exposure to lamotrigine generates cortical malformations in rats. Epilepsy Res. 2008;78:131-139.

Marefat A, Sadeghi L. Neurotoxic effects of phenytoin on primary culture of hippocampal neurons: Neural development retardation. Neurology, Psychiatry and Brain Research. 2020;36:52–56

Margulis AV, Hernandez-Diaz S, McElrath T, Rothman KJ, Plana E, Almqvist C, Onofrio BM, Oberg AS. Relation of in-utero exposure to antiepileptic drugs to pregnancy duration and size at birth. PLoS ONE. 2019;14(8):e0214180.

Martin R, Kuzniecky R, Ho S, Hetherington H, Pan J, Sinclair K, Gilliam F, Faught E. Cognitive effects of topiramate, gabapentin, and lamotrigine in healthy young adults. Neurology 1999;52(2):321-327.

Matias I, Morgado J, Gomes FCA. Astrocyte Heterogeneity: Impact to Brain Aging and Disease. Front Aging Neurosci. 2019;11:59.

McBride MC, Rosman NP. Absence of behavioral effects of intrauterine phenobarbital exposure in rats. Experimental Neurology. 1984;86,53-65

McCartney MA, Scinto PL, Wang SS, Altan S. Developmental effects of phenytoin may differ depending on sex of offspring. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 1999 Mar-Apr;21(2):119-28

Meador K, Reynolds MW, Crean S, Fahrbach K, Probst C. Pregnancy outcomes in women with epilepsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis of published pregnancy registries and cohorts. Epilepsy Res. 2008 Sep;81(1):1-13.

Meador K, Baker G, Browning N, Cohen M, Bromley R, Clayton-Smith J, Kalayjian L, Kanner A, Liporace J, Pennell P, Privitera M, Loring D, NEAD Study Group. Fetal antiepileptic drug exposure and cognitive outcomes at age 6 years (NEAD study): a prospective observational study. Lancet Neurol. 2013 Mar;12(3):244-52

Meador K. Neurodevelopmental Effects of Antiepileptic Drugs. Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports. 2002;4:373–378

Meymandi MS, Sepehri G, Moslemizadeh A, Shahrbabaki SSV. Prenatal Pregabalin Exposure Alters Postnatal Pain Sensitivity and Some Behavioral Responses in adult Offspring Rats. Curr Drug Saf. 2020 Jun 28.

Middaugh LD, Santos III CA, Zemp JW. Effects of phenobarbital given to pregnant mice on behavior of mature offspring. Dev Psychobiol 1975;8(4):305–13

Middaugh LD, Thomas TN, Simpson LW, Zemp JW. Effects of prenatal maternal injections of phenobarbital on brain neurotransmitters and behavior of young C57 mice. Neurobehav Toxicol Teratol. 1981;3(3):271–5.

Middaugh LD, SimpsonLW, Thomas TN, Zemp JW. Prenatal maternal phenobarbital increases reactivity and retards habituation of mature offspring to environmental stimuli. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 1981;74(4):349–52.

Minck DR, Acuff-Smith KD, Vorhees CV. Comparison of the behavioral teratogenic potential of phenytoin, mephenytoin, ethotoin, and hydantoin in rats. Teratology. 1991 Apr;43(4):279-93

Miranda S, Zureik M, Dray-Spira R. Risque de troubles neuro développementaux précoces (avant l'âge de 6 ans) associé à l'exposition in utero à l'acide valproïque et aux autres traitements de l'épilepsie en France. 2018

Mishra A, Singh M. Topiramate Induced Histopathological Changes in Placenta of Rats. Indian J Exp Biol 2008; 46(10):715-9.27.

Mobini GR, Karimi A, Akbari A, Rahmani F. Evaluation of Teratogenic Activity of Antiepileptic Drug Lamotrigine in Mouse Fetuses. Folia Medica. 2019 Mar 1;61(1):84-89

Mølgaard-Nielsen D, Hviid A. Newer-generation antiepileptic drugs and the risk of major birth defects JAMA. 2011 May 18;305(19):1996-2002.

Montouris G. Gabapentin exposure in human pregnancy: results from the Gabapentin Pregnancy Registry. Epilepsy Behav. 2003 Jun;4(3):310-7.

Morrow J, Russell A, Guthrie E, Parsons L, Robertson I, Waddell R, Irwin B, McGivern RC, Morrison PJ, Craig J. Malformations risks of antiepileptic drugs in pregnancy: a prospective study from the UK Epilepsy and Pregnancy Register. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006;77(2):193–198

Morse DC, Henck JW, Bailey SA. Developmental Toxicity Studies with Pregabalin in Rats: Significance of Alterations in Skull Bone Morphology. Birth Defects Res B Dev Reprod Toxicol. 2016 Apr;107(2):94-107.

Morse DC. Embryo-Fetal Developmental Toxicity Studies with Pregabalin in Mice and Rabbits. Birth Defects Res B Dev Reprod Toxicol. 2016 Apr;107(2):85-93.

Mostacci B, Poluzzi E, D'Alessandro R, Cocchi G, Tinuper P. Adverse pregnancy outcomes in women exposed to gabapentin and pregabalin: data from a population-based study. J. Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2018 Feb;89(2):222-223.

Mowery TM, McDowell AL, Garraghty PE. Chronic developmental exposure to phenytoin has long-term behavioral consequences. Int J Dev Neurosci. 2008 Aug;26(5):401-7.

The North American Antiepileptic Drug Pregnancy Register 2019 Annual Report. http://www.aedpregnancyregistry.org/wp-content/uploads/The-NA-AED-Pregnancy-Registry-AES-2019.pdf.

Novartis study: 79-1181; 1980: GP 47680 - Reproductive study (Segment I) in rats

Novartis study: MIN 974070; 1998: An oral fertility and early embryonic development study in rats Novartis study: 32741000; 1974: Reproduction study – GP 47680 – Mouse Segment II (test for teratogenic or embryotoxic effects) Novartis study: 22741000; 1974: Reproduction study – GP 47680 – Rat Segment II (test for teratogenic or embryotoxic effects) Novartis study: MIN 941020; 1995: GP 47680: A follow-up teratology (Segment II) study in rats Novartis study: 1970: Experiments on the effect of GP 47680 on the pregnant rabbit and the fetus following oral application Novartis study: 79-1986; 1980: GP 47779: Teratology study (Segment II) in rats Novartis study: 79-1987; 1980: GP 47779: Teratology study (Segment II) in rabbits Novartis study: 88-6051; 1989: Teratology study in the rabbit by the oral route Novartis study: MIN 941114; 1995: GP 47779 - An oral teratology (Segment II) study in rabbits

Novartis study: 81-0251; 1982: GP 47779 - Peri-postnatal study in rats

Novartis study: MIN 974069; 1998: An oral pre- and postnatal development study in rats

Novartis US Label Tegretol carbamazepine USP Chewable Tablets. https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2009/016608s101,018281s048lbl.pdf

Nulman, I., Scolnik, D., Chitayat, D., Farkas, L.D., Koren, G. Findings in children exposed in utero to phenytoin and carbamazepine monotherapy: Independent effects of epilepsy and medications. Am J Med Genet 1997 Jan 10;68(1):18-24.

Ogura, H., Yasuda, M., Nakamura, S., Yamashita, H., Mikoshiba, K., Ohmori, H. Neurotoxic damage of granule cells in the dentate gyrus and the cerebellum and cognitive deficit following neonatal administration of phenytoin in mice. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 2002;61:956–967.

Ohmori H, Ogura H, Yasuda M, Nakamura S, Hatta T, Kawano K, Michikawa T, Yamashita K, Mikoshiba K. Developmental neurotoxicity of phenytoin on granule cells and Purkinje cells in mouse cerebellum. J Neurochem. 1999 Apr;72(4):1497-506.

Ornoy A, Zvi N, Arnon J, Wajnberg R, Shechtman S, Diav-Citrin O. The outcome of pregnancy following topiramate treatment: a study on 52 pregnancies. Reprod Toxicol. 2008;25(3):388-389 Ornoy and Cohen. Outcome of children born to epileptic mothers treated with carbamazepine during pregnancy. Arch Dis Child. 1996 Dec;75(6):517-20.

Padmanabhan R, Abdulrazzaq YM, Bastaki SMA, Shafiullah M, Chandranath SI. Experimental Studies on Reproductive Toxicologic Effects of Lamotrigine in Mice. Birth Defects Research. 2003; 68:428–438

Paknejad B, Kebriaeezadeh A, Ghahremani MH, Gharghabi M, Ostad SN. Gabapentin Enhances Neurogenesis in E14 Rat Embryonic Neocortex Stem Cells. Drug Res (Stuttg). 2015 Aug;65(8):398-402

Patorno E, Bateman BT, Huybrechts KF, Sarah C. MacDonald, Cohen JM, Desai RJ, Panchaud A, Mogun H, Pennell PB, Hernandez-Diaz S,. Pregabalin use early in pregnancy and the risk of major congenital malformations. Neurology. 2017 May 23;88(21):2020-2025.

Paulson RB, Paulson GW, J reissaty S: Phenytoin and carbamazepine in production of cleft palates in mice. Comparison of teratogenic effects. Arch Neurol 1979;36:832-836.

Pavone A, Cardile V. An in vitro study of new antiepileptic drugs and astrocytes. Epilepsia 2003;44(suppl 10):34–9.

Pennell PB1, Klein AM, Browning N, Baker GA, Clayton-Smith J, Kalayjian LA, Liporace JD, Privitera M, Crawford T, Loring DW, Meador KJ; NEAD Study Group. Differential effects of antiepileptic drugs on neonatal outcomes. Epilepsy Behav. 2012 Aug;24(4):449-56.

Pérez Martín JM, Fernández Freire P, Labrador V, Hazen MJ. Carbamazepine induces mitotic arrest in mammalian Vero cells. Mutat Res. 2008;637(1-2):124-133.

Petersen I, Collings SL, McCrea RL, Nazareth I, Osborn DP, Cowen PJ, Sammon CJ. Antiepileptic drugs prescribed in pregnancy and prevalence of major congenital malformations: comparative prevalence studies. Clin Epidemiol. 2017 Feb 16;9:95-103.

Petrere JA, Anderson JA. Developmental toxicity studies in mice, rats, and rabbits with the anticonvulsant gabapentin. Fundam Appl Toxicol. 1994;23(4):585–589.

Pfizer Canada. GD-GABAPENTIN® (gabapentin) Product Monograph 19 Apr 2018. https://www.pfizer.ca/sites/default/files/201804/GD-gabapentin_PM_E_214742_19Apr2018.pdf

Pfizer Prescribing information for NEURONTIN (Gabapentin). https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2017/020235s064_020882s047_021129s046lbl.pdf

Pfizer Safety Data Sheet (9 Nov 2018). Neurontin (gabapentin) Oral Solution: https://pfe-pfizercom-prod.s3.amazonaws.com/products/material_safety_data/gabapentin_oral_solution_9-Nov_2018.pdf

Pfizer study RR 745-01353: Oral fertility and general reproduction study in Sprague Dawley rats (Charles River CD)

Pfizer study: RR 745 01109: Influence of Gabapentin on the Pregnant Rat, the Embryo, and the Fetus by Oral Administration

Pfizer study: RR 4188-0483: Influence of Gabapentin on the Pregnant Rabbit, the Embryo and the Fetus by Oral Administration

Pfizer study: RR 745-01355: Peri- and Post-natal Study in Rats with Gabapentin

Phillips NK, Lockard JS: Infant monkey hyperexcitability after prenatal exposure to antiepileptic compounds. Epilepsia. 1996;37:991–999.

Pizzi WJ, Jersey RM. Effects of Prenatal Diphenylhydantoin Treatment on Reproductive Outcome, Development, and Behavior in Rats. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 1992 Mar-Apr:;14(2):111-7

Prakash, Prabhu LV, Rai R, et al. Teratogenic effects of the anticonvulsant gabapentin in mice. Singapore Med J. 2008;49(1):47-53.

Published Pharm/tox review of NDA 16-608 (December 19, 1967), 16608/S-000 Part 02.

Reinisch JM, Sanders SA, Mortensen EL, Rubin DB. In utero exposure to phenobarbital and intelligence deficits in adult men. JAMA. 1995 Nov 15;274(19):1518-25.

Reuss, B.M. Glial Growth Factors. Encyclopaedia of Neuroscience. 2009;819-825

Richards N, Reith D, Stitely M, Smith A. Developmental outcomes at age four following maternal antiepileptic drug use. Epilepsy Behav. 2019 Apr;93:73-79.

Rihtman T, Parush S, Ornoy A. Preliminary findings of the developmental effects of in utero exposure to topiramate. Reprod Toxicol. 2012 Nov;34(3):308-11.

Rihtman T, Parush S, Ornoy A. Developmental outcomes at preschool age after fetal exposure to valproic acid and lamotrigine: cognitive, motor, sensory and behavioral function. Reprod Toxicol. 2013 Nov;41:115-25.

Ritchie H, Oakes D, Farrell E, Ababneh D, Howe A. Fetal hypoxia and hyperglycemia in the formation of phenytoin-induced cleft lip and maxillary hypoplasia. Epilepsia Open. 2019;4:443–451

Rogel-Fuchs Y, Newman ME, Trombka D, Zahalka EA, Yanai J. Hippocampal cholinergic alterations and related behavioral deficits after early exposure to phenobarbital. Brain Res Bull. 1992 Jul;29(1):1-6

Røste LS, Taubøll E, Berner A, Isojärvi JIT, Gjerstad L. Valproate, but not lamotrigine, induces ovarian morphological changes in Wistar rats. Exp Toxic Pathol. 2001;52:545-52.

Røste LS, Taubøll E, Isojärvi JIT, Berner A, Berg KA, Pakarinen AJ, Huhtaniemi IT, Knip M, Gjerstad L. Gonadal morphology and sex hormones in male and female Wistar rats after long-term lamotrigine treatment. Seizure. 2003;12:621-7.

Samrén EB1, van Duijn CM, Koch S, Hiilesmaa VK, Klepel H, Bardy AH, Mannagetta GB, Deichl AW, Gaily E, Granström ML, Meinardi H, Grobbee DE, Hofman A, Janz D, Lindhout D. Maternal use of antiepileptic drugs and the risk of major congenital malformations: a joint European prospective study of human teratogenesis associated with maternal epilepsy. Epilepsia. 1997 Sep;38(9):981-90.

Sathiya S, Ganesh M, Kalaivani P, Ranju V, Janani S, Pramila B, Babu CS. Prenatal exposure to lamotrigine: effects on postnatal development and behaviour in rat offspring. ISRN Neurosci. 2014 Apr 14;2014:163459

Schilling MA, Inman SL, Morford LL, Moran MS, Vorhees CV. Prenatal Phenytoin Exposure and Spatial Navigation in Offspring: Effects on Reference and Working Memory and on Discrimination Learning. Neurotoxicol Teratol. Sep-Oct 1999;21(5):567-78.

Scolnik et al. Neurodevelopment of children exposed in utero to phenytoin and carbamazepine monotherapy. JAMA. 1994 Mar 9;271(10):767-70.

Semple B., Blomgren K., Gimlin K, Ferriero, D., Noble-Haeusslein, L. Brain development in rodents and humans: Identifying benchmarks of maturation and vulnerability to injury across species. Prog Neurobiol. 2013 Jul-Aug;106-107:1–16.

Shankaran S, Woldt E, Nelson J, Bedard M, Delaney-Black V. Pediatrics. 1996 May;97(5):649-52.

Shankaran S, Papile L-A, Wright LL, Ehrenkranz RA, Mele L, Lemons JA, Korones SB, Stevenson DK, Donovan EF, Stoll BJ, Fanaroff AA, Oh W, Verter J. Neurodevelopmental outcome of premature infants after antenatal phenobarbital exposure. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2002 Jul;187(1):171-7.

Shanks MJ, Wiley MJ, Kubow S, Wells PG. Phenytoin embryotoxicity: role of enzymatic bioactivation in a murine embryo culture model. Teratology. 1989;40:311-320

Shaywitz BA, Pearson DA. Effects of Phenobarbital on Activity and Learning in 6-Hydroxydopamine Treated Rat Pups. Pharmacology Biochemistry & Behavior. 1997;9:173-179

Shepherd, G.M. The Synaptic Organization of the Brain, 5th ed. Oxford University Press, New York. 2004

Simon P, Dupuis R, Costentin J. Thigmotaxis as an index of anxiety in mice. Influence of dopaminergic transmissions. Behavioural Brain Research. 1994 Mar 31;61(1):59-64

Singh M, Mishra A. Prenatal topiramate exposure induced developmental changes in rat brain. Annals of Neurosciences 2005; 12(2).

Singh KP, Gupta K. Teratogenic Effects of Third-Generation Antiepileptic Drug, Pregabalin: An In vivo Study. Curr Drug Saf. 2018;13(2):113-121.

Sullivan FM, Mcelhatton PR. Teratogenic Activity of the Antiepileptic Drugs Phenobarbital, Phenytoin, and Primidone in Mice. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology. 1975;271-282

Sullivan FM, McElhatton PR. A comparison of the teratogenic activity of the antiepileptic drugs carbamazepine, clonazepam, ethosuximide, phenobarbital, phenytoin, and primidone in mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1977;40:365–78.

Sulzbacher S, Farwell JR, Temkin N, Lu AS, Hirtz DG. Late cognitive effects of early treatment with phenobarbital. Clinical Paediatrics. 1999 Jul;38(7):387-94

Tamim H, Beydoun H, Intani M, et al. Predicting Neonatal Outcomes: Birth Weight, Body Mass Index or Ponderal Index? J. Perinat Med. 2004;32(6):509-513.

Tassinari CA, Michelucci R, Chauvel P, Chodkiewicz J, Shorvon S, Henriksen O, Dam M, Reife R, Pledger G, Karim R. Double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of topiramate (600 mg daily) for the treatment of refractory partial epilepsy. Epilepsia. 1996;37(8):763-768.

Thomas SV, Sukumaran S, Lukose N, George A, Sarma PS. Intellectual and language functions in children of mothers with epilepsy. Epilepsia. 2007;48:2234–2240.

Thomas S.V., Ajaykumar B., Sindhu K., Nair M.K., George B., Sarma P.S., Motor and mental development of infants exposed to antiepileptic drugs in utero. Epilepsy Behav. 2008;13(1):229–236.

Thorp JA, O'Connor M, Jones AM, Hoffman EL, Belden B. Does perinatal phenobarbital exposure affect developmental outcome at age 2?. American Journal of Perinatology. 1999;16(2):51-60.

Thorp J, O'Connor M, Belden B, Etzenhouser J, Hoffman EL, Jones PG. Effects of phenobarbital and multiple-dose corticosteroids on developmental outcome at age 7 years. Obstet Gynecol. 2003 Feb;101(2):363-73.

Titze K., Koch S., Helge H., Lehmkuhl U., Rauh H., Steinhausen H.-C. Prenatal and family risks of children born to mothers with epilepsy: effects on cognitive development. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2008;50:117–122

Tomson T, Battino D, Bonizzoni E, Craig JJ, Lindhout D, Perucca E, Sabers A, Thomas SV, Vajda F; EURAP Study Group. Antiepileptic drugs and intrauterine death: A prospective observational study from EURAP. Neurology. 2015 Aug 18;85(7):580-8

Tomson T, Battino D, Bonizzoni E, Craig J, Lindhout D, Perucca E, Sabers A, Thomas SV, Vajda F; EURAP Study Group. Comparative risk of major congenital malformations with eight different antiepileptic drugs: a prospective cohort study of the EURAP registry. Lancet Neurol. 2018 Jun;17(6):530-538.

Topçu, Y., Bayram, E., Özbal, S., Yiş U, Tuğyan K, Karaoğlu P, Kumral A, Yılmaz O, Kurul SH. Zonisamide attenuates hyperoxia-induced apoptosis in the developing rat brain. Neurol Sci. 2014;35:1769–1775

Trivedi M1, Jose M2, Philip RM3, Sarma PS4, Thomas SV5. Spontaneous fetal loss in women with epilepsy: prospective data from pregnancy registry in India. Epilepsy Res. 2018 Oct;146:50-53.

Tsutsumi, S., Akaike, M., Ohno, H., Kato, N. Learning/memory impairments in rat offspring prenatally exposed to phenytoin. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 1998;20;123–132.

Vajda FJ, O'Brien TJ, Lander CM, Graham J, Eadie MJ. The teratogenicity of the newer antiepileptic drugs - an update. Acta Neurol Scand. 2014 Oct;130(4):234-8.

Vajda FJE, O'Brien TJ, Graham J, Hitchcock AA, Lander CM, Eadie MJ. Anti-epileptic drug exposure and risk of foetal death in utero. Acta Neurol Scand. 2018 Jan;137(1):20-23.

Vajda FJE, Graham JE, Hitchcock AA, Lander CM, O'Brien TJ, Eadie MJ. Antiepileptic drugs and foetal malformation: analysis of 20 years of data in a pregnancy register. Seizure. 2019 Feb;65:6-11.

Vajda FJE, Graham JE, Hitchcock AA, Lander CM, O'Brien TJ, Eadie MJ. Seizures in infancy in the offspring of women with epilepsy Acta Neurol Scand. 2020 Jan;141(1):33-37.

Veiby G, Daltveit AK, Schjølberg S, Stoltenberg C, Øyen AS, Vollset SE, Engelsen BA, Gilhus NE. et al. Exposure to antiepileptic drugs in utero and child development: a prospective population-based study. Epilepsia. 2013 Aug;54(8):1462-72.

Veiby G, Daltveit AK, Engelsen BA, Gilhus NE. Fetal growth restriction and birth defects with newer and older antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy. J Neurol. 2014 Mar;261(3):579-88.

Veroniki AA, Cogo E, Rios P, Straus SE, Finkelstein Y, Kealey R, Reynen E, Soobiah C, Thavorn K, Hutton B, Hemmelgarn BR, Yazdi F, D'Souza J, MacDonald H, Tricco AC. Comparative safety of anti-epileptic drugs during pregnancy: a systematic review and network meta-analysis of congenital malformations and prenatal outcomes. BMC Medicine. 2017a 15:95.

Veroniki AA, Rios P, Cogo E, Straus SE, Finkelstein Y, Kealey R, Reynen E, Soobiah C, Thavorn K, Hutton B, Hemmelgarn BR, Yazdi F, D'Souza J, MacDonald H, Tricco AC. Comparative safety of antiepileptic drugs for neurological development in children exposed during pregnancy and breast feeding: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. BMJ Open. 2017b Jul 20;7(7):e017248.

Verrotti A, Mencaroni E, Castagnino M, Zaccara G. Foetal safety of old and new antiepileptic drugs. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2015 Oct;14(10):1563-71.

Vestermark V. 1993. Teratogenicity of Carbamazepine: A Review of the Literature. Dev Brain Dysfunction. 1993:6:266-278

Vorhees CV. Fetal Anticonvulsant Syndrome in Rats: Dose- and Period-Response Relationships of Prenatal Diphenylhydantoin, Trimethadione, Phenobarbital Exposure on the Structural and Functional Development of the Offspring. The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 1983 Nov;227(2):274-87.

Vorhees, C.V., Minck, D.R. Long-term effects of prenatal phenytoin exposure on offspring behavior in rats. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 1989;11:295–305.

Vorhees CV, Acuff KD, Weisenburger WP, Minck DR. Teratogenicity of carbamazepine in rats. Teratology 1990;41:311–7.

Wade A, Haruna Sawada F, Kao K. Topiramate, lamotrigine, and gabapentin exposure during pregnancy. 55th Annual Meeting of the Teratology Society - 28th Annual Education Meeting for Organization of Teratology Information Specialists, OTIS and the 39th Annual Meeting of the Neurobehavioral Teratology Society. Birth Defects Research Part A. Clinical and Molecular Teratology. 2015;103(5): 460

Weisenburger, W., Minck, D., Acuff, K., Vorhees, C. Dose–response effects of prenatal phenytoin exposure in rats: effects on early locomotion, maze learning, and memory as a function of phenytoin-induced circling behavior. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 1990;12:145–152.

Wells PG, McCallum GP, Chen CS, Henderson JT, Lee CJJ, Perstin J, Preston TJ, Wiley MJ, Wong AW. Oxidative Stress in Developmental Origins of Disease: Teratogenesis, Neurodevelopmental Deficits, and Cancer. Toxicological Sciences. 2009 Mar;108(1):4-18

Weston J, Bromley R, Jackson CF, Adab N, Clayton-Smith J, Greenhalgh, Hounsome J, McKay AJ, Smith CT, Marson AG. Monotherapy treatment of epilepsy in pregnancy: congenital malformation outcomes in the child. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2016 Nov 7;11(11):CD010224

Wide K., Winbladh B., Tomson T., Sars-Zimmer K., Berggren E. Psychomotor development and minor anomalies in children exposed to antiepileptic drugs in utero: a prospective populationbased study. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2000;42:87–92

Wide K., Henning E., Tomson T., Winbladh B. Psychomotor development in preschool children exposed to antiepileptic drugs in utero. Acta Paediatr. 2002;91:409–414

Winterfeld U, Merlob P, Baud D, Rousson V, Panchaud A, Rothuizen LE, Bernard N, Vial T, Yates LM, Pistelli A, Ellfolk M, Eleftheriou G, de Vries LC, Jonville-Bera AP, Kadioglu M, Biollaz J, Buclin T. Pregnancy outcome following maternal exposure to pregabalin may call for concern. Neurology. 2016 Jun;86(24):2251-7

Wolansky MJ, Azcurra JM. Permanent motor activity and learning disorders induced by exposure to phenytoin during gestation and early infancy in the rat. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 2005 Mar-

Apr;27(2):299-310.

Yanai J, Roselli-Austin L, Tabakoff B. Neuronal deficits in mice following prenatal exposure to barbiturate. Exp Neuro. 1979;164:237-244

Yanai J, Bergman A. Neuronal deficits after neonatal exposure to phenobarbital. Exp Neurol. 1981;73(1):199–208.

Yanai J, Fares F, Gavish M, Greenfeld Z, Katz Y, Marcovici G, Pick CG, Rogel-Fuchs Y, Weizman A. Neural and behavioral alterations after early exposure to phenobarbital. Neurotoxicology. 1989;10:543–554

9 Glossary of Terms

Absence seizures

An absence seizure, which used to be called a "petit mal" seizure, is where the person loses awareness of their surroundings for a short time. They mainly affect children, but can happen at any age. During an absence seizure, a person may stare blankly into space.

Adjunctive treatment/therapy

Another treatment used together with the primary treatment. Its purpose is to assist the primary treatment.

Amygdala

Amygdala, region of the brain primarily associated with emotions, emotional behaviour, and motivation. It is sometimes referred to as the fear centre in the brain.

Antiepileptic drug or AED

A drug used to treat epilepsy, mainly by controlling or managing the occurrence of seizures in a patient with epilepsy.

Atrial septal defect

A birth defect affecting the heart where a baby is born is a hole in the wall (septum) that divides the two upper chambers (atria) of the heart.

Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder

ADHD is a mental health condition that is defined through analysis of behaviour. People with ADHD show a persistent pattern of inattention and/or hyperactivity-impulsivity that interferes with day-to-day functioning and/or development.

Autism spectrum disorder

Autism is a lifelong developmental disability which affects how people communicate and interact with the world. Autism is a spectrum condition and affects people in different ways.

Bipolar disorder

Bipolar disorder is a mental health condition that affects moods and can make them swing from one extreme to another. It used to be known as manic depression. People with bipolar disorder have episodes of depression (feeling very low and lethargic) and mania (feeling very high and overactive). Unlike simple mood swings, each extreme episode of bipolar disorder can last for several weeks (or even longer).

Cardiovascular

Relating to the heart and blood vessels.

Cleft lip or palate

A cleft is a gap or split in the upper lip or roof of the mouth (palate). Cleft lip and palate can each occur alone or together. It is the most common facial birth defect in the UK affecting around 1 in every 700 babies.

Clinical data or clinical studies

Data on the effects of medicines that come from studies of people taking the medicines. This includes data from clinical trials and epidemiological studies.

Clinical trial

A research study that tests the effectiveness and safety of medicines in humans.

Club foot

Club foot is a deformity of the foot and ankle that babies can be born with. A baby born with club foot has one or both feet pointing down and inwards with the sole of the foot facing backwards. The position and function of the foot can be greatly improved, if treated early. Club foot is quite common, affecting about 1 baby in every 1,000 born in the UK. Both feet are affected in about half of these babies.

Coarctation of the aorta

A birth defect in which a part of the aorta (the large blood vessel that carries blood from the heart to the rest of the body) is narrower than usual. This narrowing prevents the blood from circulating normally in the lower half of the body. If the narrowing is severe enough and if it is not diagnosed, the baby may have serious problems and may need surgery or other procedures soon after birth.

Cognitive abilities

Intellectual or thinking skills.

Cohort study

In a cohort study, a group of individuals exposed to a risk factor and a group who are unexposed to the risk factor are followed over time (often years) to determine the occurrence of disease. The incidence of disease in the exposed group is compared with the incidence of disease in the unexposed group.

Commission on Human Medicines

The Commission on Human Medicines (CHM) advises ministers on the safety, efficacy and quality of medicinal products..

Comorbidity/Comorbidities

Comorbidity means more than one disease or condition is present in the same person at the same time. Conditions described as comorbidities are often chronic or long-term conditions.

Confidence interval

A statistical range of numbers with a specific probability that a particular value lies within this range. Confidence intervals (CI) are used to assess the true difference in risk between two groups, and usually accompany ratio values such as **odds ratios**, hazard ratios and 'observed versus expected' ratios. A 95% CI suggests that there is a 95% chance that the real difference between two groups is within this interval. If a 95% CI does not cross 1, the ratio is regarded as statistically significant.

Confounds/confounding/confounded

Where people who receive a medicine are also more likely to have a particular risk factor then they may be more likely to develop a medical condition because of this risk factor and not because of the medicine. This can affect the results of epidemiological studies.

Congenital

A medical condition that is acquired by the **fetus** during pregnancy and is present at birth.

Congenital Malformations

A physical defect present in a baby at birth that can involve many different parts of the body, including the brain, heart, lungs, liver, bones, and intestinal tract.

Contra-indicated/Contraindication

When a drug should not be used in a specific situation, condition or group of people because it may be harmful to the person.

Control group

The control group is defined as the group in an experiment or study that does not receive the substance, drug, treatment that is being tested and is used by the researchers as a benchmark to measure how the other tested subjects do.

Cortex Cerebri

Also known as the cerebral cortex is the outer layer of neural tissue of the cerebrum (front brain) of the brain in humans and other mammals.

Craniofacial

Relating to the bones of the skull and face. Craniofacial abnormalities are birth defects of the face or head.

Craniosynostosis

A rare birth defect in where the baby's skull doesn't grow properly and their head becomes an unusual shape. It doesn't always need to be treated but surgery can help if it is severe.

Cross sectional observational study

A study that involves looking at data from a population at one specific point in time. This type of study can be used to describe the characteristics that exist in a population and gather preliminary data to support further research but cannot be used to determine cause and effect.

Defect

A fault or imperfection in the body.

Developmental Delay

Where a child had not gained the developmental skills expected of them, compared to others of the same age. Delays may occur in the areas of motor function, speech language, cognition, play and social skills

Digit abnormalities

Birth defects of the fingers or toes.

Dyspraxia

Dyspraxia, also known as developmental co-ordination disorder (DCD), is a common disorder that affects movement and co-ordination. It does not affect intelligence but may make daily life more difficult. It can affect co-ordination skills –such as tasks requiring balance, playing sports or learning to drive a car – and fine motor skills, such as writing or using small objects.

Embryolethality

Death of an embryo, which can result in abortion/resorption of the embryo back into the mother's body.

Epidemiological studies

Studies which assess trends in the occurrence, distribution or control of diseases or medical conditions in defined populations.

Epilepsy

A brain condition characterised by fits or seizures.

Exposure misclassification

Misclassification (or classification error) happens when a participant is placed into the wrong population subgroup or category because of an observational or measurement error. When this happens, the true link between exposure and outcome is distorted. People may be placed in the wrong groups for different reasons including because of incomplete medical records, recording errors in medical records, or misinterpretation of records.

Fetal loss

For the purpose of clinical definition, pregnancy is divided into two halves, each of 20 weeks. Any pregnancy loss after 20 weeks, when the fetus is well-formed, is known as fetal loss.

Fetal head circumference

The size of the baby's head that can be measured during pregnancy and then compared to certain normal curves. Measurements can be taken with an ultrasound (also called a sonogram) that uses sound waves to show a picture of the baby and check on the baby's health and development.

Fetal hydantoin syndrome

A characteristic pattern of mental and physical birth defects that results from maternal use of the anti-epileptic drug phenytoin during pregnancy. The range and severity of associated abnormalities will vary greatly from one infant to another.

Fetus

An unborn baby developing in the mother's womb

Focal seizures

When an epileptic seizure starts in one side of the brain it's called a focal onset seizure or a focal seizure; both terns mean the same thing. Until recently these seizures were called partial seizures. When person has no loss of awareness of their surroundings during it, it is called a focal onset aware seizure. This type of seizure used to be called a simple partial seizure. When the person's awareness of what is happening around them is affected at any time during the seizure, it's called a focal impaired awareness seizure. This type of seizure used to be called a complex partial seizure.

Gastrointestinal system

This is the digestive system that includes

Generalised seizures

A generalised seizure starts when all areas of the brain are affected by an abnormal electrical impulse and happen without warning. There are different types of generalised seizures, including: absence seizures (petit mal seizures), myoclonic seizures, and clonic seizures. The person will be unconscious (except in myoclonic seizures), even if just for a few seconds and afterwards will not remember what happened during the seizure.

Gestational age

Gestational age is the common term used during pregnancy to describe how far along the pregnancy is. It is measured in weeks, from the first day of the woman's last menstrual cycle (period) to the current date. A normal pregnancy can range from 38 to 42 weeks.

Good Laboratory Practice

A set of rules and criteria intended to assure the quality and integrity of non-clinical laboratory studies.

Healthcare databases

Healthcare databases are systems into which healthcare providers routinely enter clinical and laboratory data during usual practice as a record of the patient's care.

Hippocampal neurons

Nerve cells found in a certain region of the brain (hippocampus) that is responsible for learning, emotions and memory.

Histopathological

Microscopic examination of tissues and/or cells in order to diagnose and study disease.

Human therapeutic dose - the dose of drug required to generate the desired therapeutic effect in humans

Hypospadias

A birth defect in boys where the opening of the urethra (the tube that carries urine from the bladder to the outside of the body) is not located at the tip of the penis.

Indication

Incidence

The occurrence of new cases of a disease or condition in a population over a specified time period.

The disease or condition, or manifestation or symptoms thereof, for which the drug is approved. As well as whether the drug is indicated for the treatment, prevention, mitigation, cure, relief, or diagnosis of that disease or condition.

Intelligence Quotient (IQ)

A total score derived from a set of standardized tests or subtests designed to assess human intelligence.

Intrauterine growth retardation/restriction

A condition where a baby is smaller than expected or when a baby's growth slows or stops during pregnancy

In-vitro study

An experiment or study, usually involving cells or tissues, which is conducted outside of a living organism in a controlled environment, such as a test tube or laboratory dish.

In-vivo study

A medical test, experiment or procedure that is done on (or in) a living organism, such as a laboratory animal or human.

In utero

The time that the fetus is in the uterus of the pregnant female.

Lennox-Gastaut syndrome

This syndrome usually begins between the ages of 3 and 5 but can start as late as adolescence. Children may have several different types of seizure with this syndrome. These include tonic (where the muscles suddenly become stiff), atonic (where the muscles suddenly relax), myoclonic, tonic clonic and atypical absences. Many children also develop learning difficulties as well as behaviour problems.

Major congenital malformations

Physical defects present in a baby at birth that have significant medical, social or cosmetic consequences for the affected individual, and typically require medical intervention.

Marketing authorisation holder

The company or other legal entity that has the authorisation to market a medicine in the UK.

Maternal toxicity

A toxic effect on a pregnant animal or woman or nursing mother, as opposed to one affecting an embryo, fetus, or nursing infant.

Median

The median is the "middle" value in a list of numbers placed in ascending or descending order.

Mental development index

Describes the mental development and behaviour of infants. Examples include the Bayley Scales of Infant Development that is used to describe the current developmental functioning of infants and to assist in diagnosis and treatment planning for infants with developmental delays or disabilities.

Meta-analysis

A meta-analysis is a statistical analysis that combines the results of multiple scientific studies.

Monotherapy

The treatment of a disease or condition with a single medicine.

Motor skills

Motor skills are movements and actions of the muscles to perform a specific task. Fine motor skills refer to small movements in the hands, wrists, fingers, feet, toes, lips and tongue. Gross motor skills involve motor development of muscles that enable babies to hold up their heads, sit and crawl, and eventually walk, run, jump and skip.

Microcephaly

A birth defect where a baby's head is smaller than expected when compared with babies of the same sex and age.

Myoclonic seizures

Myoclonic means 'muscle jerk'. Myoclonic seizures are brief but can happen in clusters (many happening close together in time), and often happen shortly after waking. They are classified as generalised seizures because the person is likely to have other seizures as well as myoclonic seizures.

National Birth Register

These are population-based registers that collect data from medical records about the prenatal, delivery and neonatal care of pregnant women and their offspring. Such registers support the monitoring of the health of pregnant women and their offspring and are used for research purposes.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) provides national guidance and advice to improve health and social care. Their role is to improve outcomes for people using the NHS and other public health social care services. They also provide clinical guidance on how to manage specific conditions in England.

Neonate

Newborn infant.

Neural

Relating to a nerve or the nervous system.

Neural tube defects

Neural tube defects are birth defects of the brain, spine, or spinal cord. The neural tube is the structure that eventually develops into the baby's brain and spinal cord. The neural tube starts to form in early pregnancy and closes about 4 weeks after conception. Spina bifida is a type of neural tube defect. In spina bifida, part of the neural tube does not develop or close properly, leading to defects in the spinal cord and bones of the spine (vertebrae).

Neurobehavioural effects

Conditions of or relating to the relationship between the action of the nervous system and behaviour. Examples of neurobehavioural effects include: poor memory, poor concentration, motor problems, etc

Neurodegenerative/Neurodegeneration

Gradual loss of structure or function of nerve cells in the brain (neurons), including death of the nerve cells. Neurodegenerative diseases can influence many functions including an individual's movement, speech, memory, intelligence and more.

Neurodevelopment

A general term used to encompass the development of the nervous system.

Neurodevelopmental disorders and delay

A group of disorders in which the development of the central nervous system is disturbed. The disorders can affect emotion, learning ability, self-control and memory. They can also manifest as conditions such as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder or autism spectrum disorder.

Neurogenic

Effects or conditions giving rise to or arising from the nerves or the nervous system.

Neurons

Nerve cells that send information to each other by releasing chemicals, known as neurotransmitters, across junctions known as synapses.

Non-clinical studies

In drug development, preclinical development, also named preclinical studies and non-clinical studies, is a stage of research that begins before clinical trials (testing in humans) can begin, and during which important feasibility, iterative testing and drug safety data are collected. Used interchangeably with the term 'pre-clinical studies' within this report.

Odds ratio

A measure of risk for one group compared with another group. A value greater than 1 suggests an increased risk; a value equal to 1 suggests an equal risk; and a value less than one suggests a decreased risk.

Patient Information Leaflet

Every medicine pack includes a patient information leaflet (PIL), which provides information on using the medicine safely. PILs are based on the Summaries of Product Characteristics (SPCs) which are a description of a medicinal product's properties and the conditions attached to its use.

Partial seizures See focal seizures.

Peripheral neuropathic pain

Neuropathic pain is the nerve pain that is experienced by those who have peripheral neuropathy. Peripheral neuropathy develops when nerves in the body's extremities, such as the hands, feet and arms, are damaged. The symptoms depend on which nerves are affected. The main symptoms of peripheral neuropathy include numbness and tingling in the feet or hands, burning stabbing or shooting pain in affected areas, loss of balance and co-ordination, and muscle weakness, especially in the feet.

Pervasive developmental disorders

A group of disorders characterized by delays in the development of socialization and communication skills. Parents may note symptoms as early as infancy, although the typical age of onset is before 3 years of age.

Polydactyly

Polydactyly is when a baby is born with one or more extra fingers or toes. It can be on one or both hands or feet. It is quite common, affecting about 1 baby in every 1,000 born in the UK.

Polytherapy

The treatment of a disease or a condition where two or more medicines are used at the same time. The term is most often used to describe treatment of epilepsy with more than one drug.

Postnatal

Relating to or denoting the period after childbirth.

Pregnancy Prevention Programme

A Pregnancy Prevention Programme is a set of measures that are intended to minimise the risk for the both the women and the unborn baby associated with the use of a medicine in women of childbearing age and during pregnancy.

Pregnancy Registry

A study that collects health information from women who take prescription medicines or vaccines when they are pregnant. Information is also collected on the newborn baby.

Prenatal

Before birth, during or relating to pregnancy.

Prescription cost analysis data

Prescription Cost Analysis (PCA) data shows national prescription data dispensed in the community in England. A prescription item refers to a single medicine prescribed by a doctor (or dentist/nurse/etc.) on a prescription form.

Preterm birth

Preterm birth, also known as premature birth, is the birth of a baby at fewer than 37 weeks' gestational age, as opposed to the usual about 40 weeks.

Prevalence

The proportion of individuals in a defined population that have a disease or other health outcomes of interest at either a specified point in time (known as point prevalence) or during a specified period of time (period prevalence).

Prospective cohort study

A prospective study asks a specific study question (usually about how a particular exposure affects an outcome), recruits appropriate participants, and looks at the exposures and outcomes of interest in these people over the following months or years.

p-value

A measure of the statistical probability of an event occurring by chance. A smaller p-value suggests the event is less likely to be due toy chance; a larger p-value suggests the event is more likely to have occurred by random chance.

Randomised controlled clinical trial

A study in which a number of similar people are randomly assigned to 2 (or more) groups to test a specific drug, treatment or other intervention.

Regression analysis

Regression is a statistical method that attempts to determine the strength and character of the relationship between one dependent variable and a series of other variables.

Regulatory compliant study

A study that is conducted in line with the rules and standards that are defined by a regulatory authority, such as the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency.

Residual confounding

Residual confounding occurs when a risk factor has not been adequately adjusted for in the statistical analysis. The consequence is that the estimated association is not the same as the true effect.

Respiratory system

The respiratory (breathing) system includes the nose, throat (pharynx), larynx, the windpipe (trachea), the lungs and the diaphragm.

Retrospective study

A study that compares two groups of people: those with the disease or condition under study (cases) and a very similar group of people who do not have the disease or condition (controls). A retrospective study looks backwards and examines the medical and lifestyle histories of the people in each group to learn what factors may be associated with a disease or condition that is established at the start of the study.

Risk factor

A substance or activity that increases the likelihood of someone developing an illness or medical condition.

Risk Ratio/Relative Risk

A risk ratio (RR), also called relative risk, compares the risk of a health event (disease, injury, risk factor, or death) among one group with the risk among another group.

Safety signal

A safety signal is defined as the information suggesting a new potential association or new aspects of a known association between medicines and adverse event(s) that warrant further investigation.

Seizure

Uncontrolled electrical activity in the brain that produces fits or convulsions of the body.

Small for gestational age

Small for gestational age is a term used to describe babies that are smaller than usual for the number of weeks of pregnancy.

Spontaneous abortion

Is the loss of a pregnancy naturally before 20 weeks of gestation.

Standard deviation

A measure of the amount of variation of a set of values.^[1] A low standard deviation indicates that the values tend to be close to the mean (the average) of the set, while a high standard deviation indicates that the values tend to be close to the mean (the average) of the set, while a high standard deviation indicates that the values tend to be close to the mean (the average) of the set, while a high standard deviation indicates that the values tend to be close to the mean (the average) of the set, while a high standard deviation indicates that the values tend to be close to the mean (the average) of the set, while a high standard deviation indicates that the values tend to be close to the mean (the average) of the set, while a high standard deviation indicates that the values are spread out over a wider range.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis is the collection and interpretation of data in order to uncover patterns and trends.

Statistical significance

A statistical interpretation of data that indicates that a result is unlikely to have occurred by chance.

Structural analog

A compound that has a similar structure to another compound but differs from it in respect of a certain component. Despite being similar in chemical structure, structural analogs can have very different physical, chemical, biochemical, or pharmacological properties.

Summary of Product Characteristics (SPC)

Detailed information that accompanies every licensed medicine, listing its composition and characteristics and conditions attached to its use, which is available at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/find-product-information-about-medicines

Systematic review

A review of the published scientific literature that aims to find as much as possible of the research relevant to a particular research question and based on appraisal of the research summarises the main findings (qualitative or quantitative).

Teratogen/ teratogenic

A teratogen is an agent that can disrupt the anatomical development of the embryo resulting in a birth defect.

Tertiary care

Tertiary care, is a level of health care obtained from specialist hospitals after referral from primary care (usually GPs) and secondary care (hospital and community care).

Tonic clonic seizures

The type of epileptic seizure most people recognise. There are two phases to these seizures. In the first phase the 'tonic' phase the person will lose consciousness and won't be aware of what is happening, their muscles will go stiff and so they may fall (if standing) and also bite their tongue. In the second phase the 'clonic' phase their limbs will jerk quickly and rhythmically and they may lose control of their bladder and/or bowels. They are likely to feel confused or sleepy afterwards, and take a while to recover fully.

Trimester

One of the three 3-month periods that a human 9-month pregnancy can be divided into.

Visual spatial skills

Visual spatial skills are the ability to process visual stimuli to comprehend spatial relationships between objects and to visualize different scenarios or images. Visual spatial skills help individuals find their orientation in space through taking in information from the world around them and organizing that visual information to create an understanding of meaningful patterns. It is one of a number of cognitive functions that also include perception, attention, memory, motor skills and language.